

National Income and Expenditure 1972



The Government Statistical Service

A service of statistical information and advice is provided to the Government by specialist staffs employed in the statistics division of individual Departments. Statistics are made generally available through their publications and further information and advice on them can be obtained from the Departments concerned.

Enquiries about statistics in this publication should be made to the Central Statistical Office, Great George Street, London SW1P 3AQ. Telephone 01–930 5422 Ext. 602.

Enquiries about orders for *National Income and Expenditure* should be made to the publishers, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, PO Box 569, London SE1 9NH Telephone 01–928 6977.

National Income and Expenditure 1972

London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1972

© Crown copyright 1972

INTRODUCTION

This publication has been prepared by the Central Statistical Office in collaboration with other government departments and the Bank of England. It contains estimates of the national product, income and expenditure of the United Kingdom for each of the calendar years 1961 to 1971. In addition, Tables 1 to 8 and 14 to 16 are extended to cover 1950 to 1960 on a consistent basis. Where tables relate to years other than 1961 to 1971 the years covered are noted in the list of contents.

The tables are grouped into twelve sections. Those in Section I (Summary Tables) summarise the more important statistics of national product, income and expenditure. These tables show the principal categories normally used in national accounting. The tables in the other eleven sections either show the composition of these aggregates in more detail or present them in alternative forms. Each item appearing in Tables 1 to 9 is given a reference number and is defined in Section XIII.

Quarterly estimates of the main components of national income and expenditure for the last two or three years are published regularly in the Monthly Digest of Statistics and, together with a commentary, in the January, April, July and October issues of Economic Trends. A longer run of quarterly estimates, consistent with the annual figures in the Blue Book, is published in the October issue of Economic Trends, which also contains tables giving percentages derived from the Blue Book figures. Some revised quarterly estimates for earlier years may be available in advance of publication if application is made to the Central Statistical Office. Quarterly capital accounts and financial accounts for each sector are published regularly in Financial Statistics.

Sources and methods

A general description of the statistics given in this publication, together with a detailed description of the sources, methods and definitions used in making the estimates, is given in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, Studies in Official Statistics, No. 13, HMSO, 1968. This description relates to the estimates published in the 1967 Blue Book, National Income and Expenditure, 1967. The notes in Section XIV describe changes in treatment and definitions which have been made since the publication of National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods.

Revisions and changes in content

The principal revisions which have been made to the estimates contained in the 1971 Blue Book are tabulated in a separate section of the notes in Section XIV.

The summary input-output transactions matrix for 1968, given in the 1971 Blue Book, is not included this year as it is hoped that the final detailed input-output tables for 1968 will be published about the end of this year.

Reliability of the estimates

All the value estimates are expressed in terms of a precise number of £ million, but this does not imply that they can be regarded as accurate to the last digit. Similarly, the index numbers are not necessarily accurate to the last digit shown. Some of the figures are provisional and may be revised later; this applies particularly to many of the detailed figures for 1971.

Symbols and conventions used

Prices. Except where otherwise stated, all estimates of expenditure are valued at market prices. Industrial classification. Analyses by industry are based, as far as possible, on the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968.

Symbols. The following symbols are used throughout:

.. not available.

— nil or less than £500,000.

Central Statistical Office, Great George Street, London, SW1P 3AQ

August 1972

CONTENTS

I.	SUMMARY	TABLE	5		
	Table	1	Page	2	Gross national product, 1950-71
		2		4	Personal income and expenditure, 1950-71
		3		4	Corporate income appropriation account, 1950-71
		4		6	Current account of central government including National Insurance Funds, 1950-71
		5		6	Current account of local authorities, 1950-71
		6		8	Combined capital account, 1950-71
		7		10	International transactions, 1950–71
		Care I		10000000	
		8		10	Gross domestic product at factor cost, 1950-71
		9		12	Shares in the gross national product
		10		13	The composition of final output
		11		13	Gross domestic product by industry
		12		14	Gross domestic product by category of expenditure
	deline of should	13		15	Gross domestic product by sector and type of income and employment by sector
II.	EXPENDIT	URE AN	D OU	TPUT	AT CONSTANT PRICES
	Table	14	Page	16	Expenditure and output at 1963 prices, 1950-71
		15		18	Index numbers of output at constant factor cost, 1950-71
		16		20	Index numbers of costs and prices, 1950-71
ш.	INDUSTRIA	L INPU	T AN	D OU	TPUT
	Table		Page		Gross domestic product by industry and type of income
		18		23	Wages and salaries in manufacturing industries
IV.	THE PERSO	ONAL S	ЕСТО	R	
	Table	19	Page	24	Income and expenditure account
	Table	20	Tago	25	Capital account
		21		25	Revenue account of life assurance and superannua- tion funds Consumers' expenditure:
		22		26	at current prices
		23		28	at 1963 prices
		24		30	Categories of personal income
		25		31	Taxes on expenditure and subsidies allocated to consumers' expenditure
v.	COMPANIE	S			
	Table	26	Page	32	Appropriation account
		27	7117	33	Capital account
		28		34	Appropriation and capital accounts of industrial and commercial companies
		29		35	Appropriation and capital accounts of financial companies
		30		36	Appropriation account of non-nationalised com- panies
		31		37	Trading profits by industry, 1961-70
					iv

VI.	PUBLIC CO	RPORATIO	NS	
	Table	32 Pag	e 38	Operating account
	41-03e	33	38	Appropriation account
		34	39	Capital account
		35	40	Analysis of appropriation accounts by industry,
		36	41	Analysis of capital accounts by industry, 1964-71
VII.	CENTRAL G	OVERNME	NT IN	CLUDING NATIONAL INSURANCE FUNDS
	Table	37 Pag	e 42	Current account
	1	38	44	Capital account
		39	46	Current account of central government excluding
				National Insurance Funds
		40	47	Current account of National Insurance Funds
VIII.	LOCAL AUT	THORITIES		
	Table	41 Pag	e 48	Current account
	1	42	49	Capital account
IX.	COMBINED	PUBLIC A	UTHOI	RITIES
	Table	43 Page	e 50	Combined current and capital account
		44	52	Analysis of current expenditure on goods and services, 1966-71
		45	54	Housing subsidies
		46	54	Taxes on expenditure and subsidies: allocation by type of expenditure
		47	55	Taxes on income, national insurance contributions and taxes on capital: allocation by sector, type of income and property
X.	THE PUBLI	C SECTOR		
	Table	48 Pag	e 56	Current and capital accounts
	2	49	58	Analysis of public expenditure
XI.	CAPITAL F			
284.		Jam Jan ba		Cross demostic fixed conital formation:
	Table	50 Pag	e 63	Gross domestic fixed capital formation: analysis by sector at current and 1963 prices
	Table	51	64	analysis by sector and type of asset
		31	04	analysis by type of asset:
		52	65	at current prices
		53	65	at 1963 prices
				analysis by industry group:
		54	66	at current prices
		55	66	at 1963 prices
		56	67	analysis by industry and type of asset
				Capital consumption:
		57	71	analysis by sector
		58	71	analysis by type of asset
		59	72	analysis by industry group
		- Ingras		Net domestic fixed capital formation:
		60	73	analysis by sector
		61	73	analysis by type of asset
		62	74	analysis by industry group

CAPITAL FORMATION (continued) XI. Net capital stock at current replacement cost by Table 63 Page 75 sector and type of asset, 1960-71 Gross capital stock at 1963 replacement cost: analysis by industry and type of asset, 1960-71 76 64 analysis for manufacturing, construction, dis-77 65 tribution and other services, 1960-71 Capital formation in stocks and work in progress: increase in book value analysed by industry 78 66 value of physical increase at current prices 79 67 analysed by industry value of physical increase at 1963 prices 80 68 analysed by industry analysis by sector 81 69 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS XII. Net acquisition of financial assets: summary Page 82 Table 70 analysis by sector Transactions in financial assets: 83 71 analysis by sector and type of asset, 1971 84 personal sector 72 85 industrial and commercial companies banking sector 86 financial institutions other than banks 87 75 76 88 public sector 89 overseas sector 78 90 Transactions in financial assets of the public sector: analysis by sector acquiring assets

XIII. DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS IN SUMMARY TABLES

Page 91

XIV. NOTES

Page 97	Summary tables
97	Expenditure and output at constant prices
98	Industrial input and output
99	Personal sector
101	Companies
102	Public corporations
103	Central government including National Insurance Funds
106	Local authorities
107	Combined public authorities
107	Public sector
108	Gross domestic fixed capital formation
110	Capital consumption and capital stock
111	Depreciation
111	Capital formation in stocks and work in progress
111	Financial accounts
113	International transactions
115	Revisions

Treasury analysis of public expenditure

Page 115

112 0								
15 Yu								
03								
-1								
47	TILDI.							Consumura reproditore
)								Acorda Communications
								Shoot no statistical to
								edges have surement makes
								The state of the s
								AND ACTION OF THE PROPERTY OF
		151						
								There was not been a second
25								PRINTING TO STATE OF THE PARTY
								Andrew men and an arrange
3								Liberto bree surem
-								Due Take of expenditure
							1 101	
								to tolling tolling sectors
				17.033				American comment
								Street income in the same
ET 18		TL. CO						La reproductive manufactures
								-villande beer beer beer beer been been been bee
								-VINITED-BOX Marks Statement
								To other animals worked
								To strike the selection of the selection
								The party of the State of the S
								STORY OF STREET
4								And Shire water attended
166								
								The state of the s
								The second second
								no malana altimate alti
								THE THEODON'S ENGLISH
1								The state of the s
1.5								northeampers of Valley and American
								Add not and blue to proper to

I. SUMMARY TABLES

Gross national product

£ million TABLE 1

TABLE 1							1	1	-			z million
	Reference number	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
Expenditure												
Consumers' expenditure	1	9,400	10,150	10,691	11,402	12,091	13,038	13,744	14,509	15,296	16,117	16,933
Public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services	2, 3	2,120	2,484	2,954	3,096	3,179	3,245	3,508	3,660	3,742	3,992	4,239
Gross domestic fixed capi- tal formation	4	1,708	1,905	2,130	2,391	2,591	2,876	3,158	3,443	3,559	3,799	4,176
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	5	-210	575	50	125	56	300	259	238	111	174	589
Total domestic expendi- ture at market prices		13,018	15,114	15,825	17,014	17,917	19,459	20,669	21,850	22,708	24,082	25,937
Exports and property income from abroad	6	3,807	4,497	4,590	4,495	4,671	5,045	5,564	5,856	5,839	6,016	6,309
less Imports and property income paid abroad	7	-3,492	-4,838	-4,511	-4,414	-4,545	-5,175	-5,291	-5,549	-5,425	-5,791	-6,483
less Taxes on expenditure	8, 9	-2,060	-2,264	-2,286	-2,358	-2,493	-2,643	-2,817	-2,955	-3,028	-3,187	-3,378
Subsidies	10, 11	474	467	417	362	419	347	359	407	385	369	487
Gross national product at factor cost	12	11,747	12,976	14,035	15,099	15,969	17,033	18,484	19,609	20,479	21,489	22,872
Factor incomes												
Income from employment	13	7,627	8,501	9,107	9,634	10,284	11,244	12,267	12,963	13,470	14,107	15,174
Income from self-employ- ment(1)	14	1,402	1,450	1,502	1,550	1,589	1,672	1,725	1,785	1,795	1,897	2,020
Gross trading profits of companies(1)(2)	15	2,126	2,483	2,180	2,313	2,576	2,886	2,928	3,075	2,983	3,317	3,736
Gross trading surplus of public corporations(1)	16	196	259	276	319	351	311	342	320	336	387	534
Gross trading surplus of other public enterprises(1	17, 18	139	117	40	63	108	112	122	128	155	164	179
Rent(3)	19	551	564	611	685	751	805	869	929	1,077	1,170	1,262
Total domestic income before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation		12,041	13,374	13,716	14,564	15,659	17,030	18,253	19,200	19,816	21,042	22,905
less Stock appreciation	20	-650	-750	50	75	-75	-196	-208	-187	5	-90	-138
Residual error	21	-40	10	17	231	135	25	210	347	365	275	-128
Gross domestic product at factor cost	22	11,351	12,634	13,783	14,870	15,719	16,859	18,255	19,360	20,186	21,227	22,639
Net property income from abroad	23	396	342	252	229	250	174	229	249	293	262	233
Gross national product	12	11,747	12,976	14,035	15,099	15,969	17,033	18,484	19,609	20,479	21,489	22,872
less Capital consumption	24	-964	- 1,129	- 1,283	- 1,344	- 1,407	- 1,536	- 1,672	- 1,795	- 1,908	- 1,968	- 2,062
National income	25	10,783	11,847	12,752	13,755	14,562	15,497	16,812	17,814	18,571	19,521	20,810

⁽¹⁾Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
(2)Selective employment tax is included on a cash basis and refunds or premiums are allowed for when they are received.
(3)Before providing for depreciation.

Gross national product

TABLE 1 (continued)												£ million
	Reference	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Expenditure					1							
Consumers' expenditure	1	17,835	18,923	20,130	21,516	22,891	24,247	25,422	27,245	28,849	31,216	34,504
Public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services	2, 3	4,579	4,910	5,170	5,498	6,034	6,564	7,263	7,718	8,100	9,022	10,278
Gross domestic fixed capi- tal formation	4	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	5	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31
Total domestic expendi- ture at market prices		27,406	28,677	30,485	33,611	35,724	37,892	40,282	43,194	45,644	49,782	54,736
Exports and property income from abroad	6	6,587	6,840	7,225	7,687	8,311	8,722	8,957	10,817	12,223	13,897	15,585
less Imports and property income paid abroad	7	-6,480	-6,607	-6,964	-7,896	-8,176	-8,436	-9,040	-10,854	-11,553	-13,010	-14,331
less Taxes on expenditure	8, 9	-3,627	-3,879	-4,027	-4,437	-4,962	-5,585	-5,968	-6,906	-7,833	-8,426	-8,697
Subsidies	10, 11	586	600	560	509	564	560	801	894	859	857	923
Gross national product at factor cost	12	24,472	25,631	27,279	29,474	31,461	33,153	35,032	37,145	39,340	43,100	48,216
Factor incomes												
Income from employment	13	16,407	17,306	18,195	19,717	21,291	22,786	23,706	25,340	27,037	30,235	33,491
Income from self-employ- ment (1)	14	2,122	2,161	2,220	2,337	2,530	2,680	2,840	3,082	3,299	3,576	3,941
Gross trading profits of companies (1) (2)	15	3,643	3,595	4,103	4,544	4,741	4,446	4,718	5,061	4,967	5,161	5,769
Gross trading surplus of public corporations(1)	16	639	745	840	924	988	1,042	1,132	1,363	1,452	1,388	1,441
Gross trading surplus of other public enterprises(1)	17, 18	96	71	78	91	96	87	88	108	118	136	163
Rent (3)	19	1,358	1,476	1,591	1,727	1,896	2,068	2,253	2,466	2,761	3,085	3,386
Total domestic income before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation		24 265	25,354	27,027	29,340	31,542	33,109	34,737	37,420	20.634	43,581	48,191
less Stock appreciation	20	-174	-147	-202	-298	-330	-313	-180	-639	39,634 -829	-975	-935
Residual error	21	127	90	56	39	-330 -186	-313 -30	96	29	38	-9/3	490
Gross domestic product at factor cost		24,218	25,297	26,881	29,081	31,026	32,766	34,653	36,810	38,843	42,606	47,746
Net property income from abroad	23	254										
Gross national product	12	24,472	25,631	27,279	29,474	435 31,461	33,153	35,032	37,145	39,340	494	48,216
less Capital consumption	24	-2,204	-2,333	-2,479	-2,673	-2,882	-3,119	-3,322	-3,618	-3,922		-5,012
National income	25	22,268	23,298	24,800	26,801	28,579	30,034	31,710	33,527	35,418	38,688	43,204
												and the same of th

See footnotes on page 2.

Total current expenditure

Balance: saving(1)

Total

Personal income and expenditure

TABLE 2										1200		£ million
	Reference number	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
Income before tax Income from employment	13	7,627	8,501	9,107	9,634	10,284	11,244	12,267	12,963	13,470	14,107	15,174
Income from self-employ- ment(1)	14	1,402	1,450	1,502	1,550	1,589	1,672	1,725	1,785	1,795	1,897	2,020
Rent, dividends and net	26	1,278	1,277	1,295	1,403	1,456	1,541	1,555	1,641	1,864	2,079	2,400
Current transfers to chari- ties from companies	27					9	9	11	12	13	15	17
National insurance benefits and other current grants from public authorities	28, 29	695	720	836	926	944	1,035	1,106	1,169	1,407	1,555	1,569
Total personal income(1)		11,002	11,948	12,740	13,513	14,282	15,501	16,664	17,570	18,549	19,653	21,180
Expenditure Consumers' expenditure	1	9,400	10,150	10,691	11,402	12,091	13,038	13,744	14,509	15,296	16,117	16,933
Transfers abroad (net) and taxes paid abroad	30, 31	-11	8	8	-6	-4	9	26	29	7	2	-1
income: Payments	32a 32b	1,017	1,162 40	1,177 -14	1,134	1,236	1,330 35	1,452 20	1,602	1,696 50	1,776 15	1,991 95
National insurance, etc.	33	440	452	476	525	532	594	642	657	859	897	913

34

Corporate income appropriation account (1)

13,064

13,513

449

12,338

12,740

402

11,812

11,948

136

10,851

11,002

151

18,807

19,653

846

17,908

18,549

641

16,797

17,570

15,884

16,664

780

15,006

15,501

495

13,888

14,282

394

19,931

1,249

21,180

£ million TABLE 3 Reference 1959 1960 1957 1958 1956 1955 1954 1953 1952 1951 1950 number Income Income arising in the United Kingdom: trading profits Gross trading surplus and 4,270 3,704 3,395 3,319 3,270 2,927 3,197 2,632 2,456 2,742 2,322 15, 16 $(^2)(^3)$ Rent and non-trading 911 796 784 764 677 573 491 451 408 332 358 39a, 44a income 5,181 4,488 4,159 4,115 3,947 3,770 3,418 3,083 2,864 3,100 2,654 Total 955 992 965 874 737 828 706 726 683 734 39b, 44b 674 Income from abroad(4) 6,136 5,480 5,080 5,033 4,775 4,507 4,124 3,766 3,590 3,328 3,834 Total income Allocation of income Dividends and interest: 1,871 1,522 1,385 1,270 1,077 1,154 967 892 787 816 722 40a, 45a Payments Additions to dividend 69 143 78 35 47 12 68 16 41 35 40b, 45b and interest reserves..... Current transfers to chari-15 13 12 11 9 9 27 ties from companies Profits due abroad(4), net of United Kingdom tax, 548 595 511 490 435 402 329 342 360 316 254 41 and taxes paid abroad United Kingdom taxes on income: 715 968 1,010 972 894 972 893 968 985 750 782 Payments 6e, 42a 46a 318 -186-14039 127 -2139 32 -8419 73 Additions to tax reserves 42b, 42c 46b Balance: undistributed 2,598 2,423 2,223 2,215 2,107 2,037 1,719 1,516 1,396 1,559 43, 47 1,462 income after taxation(2) 6,136 5,480 5,080 5,033 4,775 4,507 4,124 3,590 3,766 3,834 3,328 Total

Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

⁽¹⁾ From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation not as part of central government.

⁽²⁾ Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

⁽³⁾ Selective employment tax is included on a cash basis and refunds or premiums are allowed for when they are received.

⁽⁴⁾ After deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.

Personal income and expenditure

TABLE 2 (continued)				,								£ million
	Reference number	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income before tax Income from employment	13	16,407	17,306	18,195	19,717	21,291	22,786	23,706	25,340	27,037	30,235	33,491
Income from self-employ-		2,122	2,161	2,220	2,337	2,530	2,680	2,840	3,082	3,299	3,576	3,941
ment (1)		2,122	2,101		IN L. T. L.	2,550			RALL PROPERTY.	Part Indian		
interest	26	2,633	2,765	3,055	3,353	3,667	3,824	4,010	4,198	4,493	4,602	4,837
Charities from companies National insurance benefits	27	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
and other current grants from public authorities		1,708	1,881	2,128	2,250	2,596	2,825	3,189	3,679	3,935	4,331	4,781
Total personal income (1)	gun, a F	22,889	24,134	25,622	27,683	30,112	32,145	33,777	36,333	38,799	42,780	47,088
Expenditure Consumers' expenditure	1	17,835	18,923	20,130	21,516	22,891	24,247	25,422	27,245	28,849	31,216	34,504
Transfers abroad (net) and taxes paid abroad United Kingdom taxes on	30,31	-3	4	23	29	27	42	64	77	71	58	38
Payments		2,249 20	2,458 -30	2,510 17	2,801 95	3,344 107	3,733	4,115 76	4,580 145	5,203 136	5,935 139	6,509 63
National insurance, etc.	33	1,072	1,197	1,303	1,444	1,685	1,804	1,909	2,165	2,244	2,654	2,828
Total current expenditure Balance: saving (1)	34	21,173 1,716	22,552 1,582	23,983 1,639	25,885 1,798	28,054 2,058	29,864 2,281	31,586 2,191	34,212 2,121	36,503 2,296	40,002 2,778	43,942 3,146
Total		22,889	24,134	25,622	27,683	30,112	32,145	33,777	36,333	38,799	42,780	47,088

See footnote on page 4.

Corporate income appropriation account(1)

TABLE 3 (continued)	and to											£ million
	Reference number	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income Income arising in the United Kingdom: Gross trading profits			Hillion		27050							
and trading surplus (2) (3) Rent and non-trading	15,16	4,282	4,340	4,943	5,468	5,729	5,488	5,850	6,424	6,419	6,549	7,210
income	39a,44a	987	987	986	1,131	1,325	1,459	1,597	1,885	2,112	2,347	2,616
Total Income from abroad (4)	39b,44b	5,269 983	5,327 1,081	5,929 1,161	6,599 1,293	7,054 1,427	6,947 1,354	7,447 1,425	8,309 1,750	8,531 2,074	8,896 2,216	9,826 2,531
Total income		6,252	6,408	7,090	7,892	8,481	8,301	8,872	10,059	10,605	11,112	12,357
Allocation of income Dividends and interest: Payments Additions to dividend		2,129	2,242	2,308	2,668	3,067	3,268	3,407	3,703	4,153	4,244	4,492
and interest reserves Current transfers to chari-	40b,45b	64	52	201	55	23	4	20	99	-63	41	9
Profits due abroad (4), net of United Kingdom tax,	27	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
united Kingdom taxes on income:	41	537	581	610	739	799	724	791	1,089	1,137	1,334	1,717
Payments	6e,42a 46a	813	981	857	709	659	706	972	1,063	1,121	1,492	1,446
Additions to tax reserves	42b,42c 46b	102	-155	-24	307	26	474	301	578	617	20	-277
Balance: undistributed			DICT.			500	180	001		or un library	epro Jeon	Total co
income after taxation (2)	43,47	2,588	2,686	3,114	3,388	3,879	3,095	3,349	3,493	3,605	3,945	4,932
Total		6,252	6,408	7,090	7,892	8,481	8,301	8,872	10,059	10,605	11,112	12,357

See footnotes on page 4.

constant to the minimum of the model of

Current account of central government including National Insurance Funds

£ million

6,800

6,638

6,426

6,000

5,667

5,456

5,059

TABLE 4 Reference number Receipts Gross trading surplus (1)(2) Rent, dividends and in-2,725 2,758 2,725 2,592 terest 2,364 2,319 2,147 2,116 1,926 2,173 1,811 Taxes on income..... 2,378 2,473 2,607 2,340 2,261 2,168 2,033 1,925 1,894 1,900 1,723 Taxes on expenditure National insurance, etc. contributions Current grants from over-seas governments..... 6,638 6,800 6,426 6,000 5,667 5,456 5,059 4,901 4,854 4,522 4,197 Total Expenditure Current expenditure on 2,882 2,724 2,561 2,558 2,504 2,353 2,357 2,328 2,230 1,823 1,523 goods and services Subsidies 28a National insurance benefits Other current grants to 28b personal sector..... Debt interest..... Current grants to local authorities Current grants paid abroad 6,598 5,804 6,146 5,473 5,251 4,953 4,513 4,826 4,700 3,945 3,534 Total current expenditure Balance: current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock

Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

appreciation.....

Total

From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation not as part of central government.

4,522

4,197

Current account of local authorities

4,901

4,854

£ million TABLE 5 Reference number Receipts Gross trading surplus (1)..... Rent, dividends and in-terest Rates Current grants from cen-tral government 1,960 1,802 1,654 1,547 1,378 1,211 1,121 1,044 Total Expenditure Current expenditure on 1,357 1,268 1,181 1,102 1,004 goods and services Housing subsidies Current grants to personal sector Debt interest..... 1,715 1,595 1,484 1,382 1,252 1,004 1,100 Total current expenditure Balance: current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation..... 1,960 1,802 1,654 1,547 1,378 1,121 1,211 1,044 Total

Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

Current account of central government including National Insurance Funds

	Refer-											DI B. YEAR
	number	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Descints									Na salana			
Gross trading surplus(1)(2)	17	46	17	17	24	24	15	16	30	40	35	42
Rent, dividends and in-	48	505	602	558	612	665	770	830	946	1,089	1,240	1,432
Taxes on income Taxes on expenditure	49	3,078 2,796	3,455 2,963	3,385 3,013	3,528 3,341	4,024 3,734	4,450	5,092 4,501	5,648 5,358	6,330	7,433 6,603	7,961 6,610
National insurance, etc.	33	1,072	1,197	1,303	1,444	1,685	1,804	1,909	2,165	2,244	2,654	2,828
Current grants from over-		1,072	1,15,	1,505	2,111	1,005	1,001	1,505	2,100	2,211	2,00	2,020
seas governments	50		_							A THE		AUSTO.
Total	73 - 1	7,497	8,234	8,276	8,949	10,132	11,250	12,348	14,147	15,867	17,965	18,873
Expenditure										1	PAT OF S	
Current expenditure on	2	3,080	3,252	3,356	3,549	3,853	4,119	4,510	4,742	4,864	5,407	6,183
Subsidies	10	544	561	522	465	498	486	727	810	744	741	797
Nationalinsurance benefits Other current grants to	28a	1,125	1,213	1,413	1,497	1,775	1,894	2,084	2,360	2,429	2,715	2,924
personal sector Debt interest	28b 51	540 893	616 874	652 930	679 937	732 968	825 1,036	985 1,105	1,186 1,240	1,360 1,280	1,459 1,298	1,686 1,384
Current grants to local authorities	52	828	926	1,031	1,159	1,249	1,481	1,706	1,898	2,099	2,450	2,858
Current grants paid abroad	53	118	121	132	163	177	180	188	179	177	172	200
Total current expenditure		7,128	7,563	8,036	8,449	9,252	10,021	11,305	12,415	12,953	14,242	16,032
Balance: current surplus before providing for	181											landa .
depreciation and stock appreciation	54	369	671	240	500	880	1,229	1,043	1,732	2,914	3,723	2,841
Total		7,497	8,234	8,276	8,949	10,132	11,250	12,348	14,147	15,867	17,965	18,873
	Was a Transfer of				The second second				14			

See footnotes on page 6.

Current account of local authorities

IADLE)	(continueu)
	1	

£ million TADIE 5 (continued) Reference 1962 1963 1965 1966 1961 1964 1967 1968 number 1969 1970 1971 Receipts Gross trading surplus(1)...
Rent, dividends and in-18 72 61 72 50 54 67 78 101 121 55 terest 396 434 469 521 685 602 759 862 1,000 1,110 1,185 Rates 1,096 1,228 831 916 1,014 1,374 1,548 1,467 1,669 1,823 2,087 Current grants from cen-tral government 52 828 926 1,031 1,159 1,249 1,481 1,898 1,706 2,099 2,450 2,858 Total 2,105 2,330 2,575 2,843 3,151 3,612 4,004 4,386 5,484 4,846 6,251 Expenditure Current expenditure on goods and services 1,499 1,658 1,814 1,949 2,181 2,445 2,753 2,976 3,236 3,615 4,095 Housing subsidies..... 42 39 44 66 126 84 115 116 Current grants to personal sector 29 43 63 89 52 74 106 120 133 146 157 171 Debt interest 56 335 364 392 445 522 600 671 791 1,134 924 1,042 Total current expenditure 1,919 2,113 2,307 2,512 2,858 3,225 3,618 3,984 5,526 4,421 4,930 Balance: current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation 57 186 217 268 331 293 387 386 402 425 554 725 Total 2,105 2,330 2,575 2,843 3,151 3,612 4,004 4,386 5,484 4,846 6,251

See footnote on page 6.

Combined capital account

TABLE 6

Reference

	Reference number	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
Receipts					100							
Saving (¹): Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government Local authorities Additions to dividend and	34 43 47 54 57	151 1,344 118 663 79	136 1,417 142 577 82	402 1,251 145 341 83	449 1,339 177 201 115	394 1,507 212 233 117	495 1,856 181 503 111	780 1,909 198 416 126	773 2,046 169 527 165	641 2,059 164 622 170	846 2,244 179 492 207	1,249 2,296 302 202 245
Companies Public corporations	40b 45b	29	-3 6	36 5	12 4	70 -2	17 -5	31 16	27 8	72 6	138 5	63
Additions to tax reserves: Personal sector Companies Public corporations	32b 42b, 42c 46b	5 70 3	40 396 23	-14 -41 33	9 19 13	33 145 -6	35 8 -10	20 136 -9	- 50 -11	50 -119 -21	-187 1	95 317 1
Total saving before pro- viding for depreciation and stock appreciation		2,468	2,816	2,241	2,338	2,703	3,191	3,623	3,754	3,644	3,940	4,776
less Stock appreciation: Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government		-63 -440 -29 -118	-112 -465 -80 -93	-10 22 6 32	-7 44 6 32	-20 -53 -7 5	-44 -119 -18 -15	-39 -159 -10	-32 -141 -14	-16 18 3	-24 -67 1	-32 -92 -14 -
Total	20	-650	-750	50	75	-75	-196	-208	-187	5	-90	-138
Capital transfers from	59	27	35	35	17	1	1	_			inglines inglines	100-
Capital grants from over- seas governments (net) Residual error	62 21	140 -40	43 10		231	135	25	210	347	365	275	-128
Total		1,945	2,154	2,343	2,661	2,764	3,021	3,625	3,914	4,014	4,125	4,510
Expenditure			all in it	tik bes	730.II	UG GE						
Gross domestic fixed capital formation: Personal sector Companies		255 633 288 126 406	280 637 358 170 460	320 642 414 214 540	392 686 488 218 607	493 801 538 184 575	569 981 571 192 563	553 1,228 589 221 567	558 1,411 660 245 569	619 1,457 694 245 544	680 1,527 758 252 582	789 1,739 788 256 604
Total	4	1,708	1,905	2,130	2,391	2,591	2,876	3,158	3,443	3,559	3,799	4,176
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress: Personal sector	108.5	41 -24 -15 -212	70 426 4 75	-15 -62 51 76	33 65 -25 52	44 200 -69 -119	352 22 -115	32 235 16 -24	30 190 54 -36	14 69 36 -8	36 137 11 -10	37 594 -25 -17
Total	5	-210	575	50	125	56	300	259	238	111	174	589
Net investment abroad	61	447	-326	163	145	117	-155	208	233	344	152	-255
Total investment	TEL I	1,945	2,154	2,343	2,661	2,764	3,021	3,625	3,914	4,014	4,125	4,510

⁽¹⁾ Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

Combined capital account

TABLE 6 (continued)				1			I					
	Reference	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts											-	Tellett.
Saving (¹): Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government Local authorities Additions to dividend and interest reserves:	and the second	1,716 2,231 357 369 186	1,582 2,256 430 671 217	1,639 2,574 540 240 268	1,798 2,790 598 500 331	2,058 3,235 644 880 293	2,281 2,442 653 1,229 387	2,191 2,683 666 1,043 386	2,121 2,675 818 1,732 402	2,296 2,720 885 2,914 425	2,778 3,182 763 3,723 554	3,146 4,192 740 2,841 725
Public corporations	40b 45b	55 9	-23	161 40	45 10	10	-13 17	19	67 32	-58 -5	35	10
Additions to tax reserves: Personal sector Companies Public corporations	32b 42b,42c 46b	20 104 -2	-30 -150 -5	17 -21 -3	95 307 —	107 22 4	38 499 -25	76 303 -2	145 583 -5	136 618 -1	139 18 2	63 -274 -3
Total saving before pro- viding for depreciation and stock appreciation		5,045	5,023	5,455	6,474	7,266	7,508	7,366	8,570	9,930	11,200	11,439
less Stock appreciation: Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government		-39 -123 -12	-39 -105 -3	-35 -163 -4	-48 -242 -8 -	-51 -268 -11	-48 -259 -6	-45 -145 10 -	-89 -536 -14	-103 -688 -38	-159 -746 -70	-170 -724 -41
Total	20	-174	147	-202	-298	-330	-313	-180	-639	-829	-975	-935
Capital transfers from abroad Capital grants from overseas governments (net) Residual error	59 62 21	127			- 30		-30	96		38		490
Total	21	127	90	5 300	6 215	-186 6.750	7 165		-		10.225	
lotal		4,998	4,966	5,309	6,215	6,750	7,165	7,282	7,960	9,139	10,225	10,994
Gross domestic fixed capital formation: Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government Local authorities		855 1,994 905 219 702	816 2,012 933 216 814	873 1,987 1,024 227 883	940 2,432 1,187 284 1,112	1,001 2,624 1,293 301 1,185	1,017 2,667 1,453 335 1,345	1,124 2,633 1,659 395 1,568	1,264 2,961 1,622 458 1,712	1,185 3,416 1,484 486 1,752	1,268 3,895 1,613 576 1,821	1,600 3,848 1,859 606 2,010
Total	4	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress: Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government		29 284 -3 7	38 -1 12	21 195 -35 10	54 567 4 17	32 346 -6 23	21 183 35 25	17 82 92 27	29 140 10 35	27 364 -61 42	20 320 -12 43	29 -132 83 51
Total	5	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31
Net investment abroad	61	6	122	124	-382	-49	84	-315	-271	444	681	1,040
Total investment		4,998	4,966	5,309	6,215	6,750	7,165	7,282	7,960	9,139	10,225	10,994

See footnote on page 8.

International transactions

£ million TABLE 7

	Reference	40.50	1051	1050	1052	1054	1055	1056	1957	1958	1959	1960
	number	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1937	1938	1939	1900
United Kingdom credits												271/21/11
Exports of goods Exports of services	6b	2,261 734	2,735 913	2,769 991	2,683 1,004	2,785 1,052	3,073 1,104	3,377 1,221	3,509 1,327	3,406 1,301	3,522 1,326	3,732 1,415
Property income from abroad U.K. taxes paid by non-	6c	738	772	768	728	755	788	884	940	1,046	1,077	1,052
residents on portfolio	6d	12	14	11	14	18	17	18	18	19	14	19
U.K. taxes paid on profits due abroad	6e	62	63	51	66	61	63	64	62	67	77	91
Exports and property income from abroad	6	3,807	4,497	4,590	4,495	4,671	5,045	5,564	5,856	5,839	6,016	6,309
Current transfers: To personal sector To central government	50	64	62 4	63 120	72 105	76 50	80 46	91 26	90 21	103	100	104
Capital transfers from	50	27	35	35	17	1	1	_	-	-		
Total		3,898	4,598	4,808	4,689	4,798	5,172	5,681	5,967	5,945	6,116	6,413
United Kingdom debits											a mental	
Imports of goods Imports of services	76	2,312 764	3,424 907	3,048 885	2,927 908	2,989 972	3,386 1,095	3,324 1,230	3,538 1,240	3,377 1,209	3,639 1,246	4,138 1,416
abroad	7c	236	288	310	346	369	423	424	414	475	487	548
Foreign taxes paid by U.K. residents	7.1	180	219	268	233	215	271	313	357	364	419	381
Imports and property income paid abroad	7	3,492	4,838	4,511	4,414	4,545	5,175	5,291	5,549	5,425	5,791	6,483
Current transfers: From personal sector		48	64	65	61	66	82	109	110	99	91	91
From central govern-	53	51	65	69	69	70	70	73	75	77	82	94
Net investment abroad less Capital grants from	61	447	-326	163	145	117	-155	208	233	344	152	-255
overseas governments (net)	4.4	-140	-43	-	-		-	_	_	-		_
Total (2)	215,1	307	-369	163	145	117	-155	208	233	344	152	-255
Total	- 1709 1	3,898	4,598	4,808	4,689	4,798	5,172	5,681	5,967	5,945	6,116	6,413

⁽¹⁾ Including from 1964 a net adjustment for recording. See notes on page 113.
(2) Equal to the current balance in the balance of payments accounts.

Gross domestic product at factor cost

1963 = 100

TABLE 8

	Reference number	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
At current prices		AVENTE I					GLEEC TO THE STATE OF THE STATE					
Based on expenditure data Based on income data	22 63	42·2 42·5	47·0 47·1	51·3 51·3	55·3 54·6	58·5 58·1	62·7 62·8	67·9 67·3	72·0 70·9	75·1 73·9	79·0 78·1	84·2 84·9
At 1963 prices												
Based on expenditure data Based on income data Based on output data	64 65 66	70·3 70·7 73·0	72·9 73·0 74·6	72·9 73·0 74·1	76·3 75·3 77·1	79·1 78·6 80·3	81·8 81·9 83·0	83·4 82·6 83·8	85·0 83·7 85·3	84·8 83·4 85·2	87·7 86·7 89·0	91·9 92·6 93·8
Average estimate	67	71.4	73.5	73 · 3	76.2	79.3	82.2	83.3	84.7	84.5	87.8	92.8

International transactions

TABLE 7 (continued)			7391	Mail 1			I who	CAN I				£ million
	Reference	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
United Kingdom credits	1,850	Den s										
Exports of goods(1) Exports of services	6a 6b	3,891 1,477	3,993 1,510	4,282 1,527	4,486 1,633	4,817 1,744	5,184 1,856	5,124 2,119	6,274 2,525	7,063 2,783	7,893 3,347	8,790 3,803
Property income from abroad	6c	1,084	1,190	1,280	1,419	1,564	1,496	1,566	1,882	2,205	2,381	2,727
residents on portfolio	6d	16	16	18	18	21	11	5	5	6	6	6
U.K. taxes paid on profits due abroad	6e	119	131	118	131	165	175	143	131	166	270	259
Exports and property income from abroad	6	6,587	6,840	7,225	7,687	8,311	8,722	8,957	10,817	12,223	13,897	15,585
Current transfers: To personal sector To central government	58 50	109	111	113	125	135	135	143	171	181	192	207
Capital transfers from abroad	59	_	-	_	_	-	_	_	_	_		-
Total		6,696	6,951	7,338	7,812	8,446	8,857	9,100	10,988	12,404	14,089	15,792
United Kingdom debits										Londina		BL S. A.
Imports of goods Imports of services	76	4,043 1,472	4,095 1,509	4,362 1,584	5,005 1,716	5,054 1,807	5,257 1,884	5,681 2,024	6,922 2,249	7,206 2,467	7,881 2,966	8,491 3,318
Property income paid abroad	7c	557	567	580	644	743	761	746	908	1,011	1,149	1,215
Foreign taxes paid by U.K. residents	7.7	408	436	438	531	572	534	589	775	869	1,014	1,307
Imports and property income paid abroad		6,480	6,607	6,964	7,896	8,176	8,436	9,040	10,854	11,553	13,010	14,331
Current transfers: From personal sector	60	92	101	118	135	142	157	187	226	230	226	221
From central govern-	53	118	121	132	163	177	180	188	179	177	172	200
Net investment abroad less Capital grants	61	6	122	124	-382	- 49	84	-315	-271	444	681	1,040
from overseas gov- ernments (net)	62	_	_	_	_	_	-	-	_	_	_	_
Total(2)		6	122	124	-382	- 49	84	-315	-271	444	681	1,040
Total		6,696	6,951	7,338	7,812	8,446	8,857	9,100	10,988	12,404	14,089	15,792

See footnotes on page 10.

Gross domestic product at factor cost

TABLE 8 (continued)

	Reference number	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices								NA THE				
Based on expenditure data Based on income data At 1963 prices	22 63	90·1 89·8	94·1 94·0	100·0 100·0	108·2 108·3	115·4 116·4	121·9 122·3	128·9 128·8	136·9 137·1	144·5 144·7	158.5	177·6 176·2
Based on expenditure data Based on income data Based on output data	64 65 66	95·2 94·9 95·5	96·1 96·0 96·8	100·0 100·0	105·4 105·5 105·9	108·1 109·0 108·8	110·4 110·7 110·7	112·7 112·6 112·5	116·4 116·5 117·0	118·6 118·8 119·5	120·9 121·1 121·8	122·4 121·4 123·9
Average estimate	67	95.2	96.3	100.0	105.6	108-6	110.6	112.6	116.6	119.0	121 - 3	122.5

Shares in the gross national product

TABLE 9 £ million												
	Reference	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income after current transfers Personal sector: Income from civilian employment Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces Income from self-employment(1) Rent, dividends and net interest Current transfers to charities from	14 26	15,942 465 2,122 2,633	479	498 2,220	533 2,337	2,530	2,680	628 2,840	3,082	673 3,299	3,576	890 3,941
Current grants from public authorities	27 28, 29	1,708									1 11	
less Transfers abroad (net) Total	30	17	10	-5	-10	-7	-22	-44	-55	-49	-34	
Companies and public corporations: Undistributed income(1)	$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} 6e \\ 42, 43 \end{array} \right\}$	3,503					013					
Public authorities: Gross trading surplus(1)	17, 18	96					7.072.0					
less Rent, dividends and interest paid (net)	(2) 28, 29 53 less 50	$ \begin{array}{r} -327 \\ -1,708 \\ -118 \end{array} $	# . C. C	-2,128		-2,596	-181 -2,825	-187 -3,189	-223 -3,679	-115 -3,935	10	
Total		-2,057	-2,133	-2,477	-2,571	-2,900	-3,099	-3,476	-3,973	-4,109	-4,357	7 -4,719
Current transfers paid abroad (net) Additions to dividend and interest	${30,53 \atop less 50}$	101	111	137	173	184	202	232	234	226	206	214
reserves	40b, 45b	64	52	201	55	23	4	20	99	-63	41	9
Taxes paid by non-residents on portfolio income less taxes paid abroad by personal sector	6d, 31	2	2		-1	1	-9	-15	-17	-16	-18	-18
less Stock appreciation	20 21	-174 127	-147 90	-202 56	-298 39					-829	-975	-935 490
Gross national product at factor cost	12	24,472	25,631	27,279	29,474	31,461	33,153	35,032	37,145	39,340	43,100	48,216
Income after current transfers, taxes on income and national insurance contributions Personal sector: Income from civilian employment Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces Income from self-employment(1) Rent, dividends and net interest Current transfers to charities from	<pre>} 35 { 36 37</pre>	13,649 421 }3,794		19,687	21,197	22,500	23,798	24,584	25,968	27,490	29,950	33,074
Current grants from public	27	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
less Transfers abroad (net)	38 30 32b	1,671 17 -20	1,842 10 30	2,080 -5 -17	2,196 -10 -95	The second secon	2,760 -22 -38	3,117 -44 -76	3,564 -55 -145	3,805 -49 -136	4,181 -34 -139	4,615 -14 -63
Total disposable income		19,551	20,505	21,769	23,314	24,949	26,528	27,613	29,366	31,145	33,994	37 650
Companies and public corporations: Undistributed income(1)	43, 47	2,588	2,686	3,114	3,388	3,879	3,095	3,349	3,493	3,605	3,945	4,932
Public authorities: Income less current transfers(1) Taxes on income and national insu-		-2,057	-2,133	-2,477	-2,571	-2,900	-3,099	-3,476	-3,973	-4,109	-4,357	-4,719
rance, etc. contributions	33, 49	4,150	4,652	4,688	4,972	5,709	6,254	7,001	7,813	8,574	10,087	10,789
Total	00	2,093	2,519	2,211	2,401	2,809	3,155	3,525	3,840	4,465	5,730	6,070
Current transfers paid abroad (net) Additions to dividend and interest	${30,53 \atop less 50}$	101	111	137	173	184	202	232	234	226	206	214
Additions to tax reserves	<i>40b</i> , <i>45b</i> ∫ <i>32b</i> ,	64	52	201	55	23	4	20	99	-63	41	9
less Stock appreciation	42b,42c, 46b	122	-185	-7	402	133	512	377	723	753	159	-214
Residual error Gross national product at factor cost	20 21	-174 127	-147 90	-202 56	-298 39	-330 -186	-313 -30		-639 29	-829 38	-975 -	-935 490
(1) Before providing for depreciation and	12	24,472	25,631	27,279	29,474	31,461	33,153	35,032	37,145	39,340	43,100	48,216

⁽¹⁾ Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
(2) Item 48 plus 55 less 51 less 56.

The composition of final output

TABLE 10											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income from employment	16,407	17,306	18,195	19,717	21,291	22,786	23,706	25,340	27,037	30,235	33,491
Gross profits and other trading income(1)	7,684	7,901	8,630	9,325	9,921	10,010	10,851	11,441	11,768	12,371	13,765
Imports of goods and services	5,515	5,604	5,946	6,721	6,861	7,141	7,705	9,171	9,673	10,847	11,809
Taxes on expenditure less subsidies	3,041	3,279	3,467	3,928	4,398	5,025	5,167	6,012	6,974	7,569	7,774
Residual error	127	90	56	39	-186	-30	96	29	38		490
Total final output(2)	32,774	34,180	36,294	39,730	42,285	44,932	47,525	51,993	55,490	61,022	67,329

Gross domestic product by industry(1)

TABLE 11	1071													
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971			
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	955	992	986	1,019	1,050	1,088	1,135	1,139	1,194	1,261	1,363			
Mining and quarrying	700	744	744	744	709	711	725	704	652	697	778			
Manufacturing	8,417	8,545	8,953	9,853	10,607	10,865	11,245	11,866	12,666	14,053	15,315			
Construction	1,515	1,650	1,762	2,032	2,182	2,293	2,394	2,528	2,586	2,683	2,894			
Gas, electricity and water	667	734	833	911	1,000	1,059	1,135	1,282	1,366	1,330	1,486			
Transport	1,574	1,636	1,766	1,863	1,983	2,079	2,088	2,257	2,270	2,425	2,684			
Communication	448	479	522	580	646	703	753	806	926	1,040	1,158			
Distributive trades	2,828	2,968	3,148	3,322	3,616	3,765	3,915	4,047	4,105	4,358	4,850			
Insurance, banking, and finance (including real estate)	774	855	917	916	961	983	1,129	1,276	1,419	1,688	1,948			
Ownership of dwellings	964	1,052	1,149	1,262	1,396	1,524	1,660	1,808	2,001	2,216	2,425			
Public administration and defence	1,383	1,458	1,551	1,672	1,802	1,965	2,105	2,251	2,383	2,739	3,102			
Public health and educational services	976	1,082	1,184	1,271	1,420	1,559	1,684	1,831	1,990	2,295	2,679			
Other services	2,890	3,012	3,310	3,597	3,840	4,202	4,589	4,986	5,247	5,821	6,574			
Residual error	127	90	56	39	-186	-30	96	29	38	-	490			
Gross domestic product at factor cost	24,218	25,297	26,881	29,081	31,026	32,766	34,653	36,810	38,843	42,606	47,746			

⁽¹⁾ The contribution of each industry to the gross domestic product before providing for depreciation but after providing for stock appreciation.

⁽¹⁾ Before providing for depreciation but after providing for stock appreciation.
(2) The value, at market prices, of home produced and imported goods and services available for private and public consumption, investment and export.

Gross domestic product by category of expenditure

TABLE 12											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At market prices		asu u							173.20		
Consumers' expenditure	17,835	18,923	20,130	21,516	22,891	24,247	25,422	27,245	28,849	31,216	34,504
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services	4,579	4,910	5,170	5,498	6,034	6,564	7,263	7,718	8,100	9,022	10,278
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31
Exports of goods and services	5,368	5,503	5,809	6,119	6,561	7,040	7,243	8,799	9,846	11,240	12,593
Total final expenditure	32,774	34,180	36,294	39,730	42,285	44,932	47,525	51,993	55,490	61,022	67,329
less Imports of goods and services (1)	-5,515	-5,604	-5,946	-6,721	-6,861	-7,141	-7,705	-9,171	-9,673	-10,847	-11,809
Gross domestic product (2)	27,259	28,576	30,348	33,009	35,424	37,791	39,820	42,822	45,817	50,175	55,520
At factor cost											
Consumers' expenditure	15,332	16,211	17,244	18,288	19,281	20,190	21,230	22,499	23,512	25,493	28,558
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services	4,436	4,755	5,012	5,315	5,825	6,258	6,851	7,232	7,488	8,344	9,649
Gross domestic fixed capital formation Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	} 4,720	4,569	4,913	6,254	6,380	6,598	7,136	7,696	8,056	8,826	9,221
Exports of goods and services	5,245	5,366	5,658	5,945	6,401	6,861	7,141	8,554	9,460	10,790	12,127
Total final expenditure	29,733	30,901	32,827	35,802	37,887	39,907	42,358	45,981	48,516	53,453	59,555
less Imports of goods and services	-5,515	-5,604	-5,946	-6,721	-6,861	-7,141	-7,705	-9,171	-9,673	-10,847	-11,809
Gross domestic product	24,218	25,297	26,881	29,081	31,026	32,766	34,653	36,810	38,843	42,606	47,746

 ⁽¹) Excluding taxes on expenditure levied on imports.
 (²) Including taxes on expenditure levied on imports. See notes on page 97.

Gross domestic product by sector and type of income and employment by sector

	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
				basi I	5,31	WAL JA	MALE !		- Smilling	4 P 19 9 4	
ctor incomes analysed by sector of								OBSTREE !	1000	NOTIFIED !	
employment Personal sector:	1 505	1,592	1,708	1,906	2,039	2,085	2,186	2,327	2,469	2,732	2,978
Income from employment (1) of which	1,505						100	139	145	154	162
Income of domestic servants	105	110	112	116	122	128	132	139			
Income from services to private non-profit-making bodies	179	203	229	252	274	304	338	371	428 3,299	3,576	536 3,941
Income from self-employment (2)	2,122	2,161	2,220	2,337	2,530 1,029	2,680	2,840 1,210	3,082 1,297	1,411	1,567	1,738
less Stock appreciation	707	782 -39	-35	-48	-51	-48	-45	-89	-103	-159	-170
	4,295	4,496	4,757	5,140	5,547	5,830	6,191	6,617	7,076	7,716	8,487
Total	4,250	.,,					- I		- Consider	S NO SECTION	4400
Companies:	10,319	10,848	11,332	12,315	13,293	14,331	14,630	15,570	16,672	18,602	20,283
Gross trading profits (2)	3,643	3,595	4,103	4,544	4,741	4,446	4,718	5,061	4,967	5,161	5,769 376
Rent (3)	160	$-167 \\ -105$	-163	-242	191 -268	205 -259	227 -145	253 -536	287 -688	-746	-724
less Stock appreciation	-123						19,430	20,348	21,238	23,351	25,704
Total	13,999	14,505	15,444	16,796	17,957	18,723	19,450	20,340		25,551	20,70
Public corporations (4):	1 711	1,868	1,930	2,023	2,138	2,215	2,393	2,630	2,746	2,939	3,304
Gross trading surplus (2)	1,711	745	840	924	988	1,042	1,132	1,363	1,452	1,388	1,441
Rent (3)	34	36	41	45	49	52	55	56 -14	- 38	-70	-41
less Stock appreciation	-12	-3	-4	-8	-11	-6	10	-14	- 30	- 70	
Total	2,372	2,646	2,807	2,984	3,164	3,303	3,590	4,035	4,224	4,326	4,781
Central government (4):											
Income from employment (5):	165	479	498	533	554	619	628	664	673	792	890
H.M. Forces	465 1,102	1,088	1,159	1,260	1,396	1,492	1,596	1,707	1,851	2,146	2,490
Gross trading surplus (2)	46	17	17	24	24	15 97	16 94	30 94	102	35 110	119
Rent (3)	101	105	97	96	95	91					
Total	1,714	1,689	1,771	1,913	2,069	2,223	2,334	2,495	2,666	3,083	3,541
Local authorities:			4.500	1.000	1 071	2.044	2 272	2 442	2 626	3,024	3,546
Income from employment (5)	1,305	1,431 54	1,568 61	1,680	1,871	2,044	2,273	2,442	2,626	101	121
Gross trading surplus (2)	50 356	386	417	462	532	601	667	766	897	1,005	1,076
Total	1,711	1,871	2,046	2,209	2,475	2,717	3,012	3,286	3,601	4,130	4,743
Residual error	127	90	56	39	-186	-30	96	29	38		490
Gross domestic product	24,218	25,297	26,881	29,081	31,026	32,766	34,653	36,810	38,843	42,606	47,746
Employment (8) analysed by sector of						MAN W					
employment (thousands)				10.000	10.001	10.060	10 422	10,000	10.010	10 752	18,310
Private sector (7) Public sector:	19,303	19,403	19,404	19,665	19,891	19,969	19,432	19,008	19,010	18,752	1 10,510
Public corporations (4)	2,196	2,192	2,132	2,080	2,023	1,969	1,941	2,077	2,040	1,921	1,878
Central government: H.M. Forces	474	442	427	424	423	417	417	400	380	372	368
Civilians (4)		1,329	1,346	1,350	1,373	1,405	1,458	1,488	1,487	1,537	1,55
Local authorities	1,782	1,848	1,913	1,981	2,040	2,134	2,235	2,310	2,367	2,500	2,58
Total	5,754	5,811	5,818	5,835	5,859	5,925	6,051	6,275	6,274	6,330	6,384
Total working population in em- ployment	and the same of the same of	25,214	25,222	25,500	25,750	25,894	25,483	25,283	25,284	25,082	24,69

Wages, salaries and employers' contributions paid by unincorporated enterprises, by private non-profit-making bodies serving persons and by persons employing domestic servants.
 Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 Before providing for depreciation.
 From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation not as part of central government.
 For details see Table 44.
 At June in each year. Part-time employees are counted as one person.
 Including self-employed.

II. EXPENDITURE AND OUTPUT AT CONSTANT PRICES

Expenditure and output at 1963 prices(1)

TABLE 14	1	-	1								£ million
	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
At 1963 market prices	men I										
Consumers' expenditure	14,467	14,268	14,195	14,837	15,447	16,088	16,233	16,578	17,008	17,747	18,445
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services: Military defence	1,555 765	1,836 771	2,253 754	2,330 767	2,250 782	2,083 805	2,004 824	1,875 843	1,709 863	1,700 894	1,724
Education	522 1,242	1,230	553 1,233	576 1,244	1,267	625 1,246	673 1,224	696 1,246	723	763	923 780
Total (1)	4,094	4,398	4,832	4,958	4,936	-			1,268	1,301	1,333
Gross domestic fixed capital for-		4,550	4,032	4,236	4,930	4,785	4,745	4,670	4,563	4,658	4,760
Value of physical increase in stocks	2,652	2,670	2,691	2,987	3,248	3,437	3,600	3,796	3,826	4,111	4,488
and work in progress	-265	593	63	130	52	302	235	241	107	188	628
Exports of goods and services	4,118	4,077	3,991	4,158	4,393	4,664	4,867	4,991	4,911	5,042	5,327
Total final expenditure at market prices (1)	24,970 -3,752	26,011 -4,014	25,652 -3,714	26,969 -4,008	27,985 -4,155	29,259 -4,574	29,675 -4,587	30,292 -4,702	30,415 -4,753	31,746 -5,062	33,648 -5,669
Gross domestic product at market prices (1) (3)	21,231	22,001	21,963	22,979	23,849	24,685	25,092	25,592	25,662		27,979
Net property income from abroad (4)	483	317	239	240	262	177	231	245	304	272	238
Gross national product at market prices (1) (3)	21,733	22,323	22,199	23,216	24,110	24,853	25,318	25,832	25,966	26,956	28,217
Index numbers (1963 = 100):						-,,,,,,	20,010	20,002	25,500	20,750	20,217
Gross domestic product at market prices (3)	70.0	72.5	72.4	75.7	78.6	81.3	82.7	84.3	84.6	87.9	92.2
prices (3)	70.7	72.6	72 · 2	75.5	78 • 4	80.8	82.3	84.0	84.5	87.7	91.8
At 1963 factor cost											
Gross domestic product at market prices (1) (3)	21,231 -2,326	22,001 -2,413	21,963 -2,373	22,979 -2,469	23,849 -2,593	24,685 -2,696	25,092 -2,682	25,592 -2,743	25,662 -2,869	26,684 -3,109	27,979 -3,272
Gross domestic product at factor cost (1)	18,906	19,590	19,593	20,513	21,258	21,991	22,415	22,854	22,793	23,575	24,707
Net property income from abroad (4)	483	317	239	240	262	177	231	245	304	272	238
Gross national product at factor cost (1)	19,410	19,912	19,830	20,750	21,519	22,159	22,640	23,094	23,097	23,847	24,945
less Capital consumption	-1,475	-1,543	-1,596	-1,668	-1,750	-1,829	-1,890	-1,986	-2,044	-2,124	-2,208
Net national product at factor cost (1)	17,949	18,382	18,243	19,092	19,778	20,338	20,757	21,130	21,053	21,723	22,737
Index numbers (1963 = 100):	FET I					1973.C		- Harris	13 14 4	terous ter	
Gross domestic product at factor cost (6)	70.3	72.9	72.9	76.3	79.1	81.8	83.4	85.0	84.8	87.7	91.9
Gross national product at factor cost	71.2	73.0	72.7	76.1	78.9	81.2	83.0	84.7	84.7	87.4	91.4
Net national product at factor cost	72.4	74.1	73.6	77.0	79.8	82.0	83.7	85.2	84.9	87.6	91.7

⁽¹⁾ For the years 1950 to 1957 the aggregates differ from the sum of the components; see notes on page 97. The adjustments between the sum of the main components and the following aggregates are (£ million):

		The state of the s	A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR		0 00	During mr	(
Adjustment on organ d	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957
Adjustment on gross domestic product at factor cost	-82	+11	-92	-80	-70	-15	+4	+23
product at factor cost	-61	+16	-94	-83	-71	-24	-2	+18

Expenditure and output at 1963 prices

TABLE 14 (continued)

ABLE 14 (continued)							T		1	T	
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
t 1963 market prices Consumers' expenditure	18,876	19,280	20,130	20,830	21,197	21,628	22,118	22,687	22,800	23,413	24,032
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services: Military defence National health service Education Other	1,777	1,857 946 840 1,446	1,849 968 882 1,471	1,829 1,000 919 1,501	1,846 1,045 958 1,547	1,805 1,091 1,009 1,646	1,895 1,136 1,052 1,777	1,799 1,171 1,106 1,806	1,619 1,159 1,136 1,892	1,526 1,211 1,189 1,952	1,560 1,217 1,263 2,042
Total	4,933	5,089	5,170	5,249	5,396	5,551	5,860	5,882	5,806	5,878	6,082
Gross domestic fixed capital for- mation Value of physical increase in stocks	4,915	4,892	4,994	5,814	6,036	6,186	6,609	6,945	6,906	7,080	7,038
and work in progress	327	66	191	633	379	250	186		and the late	8,621	9,046
Exports of goods and services	5,487	5,578	5,809	6,044	6,343	6,631	6,655	7,469	8,170	0,021	2,040
Total final expenditure at market prices	34,338	34,905 -5,736	36,294 -5,946	38,570 -6,520	39,351 -6,577	40,246 -6,753	41,428 -7,182	43,144 -7,706	44,024 -7,935	45,257 -8,358	46,222 -8,744
Gross domestic product at market prices(3)	28,910	29,169	30,348	32,050	32,774	33,493	34,246	35,438	36,089	36,899	37,478
Net property income from abroad(4)	259	342	398	381	417	366	353	281	408	301	540
Gross national product at market prices(3)		29,511	30,746	32,431	33,191	33,859	34,599	35,719	36,497	37,280	37,826
Index numbers (1963 = 100):											
Gross domestic product at marke prices(3) Gross national product at marke	t 95.3	96.1	100.0	105·6 105·5	108·0 108·0	110·4 110·1	112.8	116·8 116·2	118.9	121·6 121·3	123·5 123·0
prices(3)	. 94.9	96.0	100.0	103.3	100-0	110 1	112 5	110 2			la constitution of the con
At 1963 factor cost											
Gross domestic product at market prices(3) Adjustment to factor cost(5)	28,910	29,169 -3,329	30,348 -3,467	32,050 -3,712	32,774 -3,713	33,493 -3,817	34,246 -3,956	35,438 -4,155	36,089 -4,199	36,899 -4,406	37,478 -4,582
Gross domestic product at facto	25 504	25,840	26,881	28,338	29,061	29,676	30,290	31,283	31,890	32,493	32,896
Net property income from abroad(259	342	398	381	417	366	353	281	408	381	348
Gross national product at factor cost	25,843	26,182 -2,367	27,279 -2,479	28,719 -2,614	29,478 -2,716	30,042 -2,833	30,643 -2,978	31,564 -3,124	32,298 -3,254	32,874 -3,396	33,244 -3,536
Net national product at factor cost.	23,546	23,815	24,800	26,105	26,762	27,209	27,665	28,440	29,044	29,478	29,708
Index numbers (1963 = 100):											
Gross domestic product at factor cost(6)		96.1	100.0	105 · 4	108 · 1	110 · 4	112.7	116.4	118.6	120.9	122.4
Gross national product at facts		96.0	100.0	105 · 3	108 · 1	110 · 1	112.3	115.7	118-4	120.5	121.9
Net national product at factor co	st 94.9	96.0	100.0	105 · 3	107.9	109.7	111.6	114.7	117.1	118.9	119.8

⁽²⁾ Excluding taxes on expenditure levied on imports.

⁽³⁾ Including taxes on expenditure levied on imports. See notes on page 97.

⁽⁴⁾ This item is revalued here by the price index for total imports of goods and services shown in Table 16.

⁽⁵⁾ This represents taxes on expenditure less subsidies valued at constant rates.

⁽⁶⁾ Alternative estimates of the gross domestic product are given in Table 8.

Index numbers of output at constant factor cost

1963 = 100

TABLE 15									Qu.		
	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	73	75	77	79	81	80	84	86	84	87	93
Industrial production:											
Mining and quarrying	105 · 2	108.9	110.1	110.1	111.5	109 · 7	110.3	109 · 5	105.0	102.2	98.5
Manufacturing:											
Food, drink and tobacco	73.9	72.7	74.6	78.6	79 · 2	81 · 3	83 · 3	84 · 4	86.8	89.9	92.5
Coal and petroleum products	42.3	49.8	58.0	63 · 7	68 · 1	71 - 4	76.1	75 · 1	80.8	86.4	94.7
Chemicals and allied industries	49.0	51.6	47.5	53 · 8	59-1	62.0	66.0	69.8	71.9	79.9	88-4
Metal manufacture	76.8	79.8	82 · 1	81 · 3	87.7	95 · 1	96.4	97.7	88.6	92.5	107-3
Mechanical engineering	70.2	75.0	75.0	74 · 4	81 · 4	86.1	86.8	89.9	83 - 5	85.5	92.5
Instrument engineering	51.9	54.0	51.3	52.2	58.4	61.8	61.8	64.0	68 - 4	74.1	82.7
Electrical engineering	52.2	52.6	55 · 8	58 · 4	60.0	66.3	65.9	70.3	74 - 1	82.4	86.5
Shipbuilding and marine engineer- ing	106.4	111.5	115.8	122 · 7	119.3	129.5	140 · 1	128 · 7	129 · 2	120.8	109.6
Vehicles	55.0	56.3	56.3	64.0	72.6	83.3	77.9	83 · 7	87.2	94.1	101 - 4
Metal goods not elsewhere specified	80.4	88 · 4	88 · 1	82.2	87.2	97.1	95.0	95.3	92.9	92.7	105.1
Textiles	104.6	104.8	85.0	100 - 7	105-0	102 · 3	101 · 1	101 · 2	91.4	96.2	100.6
Tanthan lanthan anada and fun	122 0	115.0	102 (110.0						The state of the s	
Leather, leather goods and fur	122.8	115.8	102.6	113.2	114.8	114.4	107.3	107.0	100.9	104-2	102.5
Clothing and footwear	95.8	92.3	88.0	95.0	97.8	99.2	99.4	97.1	91.0	99.7	105 · 2
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	74.9	79.2	76.9	78 · 1	79-2	82.2	81 - 1	78.6	77.3	82.2	91.5
Timber, furniture, etc.	66.4	69.7	62.8	67.9	77.5	79.7	77.2	81.0	79.7	91.0	94.6
Paper, printing and publishing	69.0	71.6	60.7	67.0	77.6	83 · 8	82.7	84.5	86.8	90.8	99.5
Other manufacturing industries	54.1	56.9	51.5	56-1	64.5	70.8	67.0	70.3	68.8	76.6	87.4
Total	69 · 2	71.9	68.6	73 · 2	78 · 7	83.6	83.4	85.2	84.4	89-1	96.3
Construction	70.9	68 · 2	70.3	75 - 2	78 - 7	78.9	83.3	83.0	82.7	87.4	91.9
Gas, electricity and water	51.2	54.6	56.1	59.0	64.0	67.3	70.4	73.0	76.3	78-4	84.4
Total industrial production	70.2	72.5	70.3	74.5	79.6	83.6	84.1	85.6	84.9	89.0	95.1
Transport and communication (2)	76	79	80	82	83	85	86	86	86	89	94
Distributive trades	73	71	69	73	78	81	82	84	85	90	94
Insurance, banking, finance and business services	63	63	63	65	69	72	72	75	78	86	91
Ownership of dwellings	81	81	81	82	84	86	88	89	91	93	95
Professional and scientific services	68	69	71	73	76	78	81	83	86	89	91
Miscellaneous services	79	79	78	80	81	83	82	83	85	88	92
Public administration and defence	103	109	112	113	110	107	106	104	101	99	97
Gross domestic product (3)	73.0	74.6	74 · 1	77 · 1	80.3	83.0	83.8	85.3	85.2	89.0	93.8
(1) The weights are proportional to the							000	35 3	00 2		

The weights are proportional to the distribution of net output in 1963 and are used to combine the indices from that year onward. For the method of calculation in earlier years see notes on page 98.
 Covers all road goods vehicles including those owned by other industries.
 Alternative estimates of the gross domestic product are given in Table 8.

Index numbers of output at constant factor cost 1963=100

TABLE 15 (continued)				ALC: NO								
	Weight per 1,000(1)	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	34	93	96	100	104	107	107	111	110	111	116	121
Industrial production:										00.0	70.2	70.7
Mining and quarrying	24	97.2	99.8	100.0	99.8	95.8	90.1	89 · 1	84 · 8	80.3	78 · 3	79.7
Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco	37	95.5	97.3	100.0	102.5	105 · 2	108 · 7	110.8	115.5	118.9	121 · 5	123.0
Coal and petroleum products	3	98.7	96.8	100.0	108 · 8	115.1	121 · 8	116.3	126.4	139.3	151 - 1	157.8
Chemicals and allied industries	28	89.5	93.2	100.0	109 · 8	117.1	123 · 4	130 · 4	140.0	148 · 7	157.5	160.8
Metal manufacture	26	101.0	95.4	100.0	113.3	118.2	111.3	104 · 7	111.1	114.5	114.8	103 · 8
Mechanical engineering	40	101 · 1	100.8	100.0	109 · 1	114.9	122.6	123 · 1	125.5	131 · 3	134.9	132.7
Instrument engineering		87.6	93.6	100.0	108 · 4	119.6	121.9	123 · 1	134.7	146.6	152.2	156.3
Electrical engineering		90.2	94.5	100.0	108 · 8	109 · 3	120.6	129 · 1	137-4	144.0	148 · 5	155 · 1
Shipbuilding and marine engineering		110.7	111.9	100.0	96.6	95.5	93.2	90.0	86.8	85.4	86.1	83 · 7
Vehicles	35	94 · 1	95.7	100.0	108 · 1	113 · 8	111.7	106.3	117.2	119.7	116.8	115.4
Metal goods not else- where specified	21	100.4	96.9	100.0	114.1	117.5	110.3	105.0	113 · 4	119.4	115.4	107 - 6
Textiles	25	97.1	95.2	100.0	105 · 7	108 - 3	107.6	105.0	119.2	123 - 5	124-9	125 - 1
Leather, leather goods												
and fur	2	103 · 2	97.7	100.0	102 · 8	104 · 2	101 · 5	90.2	93.3	93.9	92.9	90.5
Clothing and footwear	12	105.6	100 · 7	100.0	104 · 3	106.9	105 · 8	101 · 5	103 · 7	102.7	103 · 1	108 · 4
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	12	95.3	97.0	100.0	115.4	116.8	115.8	120 · 1	127-3	127 - 8	125 · 2	131.9
Timber, furniture, etc.	9	98.2	96.2	100.0	113.9	113 · 4	109.6	111.5	118.5	110.8	113.6	117-2
Paper, printing and publishing	. 26	97.8	97.6	100.0	109.4	111 · 4	114.6	114.2	118.3	123 · 4	120.5	117.4
Other manufacturing industries	11	86.9	91.2	100.0	112.4	117.1	119.8	122 · 7	135.2	141.6	145.6	147.5
Total	329	96.5	96.7	100.0	108 · 7	112.4	114 · 2	114.2	121 · 4	125.6	127 · 2	126.9
Construction	. 56	99.0	99.9	100.0	111.3	114.3	115.3	119.4	121 · 8	119.0	115.7	117-6
Gas, electricity and water	r 30	88.2	95.1	100.0	105 · 1	112.3	116.9	121 · 2	128 · 2	136.2	143 · 8	155.6
Total industrial pro- duction	120	96.4	97.2	100.0	108 · 3	111.7	113 · 2	113.9	119.8	122.9	124 · 1	125.0
Transport and communica- tion (2)	- 01	96	97	100	106	109	112	113	118	123	128	133
Distributive trades	100	96	97	100	104	107	108	109	112	113	114	115
Insurance, banking, finance and business services	e 71	94	95	100	106	108	112	118	127	134	139	146
Ownership of dwellings		100	98		100	104	107	110	114	117	119	122
Professional and scientific	C 81	94	98	100	102	107	111	115	118	121	124	127
Miscellaneous services	78	95	96	100	105	106	107	107	108	109	110	112
Public administration and				100	103	100	10,		200			
defence	56	97	98	100	100	101	104	107	106	105	105	106
Gross domestic product (3	1,000	95.5	96.8	100.0	105.9	108 · 8	110.7	112.5	117-0	119.5	121 · 8	123.9

See footnotes on page 18.

Index numbers of costs and prices(1) 1963=100

TABLE 16

	1950	1951	1952	1953	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	1959	1960
	17 17 1	TW	MIT	BOL	101-4						2,571.07
Home costs per unit of output(1)											a in the late
Total home costs (gross domestic	F-18 1	1:00	Market 1	8-00-	A. A. S.	2 11 1		100 0	10.200	in the	nieth.
product at factor cost)	60.0	64.5	70.3	72.5	73.9	76.7	81 · 4	84.7	88.6	90.0	91.6
Income from employment	59 · 3	64.0	68 • 6	70.3	71 · 9	75 - 5	81 · 6	85.2	88 - 7	89-4	90.0
Gross profits and other trading income	61 · 7	65.5	74.0	77.0	78 · 2	79 · 1	81 · 1	83 · 8	88 · 2	91.4	95.0
- THOUGH THE STREET WE SEE TO DEEL	Define L	A-1274	1-171	9-991 V	'o me	DATE !				Total Line	77
Price indices(1)	7/100	8.712	3-271	SORE		Beer T	14.151			A common l	
Consumer goods and services	65.0	71 · 1	75.3	76.8	78 · 3	81 · 0	84 · 7	87 - 5	89.9	90.8	91.8
Public authorities' current goods and services	52	56	61	62	64	68	74	78	82	86	89
Fixed assets	64	71	79	80	80	84	88	91	93	92	93
All final goods and services sold on the home market	62.5	68.9	73 · 0	74.5	75.9	79 · 1	83 · 3	86.4	89.0	90.2	91.6
Exports of goods and services	73	89	94	89	87	90	94	97	96	96	97
Total final output	64 · 1	72 · 1	76.3	76.8	77 - 7	80.8	85 · 1	88 · 1	90.1	91 · 1	92.4
Imports of goods and services	82	108	106	96	95	98	99	102	96	97	98

TENTE BULL BUILT LA PRESENT	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
The state of the s		givery	Sept.	A.Ong	Deg T		81.79	14		Marine To	
Iome costs per unit of output(1)		R BATE	ARTH.			244	6.08			(Sister)	
Total home costs (gross domestic product at factor cost)	94.7	97.9	100.0	102.6	106.8	110-4	114.4	117.7	121 · 8	131 · 1	145.1
Income from employment	95.0	99.1	100.0	102 · 7	107-4	113 · 1	115.7	119.5	125 · 1	137-2	151 - 7
Gross profits and other trading income	93.9	95.4	100.0	102 · 4	105.5	104.8	111.7	113.8	114.8	118.3	131 · 4
Price indices(1)		-50					- 10				
Consumer goods and services	94.5	98 · 1	100.0	103 · 3	108.0	112.1	114.9	120 · 1	126.5	133 - 3	143 · 6
Public authorities' current goods and services	93	96	100	105	112	118	124	131	140	153	169
Fixed assets	95	98	100	102	106	110	112	115	121	130	141
All final goods and services sold on the home market	94.3	97.8	100.0	103 · 3	108 · 2	112.7	115.8	121 · 1	127.3	135.9	147.2
Exports of goods and services	98	99	100	101	103	106	109	118	121	130	139
Total final output	94-9	97.9	100.0	103.0	107.5	111.6	114.7	120.5	126.0	134-8	145.7
Imports of goods and services	98	98	100	103	104	106	107	119	122	130	135

⁽¹⁾ For explanatory notes on these index numbers see National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, pages 68-9.

III. INDUSTRIAL INPUT AND OUTPUT

Gross domestic product by industry and type of income(1)

TABLE 17											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Agriculture, forestry and fishing: Wages and salaries Employers' contributions	322 17	325 17	334 18	335 19	338 21	342 24	345 24	350 26	360 26	382 30	416
Income from employment	339	342	352	354	359	366	369	376	386	412	447
Income from self-employment and other trading income	643	677	662	692	727	753	800	814	872	953	1,026
Total	982	1,019	1,014	1,046	1,086	1,119	1,169	1,190	1,258	1,365	1,473
Mining and quarrying: Wages and salaries Employers' contributions	550 41	553 44	553 44	557 44	550 49	539 53	538 61	505 73	491 66	518 67	556 68
Income from employment	591	597	597	601	599	592	599	578	557	585	624
Gross profits and other trading income	113	145	149	148	115	115	114	126	98	126	154
Total	704	742	746	749	714	707	713	704	655	711	778
Manufacturing: Wages and salaries(2) Employers' contributions	5,537 347	5,678 380	5,817 411	6,349 451	6,914 516	7,346 569	7,392 605	7,919 665	8,692 710	9,782 821	10,518
Income from employment	5,884	6,058	6,228	6,800	7,430	7,915	7,997	8,584	9,402	10,603	11,403
Gross profits of companies and trad- ing surplus of public corporations	2,492	2,427	2,728	3,080	3,233	2,984	3,178	3,519	3,629	3,840	4,219
Income from self-employment and other trading income	122	120	128	141	157	175	175	204	219	221	241
Total	8,498	8,605	9,084	10,021	10,820	11,074	11,350	12,307	13,250	14,664	15,863
Construction: Wages and salaries Employers' contributions	1,124 60	1,231 69	1,280 74	1,453 79	1,555	1,604 103	1,629 110	1,673 122	1,716 126	1,743 145	1,843 150
Income from employment	1,184	1,300	1,354	1,532	1,647	1,707	1,739	1,795	1,842	1,888	1,993
Gross profits of companies and income from self-employment	339	358	417	506	548	588	662	742	766	822	930
Total	1,523	1,658	1,771	2,038	2,195	2,295	2,401	2,537	2,608	2,710	2,923
Gas, electricity and water: Wages and salaries Employers' contributions	289 29	313 31	337 36	364 38	394 45	439 48	448 51	461 53	477 56	518 63	590 68
Gross profits of companies	318 27	344 18	373 19	402 22	439 15	487 19	499 18	514 17	533 18	581 20	658 19
Gross trading surplus of public enterprises	329	377	443	490	552	564	620	759	818	739	821
Total	674	739	835	914	1,006	1,070	1,137	1,290	1,369	1,340	1,498
Transport: Wages and salaries Employers' contributions	1,036 64	1,076 72	1,131 82	1,185 91	1,288 98	1,345 107	1,367 116	1,449 133	1,514 140	1,706 157	1,955 170
Gross profits of companies and	1,100	1,148	1,213	1,276	1,386	1,452	1,483	1,582	1,654	1,863	2,125
income from self-employment	295	310	338	351	363	375	363	398	375	376	372
Gross trading surplus of public enterprises	180	178	215	236	234	251	242	277	241	187	188
Total	1,575	1,636	1,766	1,863	1,983	2,078	2,088	2,257	2,270	2,426	2,685

⁽¹⁾ The contribution of each industry to the gross domestic product before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
(2) Figures for separate industries are given in Table 18.

Gross domestic product by industry and type of income(1)

THE PERSON IN LAURISTEEL AND THE

TABLE 17 (continued)	TABLE 17	(continued)	
----------------------	----------	-------------	--

£ million 1968 1967 1963 1964 1965 1966 1962 1969 1961 1970 1971 Communication: 387 501 534 579 337 359 432 470 619 705 Income from employment 782 Gross profits and other trading 202 219 227 120 135 148 307 111 176 335 income 376 703 753 806 522 580 926 448 479 646 1,040 1,158 Total Distributive trades: 1,904 2,007 2,125 2,294 2,378 2,518 1,697 1,816 2,624 Income from employment 2,901 3,218 Gross profits and other trading 1,270 1,538 1,649 1,175 1,196 1,396 1,536 1,583 1,630 1,671 1,863 income 3,174 3,832 4,167 2,872 3,012 3,403 3,661 3,961 4,254 4,572 Total 5,081 Insurance, banking, and finance (including real estate): Income from employment 933 570 686 756 814 856 1,047 623 1,155 1,310 1,509 991 Gross profits and other income 705 734 763 805 946 1,121 1,308 1,727 1,456 1,964 343 383 Rent 369 402 434 473 516 576 672 775 862 Adjustment for net interest -844-915-1,047-1,337-1,655-871-1,233-1,441-1,864-2,124-2,387917 855 983 1,276 774 916 961 1,129 1,419 1,688 Total 1,948 Ownership of dwellings: 1,808 Rent 964 1,052 1,149 1,396 1,524 2,001 2,216 1,262 1,660 2,425 Public administration and defence: Wages and salaries 813 929 1,187 871 1,007 1,104 1,304 1,401 1,510 1,730 1,968 Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces 385 401 419 467 523 541 653 450 524 543 737 Employers' contributions: H.M. Forces 80 87 96 123 139 78 79 130 153 83 104 Civilians 159 200 217 244 105 124 186 108 132 173 144 Income from employment 2,739 1,383 1,965 2,251 2,383 3,102 1,458 1,551 1,672 1,802 2,105 Public health services: Wages and salaries 900 756 1,046 600 698 387 417 450 487 546 644 Employers' contributions 88 78 71 99 40 43 48 52 61 66 64 Income from employment 769 834 988 1,145 427 498 607 666 708 460 539 Local authority educational services: Teachers' salaries 865 991 617 723 773 383 507 664 441 485 570 Other salaries and wages 313 395 271 238 196 124 178 218 148 166 134 ************* Employers' contributions 129 148 112 101 80 42 53 59 65 94 47 Income from employment 1,307 1,534 1,156 893 976 1,062 549 732 686 813 622 Other services: Income from employment 4,353 4,951 3,685 3,892 3,092 3,386 2,800 2,028 2,179 2,366 2,614 Gross profits and other trading 1,627 1,462 income 1,359 1,311 1,108 1,201 838 948 991 1,052 864 6,578 Total 5,815 4,200 4,996 5,251 4,587 3,852 2,892 3,605 3,017 3,314 All industries: Income from employment 33,491 25,340 27,037 30,235 21,291 22,786 23,706 17,306 18,195 19,717 16,407 Gross profits and other trading 14,700 13,346 12,597 income 12,080 10,323 10,251 11,031 7,858 8,832 8,048 9,623 less Stock appreciation..... -935-975-829-639-313-180-298-330-202-174-147Residual error 490 38 29 -30-18696 39 127 56 90 Gross domestic product at factor cost 47,746 42,606 38,843 36,810 34,653 29,081 31,026 32,766 24,218 25,297 26,881

See footnote on page 21.

Wages and salaries in manufacturing industries

Wages and salaries in manufacturing muustries													
TABLE 18	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971		
	1501	1702					12011						
	1000								706	000	1.020		
Food, drink and tobacco	479	506	525	557	606	659	690	728	796	906	1,020		
Coal and petroleum products	} 376	384{	43 355	43 378	45 419	49 453	48 458	51 486	57 526	68 585	73 660		
Metal manufacture	477	465	477	542	589	599	579	606	676	775	789		
Mechanical engineering Instrument engineering Electrical engineering	} 1,315	1,370 {	731 104 552	795 119 613	909 130 655	983 150 694	1,020 155 687	1,077 170 730	1,213 185 789	1,396 215 880	1,452 246 965		
Shipbuilding and marine engineering	174	171	159	169	187	197	200	205	219	248	281		
Vehicles	685	691	720	788	843	872	867	950	1,063	1,203	1,316		
Metal goods not elsewhere specified	359	365	372	415	458	487	478	508	561	632	660		
Textiles	423	417	429	459	489	519	506	547	604	642	664		
Leather, leather goods and fur	31	32	32	34	36	37	36	39	42	45	51		
Clothing and footwear	238	243	244	259	273	289	285	301	317	340	362		
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc	211	224	229	253	272	279	285	303	324	357	390		
Timber, furniture, etc.	173	179	182	201	216	222	225	251	261	286	315		
Paper, printing and publishing	422	448	465	503	542	592	603	653	715	811	849		
Other manufacturing industries	174	183	198	221	245	265	270	314	344	393	425		
Total	5,537	5,678	5,817	6,349	6,914	7,346	7,392	7,919	8,692	9,782	10,518		
Estimated number of employees(1) in manufacturing industries (thousands)	8,115	8,020	7,890	7,975	8,070	8,060	7,825	7,750	7,840	7,810	7,520		

⁽¹⁾ Excluding directors paid by fee only. If directors' fees are excluded from wages and salaries, the average annual wage and salary in manufacturing industries in 1971 was about £1.370.

Income and expenditure account

£ million TABLE 19 1968 1969 1967 1970 1966 1971 1965 1964 1963 1962 1961 Income before tax 24,080 22,515 26,840 29,775 21,140 20,370 19,115 17,765 16,395 15,640 14,855 Wages and salaries 543 541 524 653 523 737 467 450 419 385 401 Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces Employers' contributions: 1,099 1,141 1,356 906 966 1,454 831 682 557 611 503 National insurance, etc. 1,076 1,185 1,273 987 1,386 820 878 1,525 770 708 664 Other 27,037 25,340 22,786 23,706 30,235 33,491 21,291 19,717 18,195 17,306 16,407 Total income from employment 589 556 476 514 633 693 412 455 387 371 363 Professional persons(1) 714 620 663 569 669 784 600 846 545 536 564 Farmers(1)
Other sole traders and partnerships(1) 1,996 1,857 1,584 1,663 2,159 1,356 1,475 2,402 1,288 1,223 1,226 2,530 2,840 3,082 3,299 2,680 3,576 2,220 2,337 3,941 2,161 2,122 Totalincomefromself-employment(1) Rent, dividends and net interest: Receipts by life assurance and 974 1,090 729 898 1,187 814 1,343 648 1,462 515 573 superannuation funds 3,036 3,108 2,624 2,853 2,926 3,306 2,407 3,259 2,192 3,375 2,118 Other receipts 4,010 3,353 3,667 3,824 4,198 4,493 4,837 2,765 3,055 4,602 2,633 Total Current transfers to charities from 30 19 24 26 32 35 38 36 companies National insurance benefits and other current grants from public autho-2,596 1,881 2,128 2,250 2,825 3,189 3,679 1,708 3,935 4,331 4,781 rities 22,889 24,134 25,622 27,683 30,112 32,145 33,777 36,333 38,799 47,088 Total personal income(1)(2) 42,780 Expenditure Consumers' expenditure 17,835 18,923 20,130 21,516 22,891 24,247 25,422 27,245 28,849 31,216 34,504 Transfers abroad (net) -17-1010 44 14 49 34 Taxes paid abroad 14 14 19 20 24 20 22 24 United Kingdom taxes on income: Payments 2,249 2,458 2,510 2,801 3,344 3,733 4,115 4,580 6,509 5,203 5,935 Additions to tax reserves -30107 38 76 145 136 139 National insurance, etc. contributions 1,072 1,197 1,303 1,444 1,685 1,804 1,909 2,165 2,828 2,244 2,654 Total current expenditure 21,173 22,552 23,983 25,885 28,054 29,864 31,586 43,942 34,212 36,503 40,002 Balance: saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation but after providing for additions to tax reserves(2) 1,716 1,582 1,639 1,798 2,058 2,281 2,191 2,121 2,296 2,778 3,146 Total 22,889 24,134 25,622 27,683 30,112 32,145 33,777 47,088 36,333 38,799 42,780

(¹) Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 (²) Total personal income less United Kingdom taxes on income, national insurance, etc. contributions, transfers abroad (net) and taxes paid abroad equals personal disposable income. Estimates of personal disposable income and saving before providing for additions to tax reserves are as follows (£ million):

Personal disposable income	1.736	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Saving		20,475	21,786	23,409	25,056	26,566	27,689	29,511	31,281	34,133	37,713
Saving as a percentage of		1,552	1,656	1,893	2,165	2,319	2,267	2,266	2,432	2,917	3,209
personal disposable income	8.9	7.6	7.6	8.1	8.6	8.7	8.2	7.7	7.0	0.5	8.5

Capital account

TABLE 20											£ million
THERE I STORY I WORL I BENT !	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts Saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	1,716	1,582	1,639	1,798	2,058	2,281	2,191	2,121	2,296	2,778	3,146
Additions to tax reserves	20	-30	17	95	107	38	76	145	136	139	63
Capital transfers: Investment grants Other	77	97	107	131	160	161	164	189	8 178	202	236
Total	1,813	1,649	1,763	2,024	2,325	2,480	2,435	2,460	2,618	3,124	3,451
Expenditure Gross domestic fixed capital formation:			8,05	184.4	100.4						
Dwellings (1) Purchases less sales of land and existing buildings	482 -17	4º7 -58	510 -72	628 -179	649 -163	621 -128	659 -67	713 -47	644 -83	655 -64	812 58
Other Increase in value of stocks and work	390	387	435	491	515	524	532	598	624	677	730
in progress	68	43	56	102	83	69	62	118	130	179	199
Taxes on capital	259	266	308	308	289	313	332	421	577	564	571
Capital transfers to public corpora- tions Net acquisition of financial assets	3	3	3	5	5	4	6	6	6	3	7
including net investment abroad	628	521	523	669	947	1,077	911	651	720	1,110	1,074
	The second secon										

⁽¹⁾ Excluding existing dwellings and land.

1,813

1,649

1,763

Total

Revenue account of life assurance and superannuation funds

2,024

2,325

2,480

2,435

2,460

3,124

2,618

3,451

TABLE 21 £ million 1961 1962 1964 1965 1966 1967 1968 1969 1971 1963 1970 Contributions of employers 878 987 708 820 1,076 1,185 664 770 1,273 1,525 1,386 Contributions of employees, individual premiums, etc. 1,147 1,300 775 946 1,037 1,048 1,439 1,464 1,662 1,856 849 Rent, dividends and interest receipts 974 814 898 1,090 1,187 515 573 648 729 1,343 1,462 less Pensions and other benefits paid -1,135-1,602-872-1,024-1,253-1,437-1,961-2,313-950less Administrative costs, etc. (1) -376-424-324-354-458-512-213-246-266-294-564Net increase in funds 1,163 1,505 1,074 1,241 1,372 1,508 1,758 1,966 869 934 1,157

⁽¹⁾ Including tax on the investment income of life funds.

Consumers' expenditure at current prices

£ million

TA	DI		22
	к	S. 17.	Lile

TABLE 22											2 million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Food (household expenditure) (¹): Bread and cereals Meat and bacon Fish Oils and fats Sugar, preserves and confectionery	576 1,176 151 208 410	610 1,221 157 227 444	630 1,247 159 238 461	653 1,334 180 247 469	674 1,387 189 250 485	695 1,476 192 249 492	719 1,515 195 243 510	749 1,586 196 237 529	771 1,682 199 246 558	830 1,799 213 267 600	889 1,968 243 327 656
Dairy products Fruit Potatoes and vegetables Beverages Other manufactured food	660 282 482 277 142	661 291 528 281 139	702 280 533 292 147	712 299 533 308 153	748 306 551 309 158	763 331 625 323 166	781 339 661 338 171	824 355 659 346 182	860 370 731 366 195	914 366 769 405 217	1,049 415 785 413 223
Total	4,364	4,559	4,689	4,888	5,057	5,312	5,472	5,663	5,978	6,380	6,968
Alcoholic drink: Beer	624 451	671 475	704 515	772 598	854 612	909 666	969 697	1,006 777	1,122 805	1,258 921	1,416 1,054
Total	1,075	1,146	1,219	1,370	1,466	1,575	1,666	1,783	1,927	2,179	2,470
Tobacco: Cigarettes Other	1,074 143	1,086 156	1,129 157	1,171 172	1,242 186	1,316 188	1,319	1,379 199	1,479 215	1,504 216	1,458 234
Total	1,217	1,242	1,286	1,343	1,428	1,504	1,512	1,578	1,694	1,720	1,692
Housing: Rent, rates and water charges Maintenance, repairs and improvements by occupiers	1,455	1,602	1,770 391	1,931 412	2,129 457	2,338	2,502	2,682	2,902	3,172 728	3,529
Total	1,775	1,955	2,161	2,343	2,586	2,835	3,056	3,291	3,580	3,900	4,329
Fuel and light: Coal and coke Electricity Gas Other	325 269 145 57	359 328 159 65	379 384 173 74	348 402 183 67	357 456 206 68	370 490 233 68	361 521 258 68	355 607 301 77	356 636 353 81	364 660 385 87	340 747 434 86
Total	796	911	1,010	1,000	1,087	1,161	1,208	1,340	1,426	1,496	1,607
Clothing: Footwear Other clothing: Men's and boys' wear	304 470	310 486	327 517	341 548	359 585	368 604	378 611	397 649	417 675	459 736	496 794
Women's, girls' and infants' wear	955	975	1,029	1,082	1,155	1,182	1,219	1,304	1,376	1,501	1,623
Total	1,729	1,771	1,873	1,971	2,099	2,154	2,208	2,350	2,468	2,696	2,913
Durable goods: Motor cars and motor cycles, new and secondhand Furniture and floor coverings Radio, electrical and other durable goods	500 430 421	538 447 434	633 473 475	723 530 492	697 574 504	693 578 494	784 580 537	867 632 597	786 623 600	952 658 680	1,326 734 805
Total	1,351	1,419	1,581	1,745	1,775	1,765	1,901	2,096		2,290	
Other household goods: Household textiles and soft furnishings Hardware Matches, soap and other cleaning	170 207	175 212	180 229	193	200 276	206		249 336	263	277 385	303 439
materials	194	205	207	211	225	230	230	237	246	261	276
Pooks newspapers and and it	571	592	616	659	701	733	757	822	854	923	1,018
Books, newspapers and magazines: Books Newspapers Magazines	54 150 58	53 157 61	57 161 61	61 173 63	64 196 67	74 204 72	79 209 74	84 242 82	81 244 92	96 268 102	114 310 104
Total	262	271	A	4	-		A		417	466	528

See footnote on page 27.

Consumers' expenditure at current prices

TABLE 22 (continued)

£ million

				,								
THE LOSS OF THE PARTY.	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	
Chemists' goods	266	279	294	320	339	359	370	403	423	456	511	
Miscellaneous recreational goods	364	382	404	446	476	511	538	600	647	721	794	
Other miscellaneous goods	249	249	256	281	297	309	319	354	361	384	411	
Running costs of motor vehicles	526	614	682	792	942	1,082	1,230	1,431	1,596	1,712	1,866	
Travel: Rail Bus, coach and tram Air Other	152 326 47 79	156 337 55 85	159 346 66 92	165 361 84 95	170 370 100 101	179 387 120 106	181 387 134 117	183 400 157 124	207 414 180 132	232 443 180 147	264 503 201 165	
Total	604	633	663	705	741	792	819	864	933	1,002	1,133	
Communication services: Postal Telephone and telegraph Total	74 73	73 84 157	78 91 169	81 102 183	94 114 208	102 119 221	108 136 244	108 154 262	106 181 287	109 210 319	119 283 402	
0 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1								202	201			
Entertainment and recreational services: Cinema Radio and TV: licences, rental and	63	61	61	63	65	63	60	60	59	61	63	
Other admissions and recreational	144	165	177	189	210	232	256	272	307	335	381	
services	96	98	104	113	122	132	138	145	153	162	181	
Total	303	324	342	365	397	427	454	477	519	558	625	
Domestic service	105	110	112	116	122	130	136	143	149	158	165	
Catering (meals and accommodation)	958	1,029	1,093	1,162	1,233	1,294	1,325	1,406	1,495	1,630	1,777	
Wages, salaries, etc. paid by private non-profit-making bodies(2)	148	170	195	216	238	268	300	330	382	430	477	
Insurance	179	206	222	242	263	286	311	351	380	405	432	
Other services: Laundry, launderettes, dry cleaning and dyeing Hairdressing, manicure and beauty	98	101	103	104	108	115	120	119	116	118	119	
Care Betting and gaming Other	118 142 399	128 159 416	138 164 449	147 179 481	157 182 471	171 204 506	177 246 565	185 273 647	196 285 694	207 310 749	216 360 833	
Total	757	804	854	911	918	996	1,108	1,224	1,291	1,384	1,528	
Income in kind not included elsewhere	44	44	46	47	50	52	51	49	49	35	36	
less Expenditure by foreign tourists, etc. in the United Kingdom	-231	-236	-242	-245	-249	-279	-303	-355	-437	-519	-587	
Consumers' expenditure in the United Kingdom	17,559	18,631	19,804	21,157	22,501	23,837	25,044	26,870	28,428	30,725	33,960	
Consumers' expenditure abroad	276	292	326	359	390	410	378	375	421	491	544	
Total	17,835	18,923	20,130	21,516	22,891	24,247	25,422	27,245	28,849	31,216	34,504	

⁽¹⁾ For estimates of household and total catering expenditure on food see page 100.
(2) Excluding catering.

Consumers' expenditure at 1963 prices

£ million

	Consumers									£ million		
TABLE 23	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	
Food (household expenditure) (¹): Bread and cereals Meat and bacon Fish Oils and fats	610 1,198 155 234 467	620 1,233 161 242 471	630 1,247 159 238 461	623 1,237 170 242 452	620 1,233 171 240 462	612 1,263 168 245 468	611 1,275 170 244 472	604 1,281 167 244 464	596 1,288 162 248 449	603 1,317 156 251 456	591 1,323 152 241 458	
Dairy products Fruit Potatoes and vegetables Beverages Other manufactured food	683 277 531 288 150	694 278 517 283 140	702 280 533 292 147	721 298 563 305 152	721 296 570 300 151	722 308 592 313 157	728 293 621 324 159	736 306 627 328 162	738 307 632 335 169	749 308 642 351 176	767 312 641 338 170	
Total	4,593	4,639	4,689	4,763	4,764	4,848	4,897	4,919	4,924	5,009	4,993	
Alcoholic drink: Beer	698 463	696 475	704 515	736 565	742 540	762 561	788 576	813 615	862 585	892 656	938 720	
Total	1,161	1,171	1,219	1,301	1,282	1,323	1,364	1,428	1,447	1,548	1,658	
Tobacco: Cigarettes Other	1,140 154	1,088 158	1,129 157	1,108 162	1,066 158	1,107 157	1,110 161	1,107 158	1,093 157	1,092 156	1,036 170	
Total	1,294	1,246	1,286	1,270	1,224	1,264	1,271	1,265	1,250	1,248	1,206	
Housing: Rent, rates and water charges Maintenance, repairs and improve-	1,685	1,733	1,770	1,798	1,846	1,895	1,948	2,015	2,065	2,114	2,159	
Total	2,018	2,089	2,161	2,196	2,273	2,341	2,439	2,531	2,616	2,654	2,698	
Fuel and light: Coal and coke Electricity Gas Other	366 281 146 63	379 336 158 67	379 384 173 74	341 384 182 66	337 420 211 67	321 438 242 67	297 464 271 65	281 487 314 69	269 527 358 73	240 560 400 79	203 588 439 77	
Total	856	940	1,010	973	1,035	1,068	1,097	1,151	1,227	1,279	1,307	
Clothing: Footwear Other clothing: Mens' and boys' wear Women's, girls' and infants' wear	325 495 986	317 494 987	327 517 1,029	339 538 1,066	350 560 1,116	345 561 1,120	347 556 1,142	357 578 1,209	366 578 1,224	381 596 1,269	388 594 1,287	
Total	1,806	1,798	1,873	1,943	2,026	2,026	2,045	2,144	2,168	2,246	2,269	
Durable goods: Motor cars and motor cycles, new and secondhand Furniture and floor coverings Radio, electrical and other durable goods	436 461 403	487 455 421	633 473 475	731 512 482	706 532 486	703 521 470	774 511 504	814 534 534	723 501 514	811 490 555	1,039 499 624	
Total	1,300	1,363	1,581	1,725	1,724	1,694	1,789	1,882	1,738	1,856	2,162	
Other household goods: Household textiles and soft furnishings Hardware Matches, soap and other cleaning	215	177 215	180 229	189 250	191 263	193 275	202 279	221 295	215 290	204 300	212 313	
materials	205	207	207	207	209	210	215	216	217	220	740	
Total	594	599	616	646	663	678	696	732	722	724	740	
Books, newspapers and magazines: Books Newspapers Magazines	56 162 67	51 164 64	57 161 61	58 161 59	58 161 58	64 161 62	65 161 62	63 156 58	58 151 62	64 143 61	68 139 56	
Total	285	279	279	278	277	287	288	227	271	268	263	

See footnote on page 29.

Concumers' expanditure at 1062 prices

Consumers' expenditure abroad

Total(2)

TABLE 23 (continued)						63 pric					£ millio
FREE OFFI A PACE BORE	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Chemists' goods	269	274	294	311	323	333	335	339	334	337	344
Miscellaneous recreational goods	381	388	404	431	454	466	483	515	512	541	548
Other miscellaneous goods	260	249	256	269	278	280	280	274	264	259	262
Running costs of motor vehicles	550	620	682	783	862	955	1,050	1,147	1,196	1,252	1,291
Travel: Rail Bus, coach and tram Other	170 356 127	162 348 143	159 346 158	162 337 178	156 326 194	154 317 221	153 307 232	150 299 235	158 294 260	165 277 284	160 267 295
Total	653	653	663	677	676	692	692	684	712	726	722
Communication services: Postal Telephone and telegraph	81 80	76 85	78 91	78 101	81 115	81 120	80 134	78 145	75 156	76 164	61 206
Total	161	161	169	179	196	201	214	223	231	240	267
Entertainment and recreational services Cinema Other	72 235	65 256	61 281	58 309	55 327	51 339	46 359	41 374	37 378	33 380	30 409
Total	307	321	342	367	382	390	405	415	415	413	439
Domestic service	114	113	112	110	110	108	105	105	105	104	98
Catering, insurance and other services	2,175	2,271	2,364	2,452	2,466	2,498	2,545	2,607	2,642	2,704	2,742
Income in kind not included elsewhere	46	44	46	46	47	47	45	42	40	27	26
less Expenditure by foreign tourists, etc. in the United Kingdom	-242	-241	-242	- 235	-225	-239	-248	-279	-324	-358	-359
Consumers' expenditure in the United Kingdom	18,581	18,977	19,804	20,485	20,837	21,260	21,792	22,401	22,490	23,077	23,676
Consumers' avnenditure abread	205	202	- 226	245	200	4.60		-	12/11/2	14 100	10000

295

18,876

303

19,280

345

20,830

360

21,197

368

21,628

326

22,118

286

22,687

310

22,800

336

23,413

356

24.032

326

20,130

 ⁽¹) For estimates of household and total expenditure on food see page 100.
 (²) The price index for consumer goods and services derived by dividing the estimates of total consumers' expenditure at current prices by the corresponding estimates at 1963 prices is shown in Table 16.

Categories of personal income

£ million

TABLE 24		1		1		1	1007	1000	1060	1070	1071
THE PART PART THE	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Households and private non-profit- making bodies					30C- 1	ME				Lill Lill Room segge	
Direct income in cash from work and property: Wages and salaries Pay in cash of H.M. Forces Income from self-employment (1)	14,664 356 2,122	15,436 372 2,161	16,182 387 2,220	17,543 417 2,337	18,879 432 2,530	20,121 485 2,680	20,885 487 2,840	22,252 506 3,082	23,801 507 3,299	26,547 632 3,576	29,465 717 3,941
Rent, dividends and interest: Gross receipts less Interest paid	2,041 -393	2,069 -412	2,211 -420	2,439 -494	2,742 -606	2,865 -675	2,920 -730	3,035 -856	3,234 -954	3,189 -1,077	3,300 -1,189
Total	18,790	19,626	20,580	22,242	23,977	25,476	26,402	28,019	29,887	32,867	36,234
Imputed income and income in kind: Employers' national insurance, etc. contributions Income in kind Rent of owner-occupied dwellings	503 220 454	557 233 512	611 245 575	682 255 643	831 271 705	906 287 778	966 292 857	1,099 298 933	1,141 315 1,036	1,356 314 1,154	1,454 330 1,278
Accrued interest on national savings certificates	16	23	41	36	12	-42	-11	-4	-10	-7	-14
Total	1,193	1,325	1,472	1,616	1,819	1,929	2,104	2,326	2,482	2,817	3,048
Current transfers to charities from companies Current grants from public authori-	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
Retirement pensions, widows' benefits, etc., and non-contributory pensions Grants to private non-profitmaking bodies	858	912	1,035 { 123 970	1,136 147 967	1,342 175 1,079	1,429 205 1,191	1,501 228 1,460	1,709 254 1,716	1,766 274 1,895	1,979 332 2,020	2,165 378 2,238
Other current grants	1,708	1,881	2,128	2,250	2,596	2,825	3,189	3,679	3,935	4,331	4,781
Pensions and other benefits from life assurance and superannuation schemes		950	1,024	1,135	1,253	1,437	1,602	1,782	1,961	2,121	2,313
Total income of households and private non-profit-making bodies, including pensions and other benefits from life assurance and superannuation schemes		23,803	25,228	27,269	29,673	31,697	33,329	35,840	38,300	42,172	46,414
Adjustment (2) for life assurance and superannuation funds	307	331	394	414	439	448	448	493	499	608	674
Total personal income (as defined in Table 2)	22,889	24,134	25,622	27,683	30,112	32,145	33,777	36,333	38,799	42,780	47,088

⁽¹⁾ Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
(2) Contributions of employers plus rent, dividends and interest receipts less pensions and other benefits paid (see Table 21).

Taxes on expenditure and subsidies allocated to consumers' expenditure(1)

£ million TABLE 25

Tree ores Carl Tree	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966(2)	1967(2)	1968(2)	1969(2)	1970(2)	1971(2)
Taxes on expenditure											
Food (household expenditure)	50	66	80	83	90	106	129	146	180	193	185
Alcoholic drink:	alt a	3400	FREE	DOT N	501,5	3,595	tract		0 0000		470
Wines, spirits, cider, etc.	237 181	253 192	252 206	286 244	326 262	355 294	385	390 359	444 382	455 432	472 479
Total	418	445	458	530	588	649	700	749	826	887	951
Tabacco	853	874	889	937	995	1,025	1,038	1,084	1,167	1,152	1,103
	055	0,4	005	337	775	1,025	1,050	1,001	1,107	2,202	2,200
Housing: Rent, rates and water charges	413	452	505	545	611	682	705	738	785	842	958
Maintenance, repairs and improve- ments by occupiers	3	2	2	3	2	5	10	10	14	16	16
Total	416	454	507	548	613	687	715	748	799	858	974
Fuel and light	2	4	5	4	5	6	6	6	7	7	7
THE THE LAND	60	TIL	114	124	141	011	111	178	214	239	231
Clothing	69	101	114	127	141	151	154	170	214	239	231
Durable goods: Motor cars and motor cycles, new			COX.	UC.		25	TE I	Islami	and the	retni lod	
Furniture and floor coverings	111 26	106 30	90 33	115 38	120 42	118 44	136 48	163 59	166	203	254 82
Radio, electrical and other durable	69	64	63	68	69	69	76	106	112	139	147
goods	3227	2000	2125	200 1	400 T	8021	1 0 m 1 1				
Total	206	200	186	221	231	231	260	328	346	419	483
Other household goods: Household textiles, soft furnishings and hardware	24	22	23	27	34	35	34	41	51	61	62
Matches, soap and other cleaning materials	14	15	14	14	15	14	15	16	17	17	18
Total	38	37	37	41	49	49	49	57	68	78	80
Books, newspapers and magazines	DOR_		Tob_	101	011	1	3	3	3	3	3
Chemists' goods	46	46	37	40	43	49	53	76	93	101	98
Miscellaneous recreational goods Other miscellaneous goods	31 42	32 41	31 42	36 47	43 53	45 58	46 62	64 85	78 94	93 103	98 95
Running costs of motor vehicles	195 35	233 38	259 40	300 42	384 48	444 50	515 52	634 54	739	796 63	874 64
Communication services	1	-	40	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	_
Entertainment and recreational services:								of the action	mi Gotori	and the same of	
Other	26	24	18	11	10	12	19	1 24	27	34	40
Total	26	24	18	11	10	12	20	25	29	36	42
Other services (including catering)			86	87	86	116	183			271	299
Not allocated to categories	99 488	95 549	587	617	722	866	825	230 956	1,057	1,125	1,142
Total taxes on expenditure	3,015	3,239	3,376	3,672	4,102	4,546	4,811	5,424	6,027	6,424	6,729
Subsidies	2003	55001	2301	4300	t but t		1301				
Food (household expenditure)	235	248	223	184	179	158	177	184	182	176	223
Rent, rates and water charges Travel	133	127	126	136	169	187	203	231	285	323	369
Other services (including catering)	40 26	42 28	39 25	37 21	55 20	59 18	20	76 21	70 20	62 20	60 25
Income in kind not included else- where	3	3	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	3
Not allocated to categories	75	79	75	64	67	66	140	164	131	118	103
Total subsidies	512	527	490	444	492	489	619	678	690	701	783
Taxes on expenditure less subsidies	2,503	2,712	2,886	3,228	3,610	4,057	4,192	4,746	5,337	5,723	5,946

⁽¹⁾ Net taxes allocated to the other categories of final expenditure are shown in Table 46.
(2) The allocation of selective employment tax is described in notes on page 101.

Appropriation account

TADIE 26											£ million
TABLE 26	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income										notificang is	RO HORES
Income arising in the United Kingdom:								(39	BEI EINEIQUI	Lioneron	Deo L
Gross trading profits (1) (2) (3)	3,643	3,595	4,103	4,544	4,741	4,446	4,718	5,061	4,967	5,161	5,769
Rent and non-trading income	913	910	917	1,055	1,236	1,361	1,495	1,763	1,971	2,194	2,457
Total	4,556	4,505	5,020	5,599	5,977	5,807	6,213	6,824	6,938	7,355	8,226
Income from abroad (4)	975	1,073	1,154	1,285	1,419	1,345	1,415	1,737	2,059	2,201	2,515
Total	5,531	5,578	6,174	6,884	7,396	7,152	7,628	8,561	8,997	9,556	10,741
								- Pringell	JILII SELLE	T EUBBRE	ausi/
Allocation of income											
Dividends and interest: Payments:									10.5		
Debenture and loan interest Dividends on preference shares Dividends on ordinary shares	120 117 1,185	157 119 1,180	172 119 1,320	185 124 1,520	212 121 1,735	346 117 1,650	384 112 1,605	425 98 1,624	495 94 1,753	542 81 1,648	555 86 1,718
Co-operative society dividends and interest		54	52	50	50	47	41	37	32	31	29
Interest on building society shares and deposits	146	175	184	209	268	324	392	467	581	679	791
Other interest paid by banks, etc.		137	128	186	260	311	321	416	484	485	452
Total	1,784	1,822	1,975	2,274	2,646	2,795	2,855	3,067	3,439	3,466	3,631
Additions to dividend reserves	55	75	161	45	10	-13	1	67	-58	35	-1
Current transfers to charities	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
Profits due abroad net of United Kingdom tax (4)	143	159	190	227	247	210	222	336	290	344	434
United Kingdom taxes on income (5): Payments on profits due abroad Payments on other income	119 682	131 842	118 733	131 572	165 491	175 500	143 820	131 915	166 990	270 1,215	259 1,179
Additions to reserves on profits due abroad	-4	2	39	54	-23	-45	18	138	93	-18	-18
Additions to reserves on other income	108	-152	-60	253	45	544	285	445	525	36	-256
Taxes paid abroad	394	422	420	512	552	514	569	753	847	990	1,283
Balance: undistributed income after taxation (1)	2,231	2,256	2,574	2,790	3,235	2,442	2,683	2,675	2,720	3,182	4,192
Total	5,531	5,578	6,174	6,884	7,396	7,152	7,628	8,561	8,997	9,556	10,741

1,563

1,489

 Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 Including United Kingdom branches and subsidiaries of non-resident parent companies.
 Selective employment tax is included on a cash basis and refunds or premiums are allowed for when they are received.
 After deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.
 Total United Kingdom taxes on the total income of companies, including tax on distributions made by companies is as follows (£ million): 1971 1970 1961 1969 1962 1963 1968 1964 1967 1965 1966 2,223 2,497 Accruals 2,583 1,485 2,189 1,886 2,758 1,435 1,528 1,825 1,542 2,615 2,087

1,486

1,593

1,458

2,549

2,004

2,164

Capital account

TABLE 27											£ million
1207 0261 9561	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts										DEFORMED AN	anianorqq A
Undistributed income after taxation											amean.
but before providing for deprecia- tion and stock appreciation	2,231	2,256	2,574	2,790	3,235	2,442	2,683	2,675	2,720	3,182	4,192
Additions to dividend reserves	55	75	161	45	10	-13	1	67	-58	35	-1
Additions to tax reserves	104	-150	-21	307	22	499	303	583	618	18	-274
Capital transfers:	500,0	TESS.	DPR:N	220.0	I TO BE	TAVAL	530.00				teres.
Investment grants	-	-	-	_	-	_	201	420	564	484	540
Other	13	16	14	17	20	26	38	40	42	52	69
Total	2,403	2,197	2,728	3,159	3,287	2,954	3,226	3,785	3,886	3,771	4,526
TANKE THE PERSON NAMED IN STREET	2,682	VIET	Testill	2,078	208,1	726,1	ELST	112			
Expenditure	The state of	1 75 74	1 25 66	23	-	RI WAY	EI		White of the		man 23
Gross domestic fixed capital formation	1,994	2,012	1,987	2,432	2,624	2,667	2,633	2,961	3,416	3,895	3,848
Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	407	143	358	809	614	442	227	676	1,052	1,066	592
Taxes on capital	2002	STE	STEE	2.63.5	1	2	7	18	61	96	112
Capital transfers to public corporations	4	4	5	4	4	5	4	22	14	21	20
Net acquisition of financial assets including net investment abroad	-2	38	378	-86	44	-162	355	108	-657	-1,307	-46
Total	2,403	2,197	2,728	3,159	3,287	2,954	3,226	3,785	3,886	3,771	4,526

THE LOCAL PRES DESCRIPTION OF SELECTION OF S

Appropriation and capital accounts of industrial and commercial companies (1)

£ million TABLE 28 1969 1968 1970 1971 1967 1966 1965 1964 1963 1962 1961 Appropriation account Income Gross trading profits of companies operating in the United Kingdom 5,473 5,470 5,662 6,327 5,076 4,826 5,065 4,836 4,304 3,788 3,835 (²) (³) Rent and non-trading income arising the United Kingdom plus 2,782 1,499 1,932 2,251 2,430 1,588 1,583 1,419 1,267 1,206 1,127 income from abroad 9,109 7,721 8,092 7,405 6,664 6,325 6,255 6,648 5,571 4,994 4,962 Total Allocation of income Dividend and interest payments: 1,627 1,706 1,573 1,566 1,569 1,697 1,611 1,463 1,274 1,135 1,148 Dividends on ordinary shares 1,257 1,188 1,281 1,038 899 913 742 615 532 522 494 Other..... 2,884 2,854 2,894 2,482 2,604 2,510 2,439 2,078 1,806 1,657 1,642 Total 34 33 32 29 31 27 25 23 19 17 Current transfers to charities United Kingdom taxes on income plus taxes paid abroad and profits 2,469 2,412 2,390 2,466 1,761 1,212 1,636 1,520 1,204 1,202 1,173 due abroad Saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation plus 3,722 2,329 2,793 2,392 2,380 2,152 2,634 2,972 additions to dividend reserves 2,539 2,145 2,101 9,109 7,721 8,092 7,405 6,325 6,664 6,648 4,994 5,571 6,255 4,962 Total Capital account Receipts Saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation plus 3,722 2,793 2,329 2,392 2,380 2,972 2,152 2,101 2,539 2,634 additions to dividend reserves 2,145 -27418 618 583 303 307 22 499 104 -150-21Additions to tax reserves (4) Capital transfers: 526 473 556 414 Investment grants 198 ********** 69 52 42 38 17 20 26 Other 13 16 14 40 4,043 3,336 3,545 3,417 Total 2,677 2,218 3,014 2,931 2,011 2,532 2,958 Expenditure Gross domestic fixed capital forma-3,280 3,294 2,852 tion 1,888 2,523 1,877 1,827 2,380 2,299 2,248 2,390 Increase in value of stocks and work 627 in progress (5) 1,103 407 968 143 227 641 358 809 614 442 Taxes on capital 21 14 Capital transfers to public corpor-20 ations 21 14 22 4 5 4 4 Net acquisition of financial assets including net investment abroad 94 -1,103-303226 -81-13342 -1036 -150401 Total 4,043 3,336 2,218 3,545 2,011 3,417 2,532 2,958 3,014 2,677 2,931

(3) Selective employment tax is included on a cash basis and refunds or premiums are allowed for when they are received.

⁽¹⁾ Including property companies but not banks and other financial institutions.
(2) Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.

 ⁽⁴⁾ These figures relate to all companies since separate estimates for financial companies are not available.
 (5) The figures up to 1967 relate to all companies since separate estimates for financial companies are not available for this period.

Appropriation and capital accounts of financial companies

1961 1962 1963 1964 1965 1966 1967 1968 1969 1970	1971 -558
	-558
	-558
Income	-558
Gross trading profits (1)	A STATE OF THE STA
Rent, dividends and interest from industrial and commercial companies 321 314 320 406 525 565 561 674 785 851	860
Other rent and non-trading income arising in the United Kingdom plus income from abroad	2,283
Total 932 931 953 1,088 1,352 1,479 1,606 1,951 2,206 2,441	2,585
Allocation of income	
Debenture and loan interest and dividend payments	1,115
Other interest payments	585
Current transfers to charities 2 2 2 3 3 3 3	4
United Kingdom taxes on income plus taxes paid abroad and profits due abroad 240 231 236 229 265 262 296 328 395 425	412
Saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation plus additions to dividend reserves	469
Total	2,585
Capital account Receipts	
Saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation plus additions to dividend reserves	469
Capital transfers: investment grants 3 6 8 11	14
Total 185 186 196 201 273 277 295 368 341 435	483
Expenditure	
Gross domestic fixed capital forma- mation (2)	568
Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	-35
Taxes on capital	90
Net acquisition of financial assets including net investment abroad 79 51 36 17 38 -12 -46 -118 -354 -204	-140
Total 185 186 196 201 273 277 295 368 341 435	483

 ⁽¹⁾ This represents the contribution of financial companies to the gross domestic product. It is the difference between bank charges, commissions, etc., on the one hand and management expenses on the other.
 (2) Including expenditure by life assurance and superannuation funds.

Appropriation account of non-nationalised companies (1)

TABLE 30	Органи										£ million
TABLE 30	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income										Been Seed	
Income arising in the United Kingdom:											
Gross trading profits (2) (3) (4)	3,510	3,485	3,977	4,394	4,592	4,333	4,661	5,051	4,957	5,151	5,749
Rent and non-trading income	907	904	911	1,048	1,228	1,353	1,486	1,761	1,971	2,194	2,457
Total	4,417	4,389	4,888	5,442	5,820	5,686	6,147	6,812	6,928	7,345	8,206
Income from abroad (5)	975	1,073	1,154	1,285	1,419	1,345	1,415	1,737	2,059	2,201	2,515
Total	5,392	5,462	6,042	6,727	7,239	7,031	7,562	8,549	8,987	9,546	10,721
											Mato
Allocation of income								1		10	
Dividends and interest: Payments:	110	140	164	177	205	338	375	425	495	542	555
Debenture and loan interest Dividends on preference shares	113 115	149	164	177	119	115	111	98	1,752	81 1,647	86 1,717
Dividends on ordinary shares Co-operative society dividends	1,155	1,152	1,295	1,484	1,694	1,607	1,585	-	32	31	29
and interest	57	54	52	50	50	47	41	37	4 -4157	Diam's	105,017
other interest paid by banks, etc.		175 137	184 128	209 186	268 260	324 311	392 321	467 416	581 484	679 485	791 452
				!					100	2.165	2 (20)
Total	1,745	1,784	1,940	2,228	2,596	2,742	2,825	3,066	3,438	3,465	3,630
Additions to dividend reserves	55	77	154	43	7	6	12	67	-58	35	-1
Current transfers to charities	19	21	24	26	28	30	32	34	35	36	38
Profits due abroad net of United Kingdom tax (5)	143	159	190	227	247	210	222	336	290	344	434
United Kingdom taxes on income: Payments on profits due abroad Payments on other income	119 655	131 809	118 722	131 578	165 498	175 480	143 784	131 912	166 940	270 1,215	259 1,179
Additions to reserves on profits due abroad		2	39	54	-23	-45	18	138	93	-18	-18
Additions to reserves on other	1	-115	-51	239	2	535	301	445	525	36	-256
Taxes paid abroad	394	422	420	512	552	514	569	753	847	990	1,283
Balance: undistributed income after		722	720	312	332						
taxation but before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation		2,172	2,486	2,689	3,167	2,384	2,656	2,667	2,711	3,173	4,173
										9,546	10,721
Total	5,392	5,462	6,042	6,727	7,239	7,031	7,562	8,549	8,987	9,540	10,721

⁽¹⁾ All companies except those nationalised during some part of the period 1938 to 1971.

 ⁽²⁾ Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 (3) Including United Kingdom branches and subsidiaries of non-resident parent companies.
 (4) Selective employment tax is included on a cash basis and refunds or premiums are allowed for when they are received.
 (5) After deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.

Trading profits by industry

TABLE 31			T	1	1	T	T	1	1	£ millio
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970
Gross profits of companies operating in the United Kingdom (1)						180				
Forestry and fishing	7 26	7 27	32	8 41	38	5 36	5 38	4 46	47	6 47
Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco	405	425	474	457	105	401	407	525	550	551
Coal and petroleum products	66	63	69	457 74	495	481	487	525 57	550 57	551
Chemicals and allied industries Metal manufacture	234 269	242 224	262 241	325 261	400 279	342	376 156	385 185	394 197	211
Mechanical engineering	299	289	291	352	344	344	366	386	384	384
Instrument engineering Electrical engineering	29 158	178	36 211	264	242	230	230	270	267	287
Shipbuilding and marine engineering	21 148	12 169	10	11	12	10	13	16	21	16
Metal goods not elsewhere specified	126	119	227 125	239 158	225 155	186 154	160 144	243 150	249 149	236 164
Leather, leather goods and fur	170	170	218 10	182	198	188	181	220	196	179
Clothing and footwear	56	50	59	12 59	69	13 70	67	13 71	63	66
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	105 24	101	108 29	147 37	141 39	126 38	129	133	126 37	129
Paper, printing and publishing	161	170	183	216	211	193	208	241	242	247
Other manufacturing industries	63	62	75	95	84	93	97	116	117	121
Total	2,343	2,337	2,628	2,933	3,025	2,812	2,786	3,125	3,130	3,180
Construction	138	152	181	233	226	226	245	261	233	228
Gas, electricity and water	27 219	241	19 266	22 272	277	19 277	18 261	281	18 247	20 237
Distributive trades Insurance, banking and finance (2)	646 629	680 649	771 677	855	951	920	963	972	932	940
Other services	211	184	263	715 268	871 249	915 251	1,038	1,201	1,313	1,571
Adjustments	-603	-700	-741	-803	-917	-1,015	-916	-1,155	-1,246	-1,387
Total	3,643	3,595	4,103	4,544	4,741	4,446	4,718	5,061	4,967	5,161
Net profits of companies operating in the United Kingdom (3)										A.THA
Forestry and fishing	2 14	13	<u>-</u>	-1 20	-3 15	$-3 \\ 20$	22	28	-6 29	-7 29
Manufacturing:										- Image
Food, drink and tobacco	312 22	315	345 18	316 28	340 26	356	370	400	416	408
Chemicals and allied industries	140	142	139	151	223	211	242	249	212	162
Metal manufacture Mechanical engineering	136 210	85 197	82 194	89 221	102 204	93 244	265	279	88 273	80 246
Instrument engineering	22 91	21 110	25 127	34 170	37	55	52	52	53	49
Electrical engineering	12	4	-	1	140	154	156	188	177	175
Vehicles Metal goods not elsewhere specified	62 91	78 82	92 83	102 105	93 96	109	39 102	112 107	76 103	34 106
Textiles	108	107	124	100	109	126	124	160	136	119
Leather, leather goods and fur	45	39	46	44	10	10 58	55	10 59	51	52
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	69	57	63	84	69	70	71	73	63	49
Paper, printing and publishing	16 108	112	18 114	135	26 126	26 125	30 142	174	167	18 145
Other manufacturing industries	39	36	40	55	47	59	70	85	82	79
Total	1,489	1,429	1,517	1,667	1,705	1,769	1,807	2,088	1,955	1,727
Construction	81	92	102	130	119	139	162	173	140	118
Gas, electricity and water	7 44	51	75	20	-10	12	61	33	-11	-49
Transport and communication	487	504	553 652	610	697	669	723	718	666	605
Distributive trades Insurance banking and finance (2)	(11	4. 111	657	675	827	871	991	1,150	1,249	1,488
	614 156	630 120	177	177	148	150	175	194	155	170
Insurance, banking and finance (2)	2002 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 20		The state of the s		10 years (C-1)					170

 ⁽¹) Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 (²) Including net receipts of interest.
 (³) Net profits are equal to gross profits less the statutory depreciation allowances granted for purposes of tax assessment.
 37

VI. PUBLIC CORPORATIONS

Operating account

			Opera	ating acc	count						£ million
TABLE 32		1			1000	1066	1067	1968	1969	1970	1971
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1500	1505		15/1
Revenue										mup bne	
Sales: Revenue sales outside sector Revenue sales inside sector Sales to own capital account	3,168 490 239	3,502 522 268	3,687 551 289	3,966 543 316	4,187 539 349	4,397 560 352	4,913 636 370	5,797 733 350	6,334 728 380	}7,534 437	8,263 480
THE RESERVE OF THE PERSON OF T	143	148	143	132	151	158	195	210	160	134	142
Subsidies	4,040	4,440	4,670	4,957	5,226	5,467	6,114	7,090	7,602	8,105	8,885
Total											
Expenditure					200	2.215	2 202	2 620	2,746	2 030	2 201
Wages, salaries, etc.	1,711	1,868	1,930	2,023	2,138	2,215	2,393	2,630		2,939	3,304
Purchases of goods and services	1,606	1,728	1,763	1,911	1,983	2,117	2,519	2,952	3,196	3,635	4,043
less Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	-9	-2	31	-12	-5	-41	-82	-24	23	-58	-124
Taxes on expenditure:	55	61	59	60	65	74	89	104	110	120	133
Motor vehicle, catering licences, etc.	4	4	6	6	8	8	8	9	11	12	11
Balance: gross trading surplus and rent before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	673	781	881	969	1,037	1,094	1,187	1,419	1,516	1,457	1,518
Total	4,040	4,440	4,670	4,957	5,226	5,467	6,114	7,090	7,602	8,105	8,885

		1	Approp	riation	account	t					f million
TABLE 33					1		1	1	1	1	£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Income										LEND DOS	A PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF THE PART
Gross trading surplus before pro- viding for depreciation and stock appreciation	639 34	745 36	840 41	924 45	988 49	1,042 52	1,132	1,363 56	1,452 64	1,388	1,441
Non-trading income	40	41	28	31	40	46	47	66	77	84	82
Income from abroad	8	8	7	8	8	9	10	13	15	15	16
Total	721	830	916	1,008	1,085	1,149	1,244	1,498	1,608	1,556	1,616
Allocation of income											
Interest and dividends: Payments: To central government Other Additions to interest and dividend reserves	192 153 9	277 143 -23	246 87 40	297 97 10	313 108 13	385 88 17	414 138 19	523 113 32	602 112 -5	660 118 6	736 125 10
United Kingdom taxes on income: Payments Additions to tax reserves	12 -2	- 8 - 5	6 -3	6	3 4	31 -25	-9 -2	17 -5	15 -1	7 2	-8 -3
Balance: undistributed income be- fore providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	357	430	540	598	644	653	666	818	885	763	740
Total	721	830	916	1,008	1,085	1,149	1,244	1,498	1,608	1,556	1,616

Capital account

TABLE 34	442	Jake L	100				1				£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts		100				199			dud-ing	03 MO 7-	
Undistributed income before provid- ing for depreciation and stock app- reciation	357	430	540	598	644	653	666	818	885	763	740
Additions to interest and dividend reserves	9 -2	-23 -5	40 -3	10	13	17 -25	19 -2	32 -5	-5 -1	6 2	10 -3
Capital transfers: From central government: On writing-off debt Investment grants Other (net) From private sector	- - 1 7	10 - 1 7	432 	- 1 9	525 -2 9	- - 2 9	-4 2 10	19 35 6 28	1,258 28 22 20	255 32 12 24	29 12 27
Transactions in financial assets								21			
On writing-off debt: Loans from central government (net)		-10	957		-473	JENGROD B		-3	-1,258	-255	_
Transfer of liability for stock to central government Transfer of capital redemption		-	-1,444 55		-52			-16	-	_	_
funds to central government	hartile		33								
Borrowing requirement: Loans from central government (net)	542	492	432	577	667	843	1,163	1,100	896	860	1,261
Redemption of government guaranteed stock	- - 27	10	43	_ _5	17	-13 17	-23	-30	-215 41	-8 149	-72 151
Adjustment for subsidies	-8	46	-7	-28	-4	-2	-12	-8	35	3	3
Miscellaneous financial receipts (net) and changes in cash balances	60	-16	-50	34	-28	33	-43	-224	-168	-112	-126
Total	939	942	1,004	1,196	1,324	1,534	1,784	1,752	1,538	1,731	2,032
Expenditure		al l		ici, la			STE BOS T				
Gross domestic fixed capital for-	905	933	1,024	1,187	1,293	1,453	1,659	1,622	1,484	1,613	1,859
Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	9	2	-31	12	5	41	82	24	-23	58	124
Transactions in financial assets									7 312 7 114		
Net lending to private sector	3 22	7	9 2	-11 ₇	7 9	11 9	31 7	40 11	51 16	41 15	27 25
ties, etc. (net)				1	10	20	5	55	10	4	-3
Total	939	942	1,004	1,196	1,324	1,534	1,784	1,752	1,538	1,731	2,032

Analysis of appropriation accounts by industry

TADIE 25	Analysis of appropria	ition a	ccount						£ million
TABLE 35		1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
		1904	1700		and it				
Income									
Gross trading surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	559 12 346	593 13 370	603 12 416	654 46 429	794 91 472	826 89 523	759 143 492	848 65 524
ation	Other corporations	7	12	11	3	6	14	-6	4
	Total	924	988	1,042	1,132	1,363	1,452	1,388	1,441
Rent and non-trading income	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	21 1 16	22 1 18	21 1 20	21 1 19	17 7 20	20 7 26	21 7 24	24 7 22
	tionsOther corporations	25 13	28 20	31 25	34 27	39 39	45 43	53 48	61 45
	Total	76	89	98	102	122	141	153	159
Income from abroad	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	3	- 2	3	4	1 5	1 6	- 1 5	1 5
	Other corporations	5	6	6	6	7	8	9	10
	Total	8	8	9	10	13	15	15	16
Total	Fuel and power	580 13 365	615 14 390	624 13 439	675 47 452	811 99 497	846 97 555	780 151 521	872 73 551
	tions	25 25	28 38	31 42	34 36	39 52	45 65	53 51	61 59
	Total	1,008	1,085	1,149	1,244	1,498	1,608	1,556	1,616
Allocation of income				1		3350	interes	and the same	
Provision for interest and dividends	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	225 8 139	238 9 148	270 8 161	318 17 178	370 29 201	405 30 197	447 32 208	493 35 237
	Other corporations	24 8	27 12	30 21	35 23	42 26	52 25	60 37	72 34
	Total	404	434	490	571	668	709	784	871
Provision for United King- dom taxes on income	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	1 5	1 1	- 1		-6	-7	-5	
	Other corporations	=	5	5	5	-6	7	4	3
	Total	6	7	6	7	12	14	9	5
Balance: undistributed in- come before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	Fuel and power	355 4 221	377 4 241	354 5 277	357 30 272	441 70 290	441 67 351	333 119 308	379 38 312
	Other corporations	1 17	21	1 16	-1 8	-3 20	-7 33	-7 10	-11 22
Total	Total	598	644	653	666	818	885	763	740
Total	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corpora-	580 13 365	615 14 390	624 13 439	675 47 452	811 99 497	846 97 555	780 151 521	872 73 551
	Other corporations	25 25	28 38	31 42	34 36	39 52	45 65	53 51	61 59
TORINGE	Total	1,008	1,085	1,149	1,244	1,498	1,608	1,556	1,616

Analysis of capital accounts by industry

TABLE 36	Analysis of Capita	ii accoi	mits by	mausu	y				£ million
		1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts									
Undistributed income before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	Fuel and power	355 4 221 1 17	377 4 241 1 21	354 5 277 1 16	357 30 272 -1 8	441 70 290 -3 20	441 67 351 -7 33	333 119 308 -7 10	379 38 312 -11 22
	Total	598	644	653	666	818	885	763	740
Capital transfers (net)	Fuel and powerIron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corporations Other corporations	9 - 1	424(1) 110(1) 	9 - 2	10 4 — 2	30 31 16(1) 1 10(1)	23 25 1,277(1) 1 2	28 23 268(1) 1 3	32 22 11 1 2
	Total	10	536(1)	11	16	88(1)	1,328(1)	323(1)	68
Loans from central government (net)	Fuel and power	419 7 115 48 -12	44(1) 1 95(1) 54	610 158 71 4	755 75 210 97 26	460 103 399(1) 111 24(1)	467 20 -1,030(1) 128 53	398 	600 131 360 150 20
	Total	577	194(1)	843	1,163	1,097(1)	-362(1)	605(1)	1,261
Net transactions in other financial assets including additions to reserves	Fuel and power Iron and steel Transport and communication Housing and new town corporations Other corporations	14 -3 -2 -5 -3	-2 -54(1) -4	40 2 -18 -5 -2	-72 -5 -1 -1	-53 -111 -83(1) -3 -1	-231 -17 -41 -2 -22	-52 41 74 -25 2	-155 2 139 -29 6
	Total	11	- 50(1)	27	-61	- 251(1)	-313	40	-37
Total	Fuel and power	797 8 334 54 3	846 3 392 64 19	1,013 7 417 77 20	1,130 37 487 95 35	878 93 622 106 53	700 95 557 120 66	707 183 671 117 53	856 193 822 111 50
	Total	1,196	1,324	1,534	1,784	1,752	1,538	1,731	2,032
Expenditure									
Gross domestic fixed capital formation	Fuel and power	783 6 337 53 8	844 3 379 60 7	986 5 384 70 8	1,060 36 470 82 11	877 69 568 93 15	758 70 534 105 17	726 112 650 107 18	752 200 786 100 21
	Total	1,187	1,293	1,453	1,659	1,622	1,484	1,613	1,859
Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	Fuel and power	14 2 -4 -	1 -4 -	23 2 16 —	70 1 11 —	<u>24</u> <u>-</u>	-60 24 13 -	-22 69 11 -	102 -9 31 -
	Total	12	5	41	82	24	-23	58	124
Net lending to private sector, net lending and investment abroad and cash expenditure on company securities, etc. (net)	Fuel and power	1 1	1 9 4 12	4 17 7 12	- 6 13 24	1 54 13 38	2 1 10 15 49	3 2 10 10 35	2 2 5 11 29
	Total	-3	26	40	43	106	77	60	49
Total	Fuel and power		846 3 392 64 19	1,013 7 417 77 20	1,130 37 487 95 35	878 93 622 106 53	700 95 557 120 66	707 183 671 117 53	856 193 822 111 50
	Total	1,196	1,324	1,534	1,784	1,752	1,538	1,731	2,032

⁽¹⁾ Including financial transactions on writing-off debt. See Table 34.

VII. CENTRAL GOVERNMENT INCLUDING NATIONAL INSURANCE FUNDS

Current account

Receipts												£ million
Receipts Taxes on income :	TABLE 37				1		1	1	1	1	1	L million
Taxes on expenditure:		1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Excess profits tax, excess profits 2	Taxes on income: Income tax Surtax Profits tax	196 315	230	174	179	184	210	279				6,184 286 1
Taxes on expenditure: Customs and excise duties: Ber 200 210 227 257 292 332 361 390 395 450 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 225 267 297 325 314 335 382 405 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 328 314 335 382 405 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 328 314 335 382 405 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 328 314 335 382 405 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 328 314 335 382 405 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 328 314 335 382 405 459 459 459 450 460 479 Wines and spirits 200 210 227 267 297 312 316 307 308 1,084 1,165 1,150 1,102 1,1	levy, etc.		-				23	1,166	1,285	1,373		1,518 -28
Beer	Total	3,078	3,455	3,385	3,528	4,024	4,450	5,092	5,648	6,330	7,433	7,961
Motor vehicle licence duties (³) 141 164 181 194 239 270 289 385 431 455 468 less Export rebates —	Wines and spirits Tobacco Hydrocarbon oils (¹) Protective duties Temporary charge on imports Purchase tax (¹) Television licence Television advertisement Betting and gaming	200 858 480 151 — 521 12 4 40	210 879 547 148 — 571 13 8 36	225 894 572 153 — 565 8 8 29	267 942 640 183 26 633 — 6 33	285 1,000 771 176 167 647 — 33	314 1,029 856 182 133 686 — 43	335 1,038 949 198 -9 748	382 1,084 1,081 224 -2 971 - 96	1,165 1,278 221 -1 1,110 - 111	1,150 1,368 250 1,304 — 124	1,102 1,434 268 1,394 — 151
Motor vehicle licence duties (¹) 141 164 181 194 239 270 289 385 431 455 468 less Export rebates —	Total	2,540	2,687	2,721	3,037	3,425	3,617	3,729	4,244	4,757	5,129	5,349
Selective employment tax		141	164	181	194	239	270	289	385	431	455	468
Selective employment tax			_	_	_	-47	-96	O I I STATE OF	11/1/20	-16	-8	
Television contractors: additional payments	Selective employment tax	97	100	THE RESIDENCE OF THE PARTY OF T	83	76	78	92	118			
Total	Television contractors: additional payments		100000	The state of the s	5	19	21	24	26		22	
National insurance contributions	Takal										_	
National health contributions Redundancy Fund contributions 142 163 - - - - 165 169 166 166 164 178 186 208 236		2,770	2,705	3,013	3,341	3,734	7,211	4,501	3,336	- 0,104	0,005	0,010
Post Office (excluding Savings Bank) 27 —	National health contributions	142	100 March 100 Ma				166	164	178	186	208	236
Temporary houses and Forces' married quarters	Post Office (excluding Savings Bank)		100000					1	Annual Control			42
On loans to local authorities 124 124 123 125 142 171 203 237 281 340 399 From public corporations 192 277 246 297 313 385 414 523 602 660 736 Other 88 96 92 94 115 117 119 92 104 130 178	Temporary houses and Forces' married quarters		101	2 95	3	3 92		5 89				
Total 7,497 8,234 8,276 8,949 10,132 11,250 12,348 14,147 15,867 17,965 18,873	On loans to local authorities From public corporations	192	277	246	297	313	385	414	523	602	660	736
	Total	7,497	8,234	8,276	8,949	10,132	11,250			15,867	17,965	18,873

Before deducting Export rebates.
 Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 Excluding Post Office from April 1961.
 Before providing for depreciation.

Current account

ABLE 37 (continued)											£ millio
The state of the s	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Current expenditure on goods and services:								TIME DAY IS		Bigani	
Military defence	1,683	1,804	1,849	1,928	2,062	2,150	2,335	2,370	2,265	2,418	2,738
Civil defence	60	65	10 71	10 77	87	91	12 98	106	109	115	123
Roads and public lighting	18	20	24	23	23	28	27	25	28	32	34
Transport and communication Employment services	13 22	13 22	13 23	14 25	30	32	12 37	12 41	11 48	16	34 29 72
Other industry and trade	26	32	35	36	52	66	95	123	145	146	195
Agriculture, fishing and food	77	85 35	90 36	88 39	84	90 43	96	100	110	129	136
Police and prisons	25	26	29	33	34	38	48	58	60 56	63	73
Parliament and law courts	10 800	823	874	15	1 1 061	1 162	23	25	30	1 725	51
Milk and welfare foods	30	30	34	945	1,061	1,163	1,272	1,376	1,493	1,725	1,949
Social security benefits	79	88	92	106	109	118	131	146	159	186	212
Records, registrations and surveys	110	115	117	120	136	147	169	192	217	240	279
Other	79	68	40	46	50	64	55	63	74	119	167
Total	3,080	3,252	3,356	3,549	3,853	4,119	4,510	4,742	4,864	5,407	6,183
Subsidies:								107 3031	Name of the last o	7	0 12/15
Housing (1)	91	88	88	92	103	113	129	147	170	207	243
Agriculture and food	311	328	294	244	237	208	247	257	240	232	295
takings	137	141	136	123	142	142	165	159	105	90	82
Other transport and communica-	3	2	85 1	2	14	17	21	23	34	38	36
Employment premiums	-	-	NA S	_	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	-	152	188	154	141	114
Assistance to coal industry Other	-2	2	3	4	2	1 5	9	21	18 23	13 20	18
Total	544	561	522	465	498	486	727	810	744	741	797
	244	301	344	405	490	400	121	010	7-4-4	741	151
Current grants to personal sector: Post-war credits	18	54	30	17	18	17	17	20	18	16	15
Education: Scholarships and maintenance	55	15	At It	1-5		51.	111		- The same	The astron	
allowances	7	12	13	14	15	16	16	18	120	23	26
Grants to universities, colleges, etc.	47	62	77	95	114	136	148	165	180	214	255
Grants to other private non-								T. VA	STAIR LAIN	P. C. T. L. S.	
Social security benefits:	23	24	23	26	30	33	37	46	49	47	56
National insurance (2) (3)	1,125	1,213	1,413	1,497	1,775	1,894	2,084	2,360	2,429	2,715	2,924
grants (3)	95	96	100	104	111	112	111	120	119	126	125
Family allowances	140 169	140 187	146 218	149 225	152 241	155 277	161 392	270 421	351 489	351 517	362 634
Other non-contributory benefits	10	9	7	6	5	4	_	_	_	3	23
Other	26	5 27	32	36	38	29 46	48	61	52 82	107	76 114
Total	1,665	1,829	2,065	2,176	2,507	2,719	3,069	3,546	3,789	4,174	4,610
Debt interest	893		930	937	968	1,036	1,105	1,240	1,280	1,298	1,384
Current grants to local authorities (5)	828	874 926	1,031	1,159	1,249	1,481	1,706	1,898	2,099	2,450	2,858
Current grants to overseas countries and international organisations	108	110	120	151	162	163	167	156	153	147	173
National insurance benefits and war pensions paid to non-residents	10	11	12	12	15	17	21	23	24	25	27
Total current expenditure	7,128	7,563	8,036	8,449	9,252	10,021	11,305	12,415	12,953	14,242	16,032
Balance: current surplus before pro-									Merger	10 - 10	
viding for depreciation and stock appreciation	369	671	240	500	880	1,229	1,043	1,732	2,914	3,723	2,841
Total		1357	-0.53								
10ta)	7,497	8,234	8,276	8,949	10,132	11,250	12,348	14,147	15,867	17,965	18,873
		The second	M	1					La Cara		

⁽¹⁾ For detail see Table 45.
(2) For detail see Table 40.
(3) Excluding payments to non-residents which are shown separately in this table.
(4) Assistance grants up to 26 November 1966.
(5) For detail see Table 41.

		C.	
TA	DI	F	38
1 /1	DI	-	30

ABLE 38								1000	1000	1070	1051
THE BEES PART BOLL	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	369 259	671 266	240 308	500 308	880 290	1,229	1,043	1,732 439	2,914 638	3,723 660	2,841 683
Proceeds of iron and steel disposals	87	10	22	18	_	(HE)	-			bris 130 a	_
Receipts from certain pension 'funds' (net) Adjustment for purchase tax Adjustment for subsidies	52 -12 8	46 -15 -46	68 -7 7	56 -14 26	52 1 4	64 -7 3	61 -37 18	72 -74 15	51 -25 -26	58 -59 -21	84 -4 -11
Refinanced export and shipbuilding	_		_	_	-	-	8 -	-	-28	-160	-242
Transactions in marketable securities on acquisition of the capital of certain undertakings			1,402		52	_	484	54 76	42 468	-260	-284
Borrowing for redemption of govern- ment guaranteed stock	_	_	-	_		13	-		215	8	72
Borrowing requirement (Net bal- ance):											
Increase in net indebtedness to Bank of England, Banking Department	91	-253	-32	68	152	44	-19	128	-128	276	-471
Increase in notes and coin in circulation	97	6	154	157	193	148	152	186	197	231	243
Increase in non-marketable debt: National savings Tax reserve certificates Receipts from market trans-	145	133 -56	185 - 59	209 -37	-28 -106	-202 79	-43 36	-93 21	-224 -27	-51 -18	371 81
actions: Treasury bills(2)	-178 -218	-269 599	24 -137	-519 -114	-221 222	-290 217	-125 529	-224 -506	-386 183	544 -271	337 3,361
Northern Ireland central govern-		-	-	-	-	10	-		lane -	sd samen	-3
ment debt: Net sales of securities Increase in other debt	11 2	12 2	6 -1	$-1 \\ 12$	14 -1	6	22 -1		1	-3	-9 -
Borrowing from overseas govern-	18	-	_	75 -	- 1	51	88	98	116	9	4
less Repayments to overseas gov- ernments Miscellaneous direct borrowing	-82	-44	-45	-36	-16	-48	-66	-44	-112	-104	-99
(net) from overseas govern- ments and institutions less Capital subscriptions to the	1	-4		_	48	106	16	30	8	109	-25
IMF and European Fund: In sterling In gold Allocation of SDRs		=		-	-	-131 -44	061 (085 01	T I		-113 -38 171	125
less Increase in official holdings of non-convertible currencies Overseas official financing:	1	1		30			- I	_		as authings	
Treasury bills: counterpart of central bank assistance	Walling I	-		144	182	280	518	772	-608	-1,011	-400
Net drawings from less repay- ments to IMF Foreign currency deposits by	370	-375	5	357	489	15	-339	506	-30	-134	-554
other monetary authorities less Increase in official reserves	-31	183	53	72 122	-72 -246	14 282	173 319	18 114	-61 -44	-150 -125	-863 $-1,536$
Total overseas official financing	339	-192	58	695	353	591	671	1,410	-743	-1,420	- 3,353
E.E.A. loss on forward commit- ments(4)	_		_		_	_	-105	-251	reordains	lowers :	n crizer
Borrowing requirement	233	-65	153	434	610	530	1,155	757	-1,112	-678	562
Miscellaneous financial receipts (net) and changes in cash balances	-92	57	72	15	-40	-20	_	76	-60	-26	191
Total	904	924	2,265	1,343	1,849	2,127	3,063	3,147	3,077	3,245	3,892

⁽¹⁾ For details see Table 47.
(2) Excluding counterpart of central bank assistance.
(3) Including government guaranteed securities.
(4) See notes on page 105.

Capital account

TABLE 38 (continued)

F.	mi	lli	0	r
~	****		~	٢

	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Expenditure Gross domestic fixed capital forma-		No. 1		361 7	Hall - 1						
tion:											
Military defence	25	20	19	25	18	29	41	45	20	25	26
Civil defence	51	3	2	100	3	2	2	1	-1	275	-1
Transport	5	73	79	108	112	123	139	156	214	275	255
Post Office (1)	34	_	_	_	_	0	3	10	3	0	_
Other industry and trade	5	4	4	5	8	10	15	22	27	24	28 28
Research	23	23	21	21	19	20	19	25	24	28	28
Agriculture, forestry and food National health service	38	4	4	4	5	5	5	6	6	120	8
Police and prisons	5	46	50	65	79	90	112	128	128	139	167
Other services	28	32	33	38	43	44	50	53	49	58	74
Total	219	216	227	284	301	335	395	458	486	576	606
Increase in value of stocks:								Lanca Brill	elony be	Alexandra I	arhess.
Trading bodies (2)	16	19	18	20	24	27	29	39	47	44	51
Strategic stocks	-9	-7	-8	-3	-1	-2	-2	-4	-5	- 1	The T
Total	7	12	10	17	23	25	27	35	42	43	51
Capital transfers:										1	
Capital grants to private sector (2):			4 19 19				1 12	d whose	in small		
Grants to universities, colleges,	MA LIT	Mary Trans	85,5 100	Elec Ings	EL.L.	Mary Jan	HIG ba				100
Town and Country Planning	27	37	51	60	76	84	85	82	79	80	84
compensation	3	1	A PARTY	de l'alle			The Property				AN THE P
War damage compensation	7	6	5	3	3	2	2	3	2	1	_
Investment grants	_		_	_	_		205	425	572	489	546
Other	39	53	48	65	80	81	93	122	118	147	182
Capital grants to local authorities (3): War damage compensation			1	1	1			- Runthing	phonony in	In the later	107
Other	44	54	61	72	76	81	113	144	143	162	183
Capital grants to public corpora-	77	34	01	12	/0	01	113	177	143	102	105
tions (4):	It while	TE WAR	the world	25	St. but	the Later	181 //				
On writing-off debt	-	10	432	-	525	_		19	1,258	255	_
Other		-	-		-	-	4	35	28	32	29
	1	1	1	1			2	0	22	12	12
Total	122	163	599	202	763	251	504	836	2,222	1,178	1,036
Transactions in financial assets	020 1 1	15 3 7		10 To 1649	Ballo FEE	2 x 1 1	81 A 18		1		
Net lending:		The second	The last								1000
Net lending to private sector:			40		40		1 20	20	10	25	10
Industry and trade	34	48	18	17	43	15	-2	38	18	25	-18
Housing associations	46	<u>-9</u>	-/	-3	-2	-4 5	-2	-4	1	-3	-10
Other	5	3	2	3	2	2	3	2	3	4	10
Net lending to public sector:											
Local authorities Public corporations:	-21	-35	-31	172	455	546	398	589	556	722	739
Loans written-off		-10	-487		-525			-19	-1,258	-255	
Transfer of liability for stock		-10	1,444		52	-	_	16	-1,250		_
Other	542	492	432	577	667	843	1,163	1,100	896	860	1,261
rect lending to overseas sector:						0.4			0.0	110	
Loans to overseas governments less Repayments by overseas	61	62	66	84	74	94	87	90	82	110	125
governments	-109	-15	-14	-19	-24	-30	-26	-30	-30	-27	-32
Drawings from United Kingdom	10)	13	14	1,5	24	50	20	50	50		32
subscriptions to international											
Other	1	1	7	7	16	10	18	7	20	12	17
	-3	-4	-3	-1	-2	2	2	-12	-3	-2	2
Total net lending	556	533	1,429	840	762	1,483	1,653	1,779	282	1,446	2,117
Cash expenditure on company		144 145									
securities (net) Steel compensation: issues of stock	-	-	-	_	_	33	101	1	3	2	82
stock compensation: issues of stock	_		_	_	_	_	484	38	42		-
Total	904	924	2,265	1,343	1,849	2,127	3,063	3,147	3,077	3,245	3,892
				,						1	

⁽¹⁾From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation.
(2)For functional analysis see Table 49.
(3)For functional analysis see Table 42.
(4)For analysis by industry see Table 36.

Current account of central government excluding National Insurance Funds

TABLE 39				Nove 1		Exel 1	to the second				£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts											
Taxes on income	3,078	3,455	3,385	3,528	4,024	4,450	5,092	5,648	6,330	7,433	7,961
Taxes on expenditure	2,796	2,963	3,013	3,341	3,734	4,211	4,501	5,358	6,164	6,603	6,610
Gross trading surplus(1)	46	17	17	24	24	15	16	30	40	35	42
Rent (2)	101	105	97	96	95	97	94	94	102	110	119
Interest and dividends, etc.	384	477	446	503	558	661	723	840	977	1,122	1,306
National health contributions	142	163	165	169	166	166	164	178	186	208	236
Redundancy Fund contributions	-	-	_	_	1	18	33	41	53	52	52
Total	6,547	7,180	7,123	7,661	8,602	9,618	10,623	12,189	13,852	15,563	16,326
Expenditure										The same of the sa	
Current expenditure on goods and services	3,030	3,198	3,294	3,484	3,782	4,045	4,430	4,651	4,765	5,296	6,057
Subsidies	544	561	522	465	498	486	727	810	744	741	797
Current grants to personal sector	540	616	652	679	732	825	985	1,186	1,360	1,459	1,686
Debt interest: To National Insurance Funds Other	47 893	48 874	53 930	57 937	61 968	1,036	63 1,105	60 1,240	59 1,280	57 1,298	63 1,384
Current grants to National Insurance Funds	187	201	226	235	292	306	310	366	368	426	494
Current grants to local authorities	828	926	1,031	1,159	1,249	1,481	1,706	1,898	2,099	2,450	2,858
Current grants abroad	114	116	127	157	169	170	174	163	160	155	181
Total expenditure	6,183	6,540	6,835	7,173	7,751	8,413	9,500	10,374	10,835	11,882	13,520
Balance: current surplus before pro- viding for depreciation and stock appreciation	364	640	288	488	851	1,205	1,123	1,815	3,017	3,681	2,806
Total	6,547	7,180	7,123	7,661	8,602	9,618	10,623	12,189	13,852	15,563	16,326
	4	410									

 ⁽¹) Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 (²) Before providing for depreciation.

Current account of National Insurance Funds

TABLE 40	10(7) 61	CAT I		19171	38P	NO LE PROPERTIES	doction				£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts											
STATE OF THE PERSON OF THE PER		Sarrie M			200		287	N TE			The same of the sa
Contributions from employers: H.M. Forces Other insured persons	10 461	513	566	10 635	12 782	13 839	13 885	16 1,006	16 1,035	1,223	1,293
Total	471	522	575	645	794	852	898	1,022	1,051	1,242	1,312
Contributions from insured persons: H.M. Forces Other employed persons Self-employed persons Non-employed persons	7 410 37 5	8 456 39 5	9 499 43 5	10 560 47 5	12 645 52 6	12 678 59 8	12 721 62 7	15 817 71 8	14 840 77 8	18 1,025 85 8	1,100 86 8
Total	459	508	556	622	715	757	802	911	939	1,136	1,212
Payments in lieu of graduated contri- butions	222.000	4	7	8	9	11	12	13	15	16	16
Grants from central government	187	201	226	235	292	306	310	366	368	426	494
Interest	67	68	68	70	73	76	76	72	69	65	70
Total	1,184	1,303	1,432	1,580	1,883	2,002	2,098	2,384	2,442	2,885	3,104
Expenditure Current expenditure on goods and					71	74	90	0.1	00	111	126
services	50	54	62	65	71	74	80	91	99	111	126
Current grants to personal sector: Retirement pensions Widows' benefits and guardians'	769	816	930	1,022	1,204	1,281	1,351	1,551	1,605	1,802	1,953
allowances	79	87	98	108	133	144	150	158	161	174	192
Unemployment benefit	36	55	82	53	55	65	127	134	131	152	218
Sickness benefit	154	163	198	199	247	266	314	360	375	419	393
Maternity benefit	24	26	28	31	36	36	35	39	39	42	44
Death grant	6	6	7	27	8	8	22	11	12	12	30
Injury benefit	20	20	25	27	34	33	33 58	36 63	35 63	35 70	30
Disablement benefit	33	36	40	44	51	54	7	8	8	9	10
Industrial death benefit	4	4	3	6	,	'	'	0	U		10
Total	1,125	1,213	1,413	1,497	1,775	1,894	2,084	2,360	2,429	2,715	2,924
Current grants abroad	4	5	5	6	8	10	14	16	17	17	19
Balance: current surplus	5	31	-48	12	29	24	-80	-83	-103	42	35
Total	1,184	1,303	1,432	1,580	1,883	2,002	2,098	2,384	2,442	2,885	3,104

Current account

TADI E 41	Current account											
TABLE 41	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	
							720					
Receipts Current grants from central govern-	Dire 1	COLUMN TO THE PARTY OF THE PART										
Grants not allocated to specific			700	000	069	1,168	1,477	1,706	1,899	2,239	2 500	
services	632	720	788	900	968	8	8	1,700	2	1	2,580	
Roads and public lighting	30	33	41	42	42	45	28	11	4	1	1	
Agricultural services	1	67	82	89	96	109	117	131	141	147	205	
Administration of justice	68	7	8	9	10	13	15	15	19	20	205 26	
Social services:		01	89	94	108	119	38	2	1	1		
Pational health service	75 1	81	1	1	1	1	1	2	3	3	3	
Personal social services	î	1	2	2	14	15	19	22	26	33	36	
Other specific services	9	10	12	14	14	15	19		20	33	30	
Total	828	926	1,031	1,159	1,249	1,481	1,706	1,898	2,099	2,450	2,858	
Rates	831	916	1,014	1,096	1,228	1,374	1,467	1,548	1,669	1,823	2,087	
Gross trading surplus (2)	50	54	61	67	72	12	72	78	78	101	121	
Rent (3): Dwellings	252	270	287	317	363	410	453	520	605	668	704	
Other land and buildings	104 40	116 48	130 52	145 59	169 70	191 84	214 92	246 96	292 103	337 105	372 109	
Interest, etc.	2,105	2,330	2,575	2,843	3,151	3,612	4,004	4,386	4,846	5,484	6,251	
Total	2,103	2,330	2,373	2,015		2,012	1,001	1,000	1,010	2,.01	10,201	
Expenditure										11,45		
Current expenditure on goods and services:											Name of Street	
Civil defence	6	7	8	9	10	10	9	4	1	1	274	
Roads and public lighting Employment services	141	153	174	179	194	208	235	232	238	246	274	
Agricultural services	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	3	2	3	4	
Environmental services: Sewerage and sewage disposal	50	55	58	65	73	82	96	108	119	138	154	
Refuse collection and disposal	45	48	53	57	65	73	82	89	105	113	128	
Public health services	21	23	25	27	30	34	38	38	43	52	60	
Land drainage and coast pro- tection	10	11	12	12	14	15	16	20	18	21	25	
Parks, pleasure grounds, etc	36	40	42	46	52	58	66	74	81	63	25 99 70	
Libraries, museums and arts	24 139	26 147	28 161	31 174	36 190	219	247	271	301	337	397	
Administration of justice	14	14	16	19	21	24	29	33	39	44	49	
Fire service	32	36	39	43	47	52	58	63	69	70	74	
Education	712	800	875	937	1,052	1,175	1,299	1,428	1,565	1,759	2,016	
Personal social services (4)	79 55	86 61	94	102 73	115 83	127 96	145 113	159 127	123 193	131 230	147 265	
School meals and milk	62	68	70	77	86	99	116	115	122	133	127	
Rate collection	10	11	11	12	14	16	19	21	20	20	16	
Other	52	60	69	73	85	101	121	126	124	145	167	
Total	1,499	1,658	1,814	1,949	2,181	2,445	2,753	2,976	3,236	3,615	4,095	
Housing subsidies	42	39	38	44	66	74	74	84	115	116	126	
Current grants to personal sector:				1.7	00	1.4	1.1	01	1			
Scholarships and grants to universities, colleges, etc.	43	52	63	74	89	106	120	133	145	154	169	
Other	-	-	- 03	-	-	-	125	-	1	3	2	
On loans from central government	The state of the s	124	123	125	142	171	203	237	281	340	399	
Total current and dis	211	240	269	320	380	429	468	554	643	702	735	
Total current expenditure	1,919	2,113	2,307	2,512	2,858	3,225	3,618	3,984	4,421	4,930	5,526	
Balance: current surplus before pro- viding for depreciation and stock												
appreciation		217	250	001						554	725	
	186	217	268	331	293	387	386	402	425	554	125	
Total	2,105	2,330	2,575	2,843	3,151	3,612	4,004	4,386	4,846	5,484	6,251	

 ⁽¹) Including grants for school meals and milk.
 (²) Before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation.
 (³) Before providing for depreciation.
 (⁴) Change in coverage from 1969—see notes on page 106.

Capital account

TABLE 42	Capital account										
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
over roer roer	BELLIN	DEL S	O T	1000000	deres 1	1007	1022 11				
Receipts Current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation	186	217	268	331	293	387	386	402	425	554	725
Capital grants from central govern- ment (1):										Track Market	Supression .
Roads and public lighting Harbours, docks and aerodromes	26 1	30 1	35	42	43	47	79	105	99	110	124
Housing (2) Environmental services: Water, sewerage and refuse	1	1	1	1	1	1	1			3	4
Land drainage and coast pro-	4	4	5	6	6	7	8	10	11	18	22
tection	3	3	4	5	6	6	7	7	8	10	11
Education (3)	6	7	7 9	8	9	10	5	3	12	1 11	15
Other	4	9	9	10	11	11	0	11	12	11	13
Total	45	55	62	73	77	82	113	144	143	162	183
Borrowing requirement: Loans from central government	21	25	21	172	155	516	200	589	556	722	739
Other identified borrowing (net)	-21 498	-35 602	-31 636	172 566	455 561	546 412	398 697	587	595	527	659
Adjustment for subsidies	- 60	00	33	2		-1	-6	-7	-9	18	8
Miscellaneous financial receipts (net) and changes in cash balances	75	38	24	109	-11	-7	71	29	45	-76	-200
Total	783	877	959	1,253	1,375	1,419	1,659	1,744	1,755	1,907	2,114
Expenditure											
Gross domestic fixed capital		- 4								-	ly luaru y
formation: Civil defence	1	1	1	1	1	1	_	_	-	_	_
Roads and public lighting	66	73	85	105	106	112	159	195	206	238	270
Trading services (4): Road and rail passenger transport	7	8	10	10	9	9	10	12	10	27	34
Harbours, docks and aerodromes	15	14	12	14	21	35	35	34	30	30	25
Gas and electricity Other	15	16	15	22	24	23	22	17	25	31	34
Agricultural services	1		_	30 -	-1	-	_		1	1	1
Housing (2) Environmental services:	273	321	365	495	545	655	743	783	795	752	719
Water	42	47	45	52	54	61	63	68	68	77	93
Sewerage and sewage disposal	50	57	56	63	68	78	94	115	117	132	164
Refuse collection and disposal Public health services	3	3	10	3	2	2	5	14	2	3	3
Land drainage and coast pro-	PA, DA		-	0	0	10	11	12	12	15	17
Parks, pleasure grounds, etc.	10	11	14	18	20	10 17	12	13 18	22	25	35
Libraries, museums and arts	3	4	4	5	5	5	6	7	7	7	10 28
Police Fire service	9	11	12	15	18	20	22	22	21	22	10
Social services:	3	6	0	0			The same of	The Late of the La		***	
Education	136	161	159	180	171	185	234	263	270	289	352 14
National health service (5) Personal social services (5)	9	11	10	15	18	12	21	24	29	30	37
Town and country planning	16	15	21	35	41	35	44	53	48	52	67
Other	20	26	32	41	48	53	54	47	52	48	69
Total	702	814	883	1,112	1,185	1,345	1,568	1,712	1,752	1,821	2,010
Capital grants to personal sector	14	16	17	20	21	20	22	22	21	26	39
Net lending to private sector: For house purchase Other	67	47	59	121	168 1	53 1	68 1	9	-20 2	56 4	61 4
Total	702	077	050	1 252	1,375	1,419	1,659	1,744	1,755	1,907	2,114
10tal	783	877	959	1,253	1 1,3/3	1 1,419	1 1,039	1 (1)77	1 1,700	1 1,501	

War damage compensation is shown against the service concerned (e.g. housing, harbours and docks).
 Excluding houses provided for specific services (e.g. police); these appear under the service concerned.
 Including grants for school meals service.
 Excluding housing and water.
 Change in coverage from 1969—see notes on page 107.

IX. COMBINED PUBLIC AUTHORITIES

Combined current and capital account

TABLE 43									1		£ millio
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts	96								2 Zite h		
Current account			1								
Taxes on income: Central government	3,078	3,455	3,385	3,528	4,024	4,450	5,092	5,648	6,330	7,433	7,961
Taxes on expenditure: Central government Local authorities (1)	2,796 831	2,963 916	3,013 1,014	3,341 1,096	3,734 1,228	4,211 1,374	4,501 1,467	5,358 1,548	6,164 1,669	6,603 1,823	6,610 2,087
National insurance, etc. contribu- tions: Central government	1,072	1,197	1,303	1,444	1,685	1,804	1,909	2,165	2,244	2,654	2,828
Gross trading surplus: Central government Local authorities	46 50	17 54	17 61	24 67	24 72	15 72	16 72	30 78	40 78	35 101	42 121
Rent: Central government Local authorities	101 356	105 386	97 417	96 462	95 532	97 601	94 667	94 766	102 897	110 1,005	119 1,076
Interest and dividends, etc.: Central government (2) Local authorities	280 40	373 48	338 52	391 59	428 70	502 84	533 92	615 96	706 103	790 105	914 109
Total	8,650	9,514	9,697	10,508	11,892	13,210	14,443	16,398	18,333	20,659	21,867
Capital account								ALL TEST	peace)	STREET, STREET,	DE TO
Taxes on capital: Central government	259	266	308	308	290	315	339	439	638	660	683
Changes in financial assets and liabilities (3): Central government (4) Local authorities	276 573	-13 640	328 660	535 677	627 550	583 404	1,197 762	922 609	-517 631	-1,138 469	368 467
Total	1,108	893	1,296	1,520	1,467	1,302	2,298	1,970	752	-9	1,518
Combined current and capital account											
Total receipts	9,758	10,407	10,993	12,028	13,359	14,512	16,741	18,368	19,085	20,650	23,385

(1) Rates.

(2) Excluding interest on loans to local authorities.

⁽³⁾ Other than those shown on the expenditure side of the capital account; excluding central government lending to local authorities.
(4) Excluding transactions on writing-off debt of public corporations and on nationalisation of the steel industry.

Combined current and capital account

TABLE 43 (continued) £ million

	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
bourgmi - raignes indicate		- lugant	en kranse	10 MB 11			pique]				
Expenditure	(mone)		hatte !	Warre B	(390000)		512361	1) (1)			
Current account											
Goods and services: Central government Local authorities	3,080 1,499	3,252 1,658	3,356 1,814	3,549 1,949	3,853 2,181	4,119 2,445	4,510 2,753	4,742 2,976	4,864 3,236	5,407 3,615	6,183 4,095
Subsidies and grants: Central government (1) Local authorities	2,327	2,511	2,719	2,804 118	3,182 155	3,385 180	3,984 194	4,535 217	4,710 261	5,087 273	5,607 297
Debt interest: Central government Local authorities (2)	893 211	874 240	930 269	937 320	968 380	1,036 429	1,105 468	1,240 554	1,280 643	1,298 702	1,384 735
Total	8,095	8,626	9,189	9,677	10,719	11,594	13,014	14,264	14,994	16,382	18,301
Capital account					98				and lang.	and say in	of the last
Goods and services (3): Central government Local authorities	226 702	228 814	237 883	301 1,112	324 1,185	360 1,345	422 1,568	493 1,712	528 1,752	619	657 2,010
Grants: Central government (1) (4) Local authorities	77 14	98 16	105 17	129 20	161 21	169 20	391 22	673 22	821 21	761 26	853 39
Financial assets (5): Central government (4) Local authorities	577 67	578 47	503 59	668 121	780 169	970 54	1,255 69	1,194 10	987 -18	981 60	1,460 65
Total	1,663	1,781	1,804	2,351	2,640	2,918	3,727	4,104	4,091	4,268	5,084
Combined current and capital account											
Total expenditure	9,758	10,407	10,993	12,028	13,359	14,512	16,741	18,368	19,085	20,650	23,385

Excluding grants to local authorities.

Excluding interest on loans from central government.

Comprises gross domestic fixed capital formation and increase in value of stocks.

Excluding transactions on writing-off debt of public corporations and on nationalisation of the steel industry.

Comprises net lending to the private sector, public corporations and the overseas sector, and cash expenditure on company securities (net).

Analysis of current expenditure on goods and services

£ million

TABLE 44	1066						1069					
		19	966			1	967			19	968	
	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	Selective employ- ment tax		Other pay- ments (net)	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	ment	- 4	Other pay- ments (net)	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	ment		Other pay- ments (net)
Defence: Military defence(2) Civil defence	976 11	9	5	1,160	999	18	6	1,312	1,043	21	7	1,299
External relations	35	-	-	56	38		_	60	38	1	- bas as	67
Roads and public lighting	125	3	-	108	154	7		101	160	9	trionton	88
Transport and communication	11	-	_	-2	12	1	-	-1	15	1	-	-4
Employment services	36	1	950-	2	41	2	100-	1	46	2	THE PARTY OF	1
Other industry and trade	21	-	-	45	26	1	_	68	30	1		92
Research	46	1	14	29	49	2	12	33	51	2	9	38
Agriculture, fishing and food	34	_	2	10	36	2	2	12	39	1	2	19
Housing and environmental services: Sewerage and refuse disposal Public health services Parks, pleasure grounds, etc. Other(3)	72 23 47 137	1 1 1 2	51 1 8 33	31 9 5 -40	80 26 53 156	4 2 2 7	57 1 9 37	37 9 6 -45	84 29 55 159	5 2 3 9	65 1 11 43	43 6 8 -46
Libraries, museums and arts	23	1	2	24	26	2	2	26	32	2	3	23
Prisons Parliament and law courts	176 20 34	2	8 - 1	42 9 8	191 23 37	6 1 1	9 1	51 10 13	205 26 43	8 1 3	10	58 12 11
Fire service	38	1	3	10	44	2	4	8	47	3	4	9
Social services: Education National health service Personal social services School meals, milk, and	854 674 55	11 12 1	68 26 8	252 578 32	931 726 63	33 36 3	77 28 8	269 627 40	1,021 780 72	41 46 4	86 32 11	293 677 41
welfare foods Social security benefits	56 65	2	_2	83 52	64 69	7 3	_ 3	89 59	71 72	9 4	_3	71 70
Finance and tax collection	113	1	tonida esta	49	121	5		62	141	6	and anithing	66
Records, registrations and surveys	17	_	_	-4	19	1	_	-5	19	1		-4
Other services	71	_	35	-80	81	1	31	-101	90	3	28	-103
Total current expenditure on goods and services(4)	3,770	51	267	2,476	4,075	150	287	2,751	4,373	188	316	2,841
Central government Local authorities	2,049 1,721	23 28	75 192	1,972 504	2,158 1,917	64 86	72 215	2,216	2,303 2,070	82 106	70 246	2,287 554

1966 1967 1968 619 628 664

(3) Including housing, land drainage and coast protection, and miscellaneous local government services.
(4) Total wages and salaries and employers' contributions paid by public authorities are as follows (£ million):

Total as shown in this table Wages and salaries, etc. in trading services:	3,770	4,075	4,373
Central government	53	57	59
Wages and salaries, etc. charged to capital accounts:	266	288	303
Central government Local authorities Other wages and salaries from a 1.1	6	6	6
Other wages and salaries financed by grants	57	68	69
Total	4,155	4,497	4,813

 ⁽¹⁾ Including employers' contributions to national insurance, superannuation, etc.
 (2) The columns Wages, salaries, etc. include the following amounts for Forces' pay in cash and kind and the related employers' contributions (£ million):

Analysis of current expenditure on goods and services

TABLE 44 (continued)

£ million

The state of the s	ALC:	19	69			19	70			19	71	- College E
	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	Selective employ- ment tax	Imputed	Other pay- ments (net)	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	Selective employ- ment tax	Imputed	Other pay- ments (net)	Wages, salaries, etc. (1)	Selective employ- ment tax	Imputed	Other pay- ments (net)
Defence: Military defence(2) Civil defence	1,068	27 —	8	1,162	1,238	36	7	1,137	1,423	27	6	1,282
External relations	40	1	_	68	43	2	_	70	49	1	100	73
Roads and public lighting	157	14	-	95	161	15	_	102	186	10	1 27 -00 27	112
Transport and communication	15	1	-	-5	24	1		-9	33	1	mo d v oor	-5
Employment services	49	3	-	5	58	3	-	5	70	3	-	12
Other industry and trade	33	2	11-	110	33	2	18 -	111	46	_	-	149
Research	57	3	8	42	65	4	7	53	76	3	7	50
Agriculture, fishing and food	44	2	1	15	46	4	2	14	50	2	2	20
Housing and environmental services: Sewerage and refuse disposal Public health services Parks, pleasure grounds, etc. Other(3)	93 34	8 3 5 13	80 2 15 50	43 4 5 -70	100 38 64 215	9 3 5 15	92 2 17 60	50 9 4 -103	118 44 75 264	6 3 4 11	102 3 18 68	56 10 4 -122
Libraries, museums and arts	36	2	4	25	41	3	5	26	48	2	5	30
Prisons Parliament and law courts	239 30 39	11 2 3	12 - 2	50 13 25	257 37 42	12 2 4	14 — 2	63 16 33	310 45 51	8 2 2	15 - 3	73 17 44
Fire service	51	4	5	10	59	4	5	3	63	3	5	3
Social services: Education National health service Personal social services School meals, milk, and	1,103 825 109	66 61 10	95 35 16	315 695 59	1,238 972 140	76 69 9	108 39 18	353 776 64	1,448 1,117 169	52 53 6	119 43 21	414 883 70
welfare foods Social security benefits	78 78	14 5	_3	66 76	87 93	16 6	_3	69 87	96 108	12 5	_4	42 99
Finance and tax collection	152	10		75	177	13	_	70	205	10	_	80
Records, registrations and surveys	21	1		-3	25	2		-4	35	1		-5
Other services	100	4	26	-105	112	4	30	-79	123	4	37	-61
Total current expenditure on goods and services(4) of which Central government Local authorities	4,682 2,450 2,232	275 112 163	362 71 291	2,781 2,231 550	5,366 2,858 2,508	319 135 184	411 76 335	2,926 2,338 588	6,254 3,301 2,953	231 104 127	458 86 372	3,335 2,692 643

1969 1970 1971 673 792 890

(3) Including housing, land drainage and coast protection, and miscellaneous local government services.
(4) Total wages and salaries and employers' contributions paid by public authorities are as follows (£ million):

	1969	1970	1971
Total as shown in this table	4,682	5,366	6,254
Wages and salaries, etc. in trading services:			
Central government	64	71	64
Local authorities	316	432	502
Wages and salaries, etc. charged to capital accounts:			
Central government	7	7	11
Local authorities	78	84	91
Other wages and salaries financed by grants	3	2	4
Total	5,150	5,962	6,926

⁽¹⁾ Including employers' contributions to national insurance, superannuation, etc.
(2) The columns Wages, salaries, etc. include the following amounts for Forces' pay in cash and kind and the related employers' contributions (£ million):

Housing subsidies

			Housin	ng subsi	idies				Chan	Prince) 2-	£ million
TABLE 45	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Central government	1701										
Permanent housing: Subsidies to local authorities Subsidies to public corporations	76 6	78 7	80 7	83	94	103 10	117 12	134 13	155 15	189 17	219 23
Temporary housing: Annuities less Receipts from local authorities	-8 -2	2 -1	-1	-1		-1	-1		-1	amadinis	
Emergency housing: net payments to local authorities	3	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Net subsidies	91	88	88	92	103	113	129	147	170	207	243
Local authorities									LUCT TO LA	olinitz.er	
Emergency housing: Expenses less rents, etc. less Receipts from central govern- ment	3 -3	2 -2	2 -2	2 -2	1 -1	1 -1	1 -1	1 -1	1 -1	1 -1	1 -1
Other housing: Loan charges	252	270	287	317	363	410	453	520	605	668	704
Payments to central government for temporary houses Other expenses less Rents, etc.	2 91 -227	1 100 -254	1 112 -282	1 116 -307	1 137 -341	1 150 -384	1 171 -434	1 186 -489	200 -536	233 -596	303 -662
less Subsidies from central govern- ment	-76	-78	-80	-83	-94	-103	-117	-134	-155	-189	-219
Net subsidies	42	39	38	44	66	74	74	84	115	116	126
Combined public authorities	133	127	126	136	169	187	203	231	285	323	369

Taxes on expenditure and subsidies Allocation by type of expenditure

TABLE 46										maile.	£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Taxes on consumers' expenditure (1) less Subsidies on consumers' expendi-	3,015	3,239	3,376	3,672	4,102	4,546	4,811	5,424	6,027	6,424	6,729
ture (1)	-512	- 527	-490	-444	-492	-489	-619	-678	-690	-701	-783
Taxes on expenditure less subsidies on: Consumers' expenditure Public authorities' current expendi-	2,503	2,712	2,886	3,228	3,610	4,057	4,192	4,746	5,337	5,723	5,946
ture on goods and services Gross domestic capital formation Export of goods and services	143 272 123	155 275 137	158 272 151	183 343 174	209 419 160	306 483 179	412 461 102	486 535 245	612 639 386	678 718 450	629 733 466
Total taxes on expenditure less subsidies	3,041	3,279	3,467	3,928	4,398	5,025	5,167	6,012	6,974	7,569	7,774

⁽¹⁾ An analysis by category of expenditure is given in Table 25.

Taxes on income, national insurance contributions and taxes on capital Allocation by sector, type of income (1), and property

TABLE 47		1000					HOME TO				£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Taxes on income and national insur- ance, etc. contributions		Tues I				Table	2000			in market	
Taxes on income (payments): Personal sector Companies Public corporations	2,249 682 12	2,458 842 8	2,510 733 6	2,801 572 6	3,344 491 3	3,733 500 31	4,115 820 9	4,580 915 17	5,203 940 15	5,935 1,215 7	6,509 1,179 8
Non-residents	1 072	1 107	1 303	149	1 605	186	148	136	2 244	276	2,828
National insurance, etc. contributions	1,072	1,197 4,652	1,303 4,688	1,444	1,685	1,804	7,001	2,165	2,244 8,574	2,654	10,789
Total	4,150	4,032	4,000	4,972	5,709	6,254	7,001	7,813	0,374	10,007	10,709
Income tax: Wages and salaries Pay of H.M. Forces Rent of land and buildings Dividends, interest and trading	1,222 24 134	1,355 26 145	1,385 28 165	1,563 31 140	1,928 37 150	2,296 40 172	2,409 46 112	2,809 46 117	3,260 51 117	3,862 82 141	4,389 104 153
Current grants from public author-	1,148	1,281	1,197	1,153	1,198	1,547	1,027	1,081	1,215	1,285	1,372
ities to personal sector	37	39	48	54	61	65	72	115	130	150	166
Surtax: Wages and salaries Rent of land and buildings Dividends, interest and trading incomes	71 4 121	89 5 136	} 174	179	184	210	279	220	240	266	286
Profits tax, excess profits tax, excess profits levy, etc. Corporation tax less Overspill relief	317	379	388	408	466	135 23 -38	39 1,166 -58	12 1,285 -37	1,373 -60	1,676 -31	1,518 -28
National insurance, etc. contributions: Employers: Civilian employees H.M. Forces	492 11	547 10	601 10	671 11	818 13	892 14	952 14	1,082 17	1,124 17	1,336 20	1,433
Employees (2): Civilians	508 9	574 11	621 12	686 13	770 15	804 15	846 15	955 18	986 17	1,170	1,245
persons	52	55	59	63	69	79	82	93	100	107	108
Total	4,150	4,652	4,688	4,972	5,709	6,254	7,001	7,813	8,574	10,087	10,789
Taxes on capital										-Diameri	Troque
Personal sector	259 —	266	308	308	289	313	332 7	421 18	577 61	564 96	571 112
Total	259	266	308	308	290	315	339	439	638	660	683
Death duties: Land and buildings Government and local authority		27	38	40	41	44	47	64	60	56	60
Company and overseas securities Other interest-bearing securities Other forms of property	136	35 138 15 51	36 158 18 58	35 155 19 58	32 133 21 60	34 141 24 65	32 147 25 66	33 178 29 70	32 176 32 72	33 172 39 78	35 183 42 84
Total	259	266	308	307	287	308	317	374	372	378	404
Taxes on capital gains Betterment levy Special charge	005	表列 (E.B.)	IRANEL DAME	1	3	7	22	53 6 6	169 19 78	251 26 5	265 14
Total	259	266	308	308	290	315	339	439	638	660	683

In the case of taxpayers receiving income of more than one type the allocation of tax can only be arbitrary. The allocation procedure is described in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, page 328.
 Including payments in lieu of graduated contributions.

THE PUBLIC SECTOR

Current and capital accounts

TABLE 48	T-MATE	Inh A) homeon	<u> </u>	opi mai	Harry States	1	1	1		£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Receipts	THE .		hann h	1 10.	TARE	Lines	1061				
Current account								The same of	dien i	and an income	
Taxes on income	3,066	3,447	3,379	3,522	4,021	4,419	5,083	5,631	6,315	7,426	7,953
Taxes on expenditure: Central government Local authorities(1)	2,796 831	2,963 916	3,013 1,014	3,341 1,096	3,734 1,228	4,211 1,374	4,501 1,467	5,358 1,548	6,164 1,669	6,603 1,823	6,610 2,087
National insurance, etc. contributions	1,072	1,197	1,303	1,444	1,685	1,804	1,909	2,165	2,244	2,654	2,828
Gross trading surplus: Central government and local authorities Public corporations	96 639	71 745	78 840	91 924	96 988	87 1,042	88 1,132	108 1,363	118 1,452	136 1,388	163 1,441
Rent	491	527	555	603	676	750	816	916	1,063	1,184	1,272
Interest and dividends, etc.: Central government Local authorities Public corporations	88 40 48	96 48 49	92 52 35	94 59 39	115 70 48	117 84 55	119 92 57	92 96 79	104 103 92	130 105 99	178 109 98
Total	9,167	10,059	10,361	11,213	12,661	13,943	15,264	17,356	19,324	21,548	22,739
Capital account		4155	10.7	27		54 10 J					
Current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation and additions to tax and interest reserves	919	1,290	1,085	1,439	1,834	2,261	2,112	2,979	4,218	5,048	4,313
Taxes on capital	259	266	308	308	290	315	339	439	638	660	683
Capital transfers from private sector	7	7	8	9	9	9	10	28	20	24	27
Proceeds of iron and steel disposals	87	10	22	18	100-	1945-	100	_	_	Made	_
Receipts from certain pension 'funds' (net)	52	46	68	56	52	64	61	72	51	58	84
Adjustment for purchase tax	-12	-15	-7	-14	1	-7	-37	-74	-25	-59	-4
Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits	_	_				530.1		_	-28	-160	-242
Import deposits	_	-	_	_	_	-	-	76	462	-257	-281
Borrowing requirement(2): Central government(3) Local authorities Public corporations	233 498 -27	-65 602 10	153 636 43	434 566 -5	610 561 17	530 412 17	1,155 697 -23	757 587 -30	-1,112 595 41	-678 527 149	562 659 151
Public sector	704	547	832	995	1,188	959	1,829	1,314	-476	-2	1,372
Other financial transactions (net)(2): Central government Local authorities Public corporations	_ 02	57 38 -16	85 24 -50	15 109 34	-40 -11 -28	-20 -7 33	71 -43	76 29 -224	-60 45 -162	-26 -76 -115	191 -200 -129
Total	2,059	2,230	2,375	2,969	3,295	3,607	4,342	4,715	4,683	5,095	5,814
Combined current and capital account										at Minter	
Receipts on current account	9,167	10,059	10,361	11,213	12,661	13,943	15,264	17,356	19,324	21,548	22,739
Receipts on capital account	1,140	940	1,290	1,530	1,461	1,346	2,230	1,736	465	47	1,501
Total	10,307	10,999			7,.02	-,-	_,	,,,,,,		5,38,18	24,240

⁽¹) Rates.
(²) See notes on page 107.
(³) For further detail see Table 38.

CA H. HEAT

Current and capital accounts

TABLE 48 (continued) Left 1962 1963 1964 1965 1967 1968 1969 1970													
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971		
Expenditure								na stop	The Party	i inageo	Total Control		
Current account						The same of	- The state of the	MINDON IN	See Line	and the control	A Personal		
Current expenditure on goods and services(1)	4,579	4,910	5,170	5,498	6,034	6,564	7,263	7,718	8,100	9,022	10,278		
Subsidies	586	600	560	509	564	560	801	894	859	857	923		
Current grants to personal sector Current grants abroad	1,708 118	1,881 121	2,128 132	2,250 163	2,596 177	2,825 180	3,189 188	3,679 179	3,935 177	4,331 172	4,781 200		
Total current expenditure excluding debt interest	6,991	7,512	7,990	8,420	9,371	10,129	11,441	12,470	13,071	14,382	16,182		
Interest and dividends: Central government Local authorities Public corporations	893 211 153	874 240 143	930 269 87	937 320 97	968 380 108	1,036 429 88	1,105 468 138	1,240 554 113	1,280 643 112	1,298 702 118	1,384 735 125		
Total current expenditure	8,248	8,769	9,276	9,774	10,827	11,682	13,152	14,377	15,106	16,500	18,426		
Balance: current surplus before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation and additions to tax and interest reserves	919	1,290	1,085	1,439	1,834	2,261	2,112	2,979	4,218	5,048	4,313		
Total	9,167	10,059	10,361	11,213	12,661	13,943	15,264	17,356	19,324	21,548	22,739		
Capital account			DE 184	200	2 19	Ch. No.	D - (C)		100 0020	1 1 3 111			
Gross domestic fixed capital formation: Central government Local authorities Public corporations	219 702 905	216 814 933	227 883 1,024	284 1,112 1,187	301 1,185 1,293	335 1,345 1,453	395 1,568 1,659	458 1,712 1,622	486 1,752 1,484	576 1,821 1,613	606 2,010 1,859		
Total	1,826	1,963	2,134	2,583	2,779	3,133	3,622	3,792	3,722	4,010	4,475		
Increase in value of stocks: Central government Public corporations	7 9	12	10 -31	17 12	23	25 41	27 82	35 24	42 -23	43 58	51 124		
Capital grants to private sector	90	113	121	148	180	187	407	654	792	743	851		
Net lending to private sector Net lending to overseas governments Drawings from United Kingdom subscriptions to international	155 -48	89 47	83 52	130 65	225 50	83 64	111 61	88 60	52 52	127 83	97 93		
lending bodies Other net lending and investment	1	1	7	7	16	10	18	7	20	12	17		
abroad	19	3	-1	6	7	11	9	-1	13	13	27		
Cash expenditure on company securities, etc. (net)	1 1.			1	10	53	5	56	13	6	79		
Total capital expenditure	2,059	2,230	2,375	2,969	3,295	3,607	4,342	4,715	4,683	5,095	5,814		
Combined current and capital account	13411							spent NV	in, -				
Current expenditure excluding debt interest Capital expenditure	6,991 2,059	7,512 2,230	7,990 2,375	8,420 2,969	9,371 3,295	10,129 3,607	11,441 4,342	12,470 4,715	13,071 4,683	14,382 5,095	16,182 5,814		
Total public expenditure excluding debt interest(2)	9,050	9,742	10,365	11,389	12,666	13,736	15,783	17,185	17,754	19,477	21,996		
Debt interest	1,257	1,257	1,286	1,354	1,456	1,553	1,711	1,907	2,035	2,118	2,244		
Total public expenditure	10,307	10,999	11,651	12,743	14,122	15,289	17,494	19,092	19,789	21,595	24,240		

⁽¹⁾ Excluding current expenditure on goods and services on operating accounts of public corporations and other public enterprises.
(2) For functional analysis see Table 49.

TABLE 49											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Military defence:	and I	and the same		and the		Sur II					
Current expenditure on goods and		1 001	1.010	1 020	2.062	2,150	2,335	2,370	2,265	2.410	2 720
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	1,683	1,804	1,849	1,928	2,062					2,418	2,738
Increase in value of stocks	25 -1	20	19	25	18	29	41 2	45	20	25	26
Current grants to personal sector Current grants abroad	15	14	22	35	23	24	28	21	13	12	17
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to overseas governments	1	1					4	3	2 2	2	3 4
Total	1,725	1,840	1,892	1,990	2,105	2,207	2,412	2,443	2,304	2,465	2,793
Civil defence:								- Bonton	12 21 12 12	o insue	LINOT A
Current expenditure on goods and	1.5		10	10	10	10	21	11		7	
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	15	16	18	19	19	19	21	11	9	1	1
Increase in value of stocks	-10^{2}	- 7	-8	$-\frac{3}{3}$	-1	$-\frac{3}{2}$	$-\frac{2}{2}$	-4	$-1 \\ -5$	-1	-1
Total	7	13	13	19	22	20	21	8	3	6	6
External relations:								noine s	STEEL S	mus :	aralin.
Current expenditure on goods and	60	65	71	77	87	91	98	106	100	115	122
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-		05		11		91	96	100	109	115	123
Current grants abroad	90	90	91	102	112	108	112	113	111	108	132
Net lending to overseas governments Drawings from United Kingdom	-48	47	52	65	50	64	57	57	50	81	89
subscriptions to international lend- ing bodies	1	1	7	7	16	10	18	7	20	12	17
Other net lending and investment abroad	22	11	2	7	9	10	7	10	13	10	19
Total	127	215	225	262	278	286	296	296	305	329	385
Roads and public lighting:									-		-
Current expenditure on goods and			con I						Plants To	Maria .	May 2
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	159	173	198	202	217	236	262	257	266	278	308
tion	117	146	164	214	219	236	300	354	423	516	528
Total	276	319	362	416	436	472	562	611	689	794	836
Transport and communication:							AS - 14	THE PARTY			
Current expenditure on goods and services	12	12	12	1.1					ai sa		
Gross domestic fixed capital formation: Central government and local	13	13	13	14	9	9	12	12	11	16	29
authorities	61	27	30	33	38	50	50	56	45	65	64
Public corporations	297 15	296 -14	298 -9	337	379	384 16	470	568	534	650 11	786 31
Subsidies	140	143	137	125	156	159	186	182	139	128	118
Net lending to private sector		100 -	100	000 -			1	2	3	3	4
Other net lending and investment				-	-	-	_	1	1	1	2
Cash expenditure on company	_	-	-	-	-	1	2	4	6	7	8
securities, etc. (net)	Ab. No.		dec.	1	9	16	4	49	3	2	-5
Total	526	465	469	507	597	637	737	875	758	886	1,040
Employment services:		PET LE	V231	DOLL TO THE	100.01		PAGE 1				A TOD
Current expenditure on goods and services	26	27	20	20	985		VALUE OF THE PARTY			- Aller	1344
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	20	27	28	30	36	39	44	49	57	66	85
Subsidies Current grants to personal and	_		_	_	_	1	1	1	1	1	3
Current grants abroad	5	5	6	7	8	29	48	61	52	55	76
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to private sector	=	=	=	_	1		1	1	1	1	1 7
Total	31	32	34	37	45	71	95	115	117	129	178
					45	/1	,,	113	44.6	127	

TABLE 49 (continued)			1			1	1	1	1		£ millio
TENN THE PROPERTY SEEF	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Other industry and trade:								HOLVEST	District St.	THE DAY	COLUMN TO STATE OF THE STATE OF
Current expenditure on goods and										No Hills	11000
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	26	32	35	36	52	66	95	123	145	146	195
tion:								pital for	the second of		70%
authorities	21	21	20	28	34	36	41	42	55	59	66
Public corporations Increase in value of stocks	578 -6	601	683 -23	796 16	854	1,001	1,106	959	845 -36	857 47	971
Subsidies	2	2	3	4	2	3	163	220	187	165	131
Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector	8	13	12	19	24	28	238	461	608	537	607
Net lending to private sector Other net lending and investment	36	47	25	4	44	16	20	61	47	49	22
abroad	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-15	-6	-4	000-
Cash expenditure on company securities, etc. (net)					1	37	1	7	10	4	84
Total	665	733	755	903	1,012	1,212	1,735	1,884	1,861	1,871	2,178
Research:											
Current expenditure on goods and services	77	85	90	88	84	90	96	100	110	129	136
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-							21		-	20	la la
Subsidies	23	23	21	21	19	20	19	25	24	28	28
Current grants to personal sector Current grants abroad	9	11	12	15	18 22	21 26	27	31	32	39	45
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to private sector	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	2 2	4 3	22 5 3	5 3	22 5 6	6	7 5
Total	114	125	130	137	147	166	173	182	202	232	243
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and food:	15	Material	au F			10					
Current expenditure on goods and services	36	38	39	42	44	46	52	61	62	66	74
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	30	30	39	42	44	40	52	61	62	66	74
Increase in value of stocks	18	18	19	20	5 24	25	30	32	36	39	9
Subsidies Current grants to personal sector	311	328	294	244	237	208	247	257	240	232	295
Current grants abroad	-	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	1	1	1
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to private sector	16	17	17	18	19	19	26	36	41	47	67
Total	394	411	378	334	335	309	367	398	392	399	498
Housing and environmental services:		111	370	351		307	307	370	372	377	470
Housing:								a la		A BRAND	moit .
Current expenditure on goods and			-						Nethanks	OF STREET	Milany
Gross domestic fixed capital formation:	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	1	2
Local authorities	273	321	365	495	545	655	743	783	795	752	719
Public corporations Subsidies	133	28 127	31 126	136	49 169	56 187	203	70 231	81 285	84 323	76 369
Current grants to personal sector		_	_	_	-	_	_	5	9	13	16
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to private sector	13	14 38	14 55	16 122	17 176	15 61	16 84	16 20	15 -7	23 63	32 54
Total	555	529	592	814	957	975	1,112	1,127	1,180	1,259	1,268
Water, sewerage and refuse disposal:											
								ens ries	1 - cas - 115	ib may s	
Current expenditure on goods and services	95	103	111	122	138	155	178	197	224	251	282
Gross domestic fixed capital formation	96	112	111	126	127	146	170	203	207		
	-0	112	111	120	121	140	170	203	207	233	287

ARLE 49 (continued) £ million

TABLE 49 (continued)			1				1007	1069	1060	1070	1071
1261 0261 4001 8561	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Housing and environmental services (continued): Public health services:								na asoni	: shart	DESCRIPTION ALL	ani risiri
Current expenditure on goods and services	21	23	25	27	30	34	38	38	43	52	60
Gross domestic fixed capital for- mation	3	3 2	3 3	3 4	2 4	5	5	6	6	3	7
Total	25	28	31	34	36	41	49	46	51	58	70
Land drainage and coast protection:	07.P	2.0		91		ET I		701008	encorog or sag	grants to	Curren
Current expenditure on goods and services	10	11	12	12	14	15	16	20	18	21	25
Gross domestic fixed capital for- mation	9	11	9	9	9	10	11	13	13	15	17
Total	19	22	21	21	23	25	27	33	31	36	42
Parks, pleasure grounds, etc.:											
Current expenditure on goods and services	38	42	44	48	55	61	70	77	84	90	101
Gross domestic fixed capital for-	10	11	14	18	20	17	12	18	22	26	36
Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector	_	_	=	_			1			2	2
Total	48	53	58	66	75	79	83	96	107	121	141
Miscellaneous local government services:				137					22.21.57	THE REAL PROPERTY.	POL BOSS INVEST
Current expenditure on goods and services	59	68	77	83	98	116	138	143	142	165	194
Gross domestic fixed capital for- mation Net lending to private sector	37	42	54	77	91 1	89	99	101	101	101	137
Total	96	110	131	160	190	206	238	245	245	270	335
Total housing and environmental services	934	957	1,055	1,343	1,546	1,627	1,857	1,947	2,045	2,228	2,425
Libraries, museums and arts:				81	71				a starte	at must a	Lasigna, V
Current expenditure on goods and services	28	31	34	38	44	50	56	60	67	75	85
Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector	3	3	4	5 4 —	5 5	5 7 —	6 7 1	7 6 1	7 10 1	7 11 1	12 13 2
Total	34	38	42	47	54	62	70	74	85	94	112
Police:										: notice	
Current expenditure on goods and services	146	154	168	181	198	228	257	281	312	346	406
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	10	12	13	16	19	21	24	25	24	25	32
Total	156	166	181	197	217	249	281	306	336	371	438
Prisons:							1				
Current expenditure on goods and								Larry Lb	san la hui	SERVE WO	Namer.
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	18	19	22	26	26	29	34	39	45	55	64
Total	4	5	6	6	5	5	5	9	11	65	76
Total	22	24	28	32	31	34	39	48	56	65	70

congress on submissions deals

Analysis of public expenditure

TABLE 49 (continued)

£ million

	~ mino											
The state of the s	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	
Parliament and law courts:												
Current expenditure on goods and services	24	25	28	34	38	43	52	58	69	81	100	
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	eri _	818_	901 _	807	50-		00	Con shoot	no sint	Harriso In	1	
Current grants to personal sector	2	2	2	2	H88, 1	1	1	700-	2	1	1	
Total	26	27	30	36	38	44	53	58	71	82	102	
Fire service:	6.72	HOUS !!	OUR P	SEE A	TORA I	100.1	2001				or Islair	
Current expenditure on goods and	32	36	20	42	47	-	50		70	in year bear	uns !!	
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	52		39	43	47	52	58	63	70	71	74	
tion	3	6	6	6	6	6	7	8	9	9	11	
Total	37	42	45	49	53	58	65	71	79	80	85	
Social services:		081	201			181	PE.				Live S	
Education:		3 70.						TARRAN SI	LANGE EN	Usy ign	11/6.00	
Current expenditure on goods and services	719	807	882	945	1,061	1,185	1,310	1,441	1,579	1,775	2,033	
Gross domestic fixed capital formation	136	161	159	180	171	185	234	263	270	289	352	
Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector	120 36	150 54	176 64	209 81	248 103	291 105	321 102	362 115	394 103	438 108	506 114	
Net lending to private sector	1	1	1	2	2	2	3	1	103	1	1	
Total	1,012	1,173	1,282	1,417	1,585	1,768	1,970	2,182	2,347	2,611	3,006	
National health service:			183119					- 1. Foos	The Tree	bosto i		
Current expenditure on goods and			91	811	24.7	Ch I	Se	Service 1	orte White	and the		
Gross domestic fixed capital form-	879	909	968	1,047	1,176	1,290	1,417	1,535	1,616	1,856	2,096	
Current grants to personal sector	45	55	60	76	91	102	125	143	136	150	181	
Current grants abroad	-3	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	
Total		071	3	3	3	4	4	4	3	3	3	
Personal social services:	930	971	1,035	1,130	1,275	1,401	1,552	1,688	1,762	2,019	2,291	
Current expenditure on goods and										3-9		
services	55	61	66	73	83	96	114	128	194	231	266	
Gross domestic fixed capital formation	9	11	13	15	18	18	21	24	29	30	37	
Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector		3	3	3	3	4	4	5	4	4	5	
Total	66	75	82	92	105	119	140	158	228	266	309	
School meals, milk and welfare foods:				163	132			10105	Danet Danet	and program of		
Current expenditure on goods and services	92	98	104	114	127	143	163	154	161	175	154	

9,050 9,742 1,257 1,350 1,350 1,350 1,350 1,557 1,007 2,035 2,110 2,057 2,056

10,999 [11,651 [12,743 [14,122 [15,289 [17,494 [19,092 [12,189 [21,595

£ million

		Zillet J	or L								£ million
ABLE 49 (continued)	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Social services (continued): Social security benefits:									nu-ovil		
Current expenditure on goods and services Current grants to personal sector(1) Current grants abroad	79 1,539 10	88 1,645 11	92 1,884 12	106 1,981 12	109 2,284 15	118 2,442 17	131 2,748 21	3,171 23	159 3,388 24	186 3,712 25	4,068 27
	1,628	1,744	1,988	2,099	2,408	2,577	2,900	3,340	3,571	3,923	4,307
Total social services	3,728	4,061	4,491	4,852	5,500	6,008	6,725	7,522	8,069	8,994	10,067
Finance and tax collection:	1							and the second		Dundala Sa	STATE OF THE STATE
Current expenditure on goods and services	120	126	128	132	150	163	188	213	237	260	295
Gross domestic fixed capital formation Current grants to personal sector Capital grants to private sector	18	54	30	17	18	17	17 2	20	18	16	15
Total	139	181	158	149	168	180	208	234	256	276	311
Records, registrations and surveys:										142	
Current expenditure on goods and services	10	10	12	12	13	13	15	16	19	23	31
War damage and Town and Country Planning compensation:				903				101001		THE PARTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY AND ADDRESS	
Capital grants to private sector	10	7	5	3	3	2	2	3	2	1	120/7-
Other services:	OULT;	10 - 17 1	1,305	tibe !	25		100				NOT.
Current expenditure on goods and services	58	45	16	18	16	26	12	18	25	67	10.
Gross domestic fixed capital formation: Central government Public corporations	26 7	31	31 11	35 7	40 7	41 7	45 10	48 14 5	45 14	53 12	6
Current grants to personal sector	1	=	4	4	3 2	3 2	-3 5 1	7 2	11	14	1
Net lending to private sector Other net lending and investment	-	1	1	1	-	-	_	-	10 × 10 × 10	L'ASSTELLA	The same
abroad	-3	-8	-3	-1	-2	M	100 -	_			101
Total	89	76	60	64	66	79	70	94	105	152	192
Total public expenditure:								To stoke the	BO MANA	Depte In	
Current expenditure on goods and services	4,579	4,910	5,170	5,498	6,034	6,564	7,263	7,718	8,100	9,022	10,278
Gross domestic fixed capital forma- tion	1,826 16	1,963	2,134 -21	2,583	2,779	3,133	3,622 109	3,792 59	3,722 19	4,010 101	4,47
Subsidies Current grants to personal sector	586 1,708	1,881	560 2,128	509 2,250	564 2,596	560 2,825	801 3,189	894 3,679	859 3,935	857 4,331	92 4,78
Current grants abroad	118	121	132	163	177	180	188	179 654	177 792	172 743	20 85
Capital grants to private sector Net lending to private sector Net lending to overseas governments Drawings from United Kingdom	155 -48	113 89 47	121 83 52	148 130 65	180 225 50	187 83 64	407 111 61	88	52 52	127	9
subscriptions to international lend- ing bodies			7	7	16	10	18	7	20	12	1
Other net lending and investment		1		-			9	1	13	13	2
Cash expenditure on company securities, etc. (net)	19	3	-1	1	10	53	5	56	13	6	75
Total public expenditure excluding debt interest Debt interest	9,050	9,742 1,257	10,365 1,286	11,389	12,666 1,456	13,736 1,553	15,783 1,711	17,185 1,907	17,754 2,035	19,477 2,118	21,990
Total public expenditure	10,307	10,999	11,651	1,354	14,122	15,289	17,494	19,092	19,789	21,595	24,240

⁽¹⁾ For detail see Tables 37 and 40.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation at current and 1963 prices by sector

TABLE 50											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices			100 mm	EDE TO						7071253 1	
Private sector: Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings (1) Other new buildings and works, etc. (2)	454 1,124 500 771	401 1,101 512 814	412 1,109 533 806	516 1,306 655 895	504 1,493 674 954	501 1,606 644	546 1,621 684	687 1,776 736	756 2,011 671	909 2,322 685	932 2,321 845
Total	2,849	2,828	2,860	3,372	3,625	933 3,684	3,757	1,026	1,163	5 163	1,350
	2,047	2,020	2,000	3,372	3,023	3,004	3,737	4,225	4,601	5,163	5,448
Public sector: Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings (1) Other new buildings and works,	151 640 291	121 666 344	110 771 380	115 858 514	126 928 558	104 1,097 654	119 1,214 746	161 1,158 816	104 1,081 835	175 1,175 784	225 1,378 766
etc. (2)	744	832	873	1,096	1,167	1,278	1,543	1,657	1,702	1,876	2,106
Total	1,826	1,963	2,134	2,583	2,779	3,133	3,622	3,792	3,722	4,010	4,475
of which Public authorities Public corporations	921 905	1,030 933	1,110 1,024	1,396 1,187	1,486 1,293	1,680 1,453	1,963 1,659	2,170 1,622	2,238 1,484	2,397 1,613	2,616 1,859
Total	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923
At 1963 prices			es 71	828	012	504 FE	101			101-61	
Private sector: Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings (¹) Other new buildings and works, etc. (²)	434 1,172 541 809	386 1,127 531 819	412 1,109 533 806	529 1,283 636 887	495 1,397 636 921	482 1,455 585 873	520 1,464 610 854	626 1,551 637 935	666 1,700 552 1,005	751 1,834 520 1,004	712 1,686 594 989
Total	2,956	2,863	2,860	3,335	3,449	3,395	3,448	3,749	3,923	4,109	3,981
Public sector: Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings (¹) Other new buildings and works, etc. (²)	151 661 315 832	118 675 357 879	110 771 380 873	99 834 499 1,047	118 868 526	95 977 594 1,125	109 1,072 665		91 875 686 1,331	139 876 597 1,359	163 935 540 1,419
Total	1,959	2,029	I BY		131						
of which Public authorities Public corporations	1,018 941	1,079 950	1,110 1,024	1,339 1,140	1,374 1,213	1,488 1,303	3,161 1,690 1,471	3,196 1,817 1,379	2,983 1,776 1,207	2,971 1,764 1,207	1,785 1,272
Total	4,915	4,892	4,994	5,814	6,036	6,186	6,609	6,945	6,906	7,080	7,038

⁽¹⁾ Excluding existing dwellings and land.
(2) Including purchases less sales of land and existing buildings.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by sector and type of asset

XL CAPILL PORMALATION

Gross doi	nestie i		-P								£ million
TABLE 51	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Vehicles, ships and aircraft		TOO TO			198	2001					
Personal sector	107	94	101	115	115 389	116 385	114 432	127 560	135 621	148 761	153 779
Companies	347	307 104	311 90	401 94	104	79	91	128	72	130	163
Public corporations	133	104	,,,							"milton	
Central government: Trading	2	100 -	-		-	2	2	2	1	2	2
Non-trading	2	2	2	3	3	2	-	-		i innii	
Local authorities:	6	6	9	9	8	9	10	12	10	19	25
Non-trading	8	9	9	9	11	14	16	19	20	24	34
	605	522	522	631	630	605	665	848	860	1,084	1,157
Total	605	322	322	031	050		CVO.				
Plant and machinery	G-1-1-		as T		ort.	101	100	226	225	245	252
Personal sector	143	137	153	1,138	1,314	191 1,415	196 1,425	226 1,550	1,786	245 2,077	252 2,069
Companies Public corporations	981 528	964 575	956 680	769	839	991	1,092	1,019	935	1,011	2,069 1,177
Central government:	320	acr in the	TREE L	AGITY.		100	14	10	15	20	16
Trading	40	11	43	38	38	47	14	19 53	15 56	20 58	16 77
Non-trading Local authorities:	39	42	43	30	30	47	10	33	30		
Trading	7	9	8	10	9	9	12	12	10	15	19
Non-trading	26	29	31	38	36	43	50	55	65	71	89
Total	1,764	1,767	1,880	2,164	2,421	2,703	2,835	2,934	3,092	3,497	3,699
Dwellings(1)		110,0	- Eleye			1000					
Personal sector	482	487	510	628	649	621	659	713	644	655	812
Companies	18	25	23	27	25 46	23 52	25 62	23 68	27 78	30 81	33 73
Public corporations	25	27	31	43	40	32	02	00	10	01	10
Trading	EAL -	12 h	-	85 -	001 -	-	-	_	-	77	-
Non-trading	10	15	11	21	20	23	20	24	15	14	17
Local authorities: Trading	253	298	333	446	488	575	658	719	734	683	672
Non-trading	3	4	5	4	4	4	6	5	8	6	4
Total	791	856	913	1,169	1,232	1,298	1,430	1,552	1,506	1,469	1,611
Other new buildings and works	est.	Eu I	111		ora I		(2) (3)		prip 140	100 .07	Hay Y
Personal sector	140	156	181	208	221	217	222	245	264	284	325
Companies	543	580	556	644	698	683	667	721	842	901	915
Public corporations	222	222	220	271	305	342	422	415	401	382	444 472
Central government Local authorities	128 333	150 387	161 393	214 464	231 478	250 528	294 632	329 738	377 740	464 818	978
Total	1,366	1,495	1,511	1,801	1,933	2,020	2,237	2,448	2,624	2,849	3,136
	-,=00	-,	-,022	-,001	-,,,,,	-,020	_,,		-,		
Purchases less sales of land and exis- ting buildings	174,3,	701				Office II			1101101		
Personal sector	-17	-58	-72	-179	-163	-128	-67	-47	-83	- 64	58
Financial companies(2)	39	40	67	74	108	143	159	209	293	263	220
Property companies Other	33	53 43	76	120	25	10	-68	-64	-90	-81 -56	-168
Public corporations	-3	5	- 2	28 10	65	- 11	-7 -8	-38 -8	-63 -2	-30	2
Central government	-2	-4	1	5	3	6	19	31	21	18	21
Local authorities	66	72	95	132	151	163	184	152	165	185	189
Total	149	151	168	190	188	191	212	235	241	274	322
Property and the second										and the same of th	-

⁽¹⁾ Excluding existing dwellings and land.
(2) Including expenditure by life assurance and superannuation funds.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by sector and type of asset

TABLE 51 (continued)				La serie							£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
	EEV A					203	2003		THE REAL PROPERTY.	120073000	
All fixed assets	021	The Later	7.01	2007		155	300		90	WALL DIE	to galana
Personal sector	855 1,994 905	816 2,012 933	873 1,987 1,024	940 2,432 1,187	1,001 2,624 1,293	1,017 2,667 1,453	1,124 2,633 1,659	1,264 2,961 1,622	1,185 3,416 1,484	1,268 3,895	1,600 3,848
Central government:	703	755	1,024	1,107	1,275	1,433	1,039	1,022	1,404	1,613	1,859
Non-trading Local authorities:	61 158	29 187	23 204	25 259	25 276	304	38 357	42 416	39 447	47 529	48 558
Trading	353 349	407 407	448 435	594 518	655 530	786 559	877 691	917 795	931 821	921 900	909 1,101
Total	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923

Gross domestic fixed capital formation at current prices by type of asset

TABLE 52	ere II	Tree de	503 Y	logs !	1801	1321			ed late to	and Total divin	£ million
The second secon	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Buses and coaches Other road vehicles Railway rolling stock Ships Aircraft	23 324 81 144 33	27 292 66 116 21	29 325 48 92 28	29 390 41 130 41	29 408 48 105 40	29 419 34 105 18	28 430 25 146 36	32 474 30 226 86	29 528 17 243 43	38 567 21 360 98	44 591 20 387 115
Plant and machinery	1,764	1,767	1,880	2,164	2,421	2,703	2,835	2,934	3,092	3,497	3,699
Other new buildings and works Transfer costs of land and buildings	791 1,366 149	856 1,495 151	913 1,511 168	1,169 1,801 190	1,232 1,933 188	1,298 2,020 191	1,430 2,237 212	1,552 2,448 235	1,506 2,624 241	1,469 2,849 274	1,611 3,134 322
Total (1)	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923

⁽¹) Expenditure on repairs and maintenance to buildings and works, including conversions and improvements to dwellings, carried out by contractors and labour directly employed by the public sector in Great Britain (most of which is not included in gross domestic fixed capital formation) is estimated as follows (£ million): 1961 1962 1963 1965 1966 1967 1968 1964 1969 1970 1971 880 1,058 1,137 843 931 1,202 1,259 1,315 1,383 1,417

Gross domestic fixed capital formation at 1963 prices by type of asset

TABLE 53	255.1	OV.L.	tas I	EFI.	Exe II	9.00					£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Buses and coaches Other road vehicles Railway rolling stock, ships and aircraft	24 310 251	27 279 198	29 325 168	29 389 210	29 399 185	28 403 146	27 410 192	29 431 307	26 463 268	31 469 390	32 442 401
Plant and machinery	1,833	1,802	1,880	2,117	2,265	2,432	2,536	2,525	2,575	2,710	2,621
Other new buildings and works	856 1,479 162	888 1,545 153	913 1,511 168	1,135 1,749 185	1,162 1,824 172	1,179 1,834 164	1,275 1,994 175	1,344 2,121 188	1,238 2,156 180	1,117 2,169 194	1,134 2,208 200
Total	4,915	4,892	4,994	5,814	6,036	6,186	6,609	6,945	6,906	7,080	7,038

Gross domestic fixed capital formation at current prices by industry group

TABLE 54 Gross domest.	ic lixeu	Сарна	I IOIIII	icion ac	Curron						£ million
V-MWW	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	168	163	177	178	182	181	195	223	223	243	275
Mining and quarrying	106	99	90	102	107	121	140	121	122	141	153
Manufacturing	1,243	1,169	1,058	1,223	1,410	1,500	1,460	1,577(1)	1,845(1)	2,088	2,123
Construction	86	74	99	130	145	131	151	162(1)	158(1)	164	138
Gas, electricity and water	455	523	647	757	823	979	1,055	901	791	764	796
Transport and communication	507	447	433	518	549	567	685	874(1)	845(1)	1,116	1,263
Distributive trades	287	284	313	363	355	329	344	406	429	474	522
Other service industries	411	450	476	571	612	649	677	773(1)	913(1)	1,026	1,096
Dividlings	791	856	913	1,169	1,232	1,298	1,430	1,552	1,506	1,469	1,611
Social services	234	290	313	373	392	427	501	578	568	610	713
Other public services	238	285	307	381	409	444	529	615	682	804	911
Transfer costs of land and buildings	149	151	168	190	188	191	212	235	241	274	322
Transfer costs of failu and buildings	147	101	100		100						
Total	4,675	4,791	4,994	5,955	6,404	6,817	7,379	8,017	8,323	9,173	9,923

⁽¹⁾ Including an adjustment for the effect of a change in the rate of investment grants, see notes on pages 108 and 109.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation at 1963 prices by industry group

£ million TABLE 55 Agriculture, forestry and fishing Mining and quarrying Manufacturing 1,305 1,478 1,528(1) 1,594 1,196 1,058 1,198 1,347 1,358(1) 1,316 1,306 Construction 134(1) 142(1) Gas, electricity and water Transport and communication 700(1) 752(1) Distributive trades Other service industries 688(1) 783(1) Dwellings 1,134 1,135 1,238 1,117 1,162 1,179 1,275 1,344 Social services Other public services Transfer costs of land and buildings Total 4,915 7,038 4,892 4,994 7,080 5,814 6,906 6,036 6,609 6,945 6,186

⁽¹⁾ Including an adjustment for the effect of a change in the rate of investment grants, see notes on pages 108 and 109.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by industry and type of asset

TABLE 56

£ million Vehicles, ships and aircraft Agriculture Forestry Fishing Coal mining Other mining and quarrying Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco Coal and petroleum products Chemicals and allied industries Iron and steel Other metal manufacture Mechanical engineering Instrument engineering Electrical engineering
Shipbuilding and marine engineering Motor vehicles..... Aerospace equipment Other vehicles Metal goods not elsewhere specified Textiles Leather, leather goods, fur, clothing and footwear Paper, printing and publishing Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc. Rubber Timber, furniture, etc.

Other manufacturing Total manufacturing Construction Gas Electricity Water Railways Road passenger transport..... Shipping 215(1) 234(1) Harbours, docks and canals Air transport Postal, telephone and radio com-munications Wholesale distribution (2) Retail distribution Insurance, banking, finance and business services (2)
Other transport and services..... Dwellings Universities, colleges, etc. Other education Health services Personal social services Roads, etc. Sewerage, and land drainage..... Miscellaneous public services.... Total 1,084 1,157

⁽¹⁾ Including an adjustment for the effect of a change in the rate of investment grants; see notes on pages 108 and 109. (2) For the classification of leasing of industrial and office machinery, see notes on page 110.

CAPITAL FORMATION

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by industry and type of asset

(2) For the classification of leasing of industrial and office machinery, see notes on page 110.

⁽¹⁾ Including an adjustment for the effect of a change in the rate of investment grants; see notes on pages 108 and 109. Figures for individual industries within manufacturing have not been adjusted and their sum differs from the total for manufacturing.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by industry and type of asset

TABLE 56 (continued)

(2) Including public lighting and local authority car parks.

⁽¹⁾ For the classification of leasing of industrial and office machinery, see notes on page 110.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation by industry and type of asset

(2) For the classification of leasing of industrial and office machinery, see notes on page 110.
(3) Including public lighting and local authority car parks.

⁽¹⁾ Including an adjustment for the effect of a change in the rate of investment grants; see notes on pages 108 and 109. Figures for individual industries within manufacturing have not been adjusted and their sum differs from the total for manufacturing.

	Capital consumption by sector
TABLE 57	

TABLE 57	4		STATISTICS N	7 90111	MINERAC:	Innga					£ million
edition a	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Titer brer toel soel	Teer T	and I	1005	- 1361	1963	5961	mer				
Dwellings				-		1	-			-	-
Personal sector	190	202	214	225	238	252	263	276	297	326	359
Companies	. /	7	8	8	8	9	10	10	10	12	13
Public corporations	. 4	5	3	3	3	3	0 3	1	10	12	5
Central government	. 11	89	95	103	111	121	130	141	156	175	195
Local authorities	. 05	0)	, , ,	103		121	150		100	1112111	LIBERT ST
Total	295	308	325	345	366	392	414	440	478	529	585
	1		08	52	-1	52	500			2000	
Other fixed assets(1)											
	216	326	348	382	399	422	456	501	531	595	681
Personal sector	071	931	981	1,054	1,153	1,253	1,305	1,401	1,535	1,745	1.989
Companies		550	592	643	698	768	843	946	1,016	1,128	1,989 1,285
Public corporations	. 501	550		0.10							
Trading	. 42	25	24	25	26	24	23	24	26	30	34
Non-trading	2.9	41	45	48	52	57	62	67	74	83	94
Local authorities:	3.13	100				-	2000	72	70	02	104
Trading	. 47	49	52	55	58	62	152	72 167	78 184	209	104 240
Non-trading	. 94	103	112	121	130	141	153	107	104	209	240
Total	1,909	2,025	2,154	2,328	2,516	2,727	2,908	3,178	3,444	3,883	4,427
	1 255.6	2115	5111	872.5	OFLE	FILE C	Lac.				Tall of the
All fixed assets	-			-	-						
Parcanal cactor	506	528	562	607	637	674	719	777	828	921	1,040
Personal sector	0.70	938	989	1,062	1,161	1,262	1,315	1,411	1,546	1,757	2,002
Public corporations		555	597	649	704	775	851	955	1,026	1,140	1,298
Central government	0.4	71	72	76	81	84	88	95	104	117	133
Local authorities	224	241	259	279	299	324	349	380	418	477	539
Total	2,204	2,333	2,479	2,673	2,882	3,119	3,322	3,618	3,922	4,412	5,012

⁽¹⁾ Including transfer costs of land and buildings, wholly written off in the year incurred.

Capital consumption by type of asset

TABLE 58		ga		P • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	J - J F -	49.5	04.7		,		£ million
Toute and the second of the se	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices	SIV A	TALL TO	277,6	2 as		799,5	-08.5				
Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings Other buildings and works Transfer costs of land and buildings	422 907 295 431 149	440 966 308 468 151	444 1,041 325 501 168	474 1,125 345 539 190	507 1,243 366 578 188	540 1,372 392 624 191	565 1,467 414 664 212	620 1,611 440 712 235	668 1,755 478 780 241	742 1,994 529 873 274	842 2,287 585 976 322
Total	2,204	2,333	2,479	2,673	2,882	3,119	3,322	3,618	3,922	4,412	5,012
At 1963 prices Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings Other buildings and works Transfer costs of land and buildings	407 943 318 467 162	424 986 319 485 153	444 1,041 325 501 168	470 1,101 335 523 185	491 1,162 346 545 172	511 1,234 357 567 164	530 1,313 368 592 175	556 1,382 381 617 188	581 1,458 393 642 180	604 1,531 403 664 194	626 1,607 414 689 200
Total	2,297	2,367	2,479	2,614	2,716	2,833	2,978	3,124	3,254	3,396	3,536

Capital consumption by industry group

TABLE 59		il ner		A SMALL	That I	Soil !					£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
tt maione				255	135	262	BOT			10,000	LINE YEN
At current prices	116	120	125	131	138	147	153	163	172	188	208
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	80	82	85	87	90	96	102	110	118	131	148
Mining and quarrying	556	592	625	665	726	785	822	890	967	1,092	1,241
Manufacturing	40	43	46	52	60	66	73	83	92	103	117
Construction		264	290	322	359	408	445	482	521	598	669
Gas, electricity and water	245	351	360	382	404	427	443	482	521	582	672
Transport and communication	341	331	300	302	404	72,	113	102	321	362	072
Distributive trades and other service industries	243	269	289	319	355	392	425	476	527	592	680
Dwellings	295	308	325	345	366	392	414	440	478	529	585
Social and other public services	139	153	166	180	196	215	233	257	285	323	370
Transfer costs of land and buildings	149	151	168	190	188	191	212	235	241	274	322
Total	2,204	2,333	2,479	2,673	2,882	3,119	3,322	3,618	3,922	4,412	5,012
t 1963 prices	With the	LTA	1811	Carl I	SCO	852				i ibrook	Arrostos;
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	118	121	125	129	132	135	139	143	145	147	149
Mining and quarrying	83	85	85	86	87	90	94	99	101	104	106
Manufacturing	580	604	625	652	679	708	738	769	804	839	869
Construction	40	42	46	52	57	62	68	73	79	83	85
Gas, electricity and water	255	268	290	314	338	364	393	410	425	440	454
Transport and communication	346	351	360	370	378	387	396	409	432	448	476
Distributive trades and other service industries	247	267	289	315	341	368	396	427	456	486	515
Dwellings	318	319	325	335	346	357	368	381	393	403	414
Social and other public services	148	157	166	176	186	198	211	225	239	252	268
Transfer costs of land and buildings	162	153	168	185	172	164	175	188	180	194	200

Net domestic fixed capital formation by sector

ГΔ	RI	R	60	
			UU	

TABLE 60	ME KALL	omestic	HOUSE	trioi res	regan ba	stic ilk	eurob 3				£ millio
BOTHER LAND TO THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE PERSON OF THE PERS	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
	Test	5041	EAVE	1964	0001	1982	100				
Owellings										Man June	
Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government Local authorities	292 11 21 -1 173	285 18 22 10 213	296 15 26 8 243	403 19 37 18 347	411 17 40 17 381	369 14 45 20 458	396 15 54 17 534	437 13 59 20 583	347 16 68 11 586	329 18 69 10 514	453 20 60 12 481
Total	496	548	588	824	866	906	1,016	1,112	1,028	940	1,026
Other fixed assets	ora i	1778	Lab	3.5.6	720	020	012		robra sa	in Salas	16 p. 100
Personal sector	57 1,105 379	1,056 356	15 983 401	-70 1,351 501	-47 1,446 549	-26 1,391 633	1,303 754	50 1,537 608	10 1,854 390	2,120 404	1,826 501
Central government: Trading Non-trading	19 110	131	-1 148	190	-1 204	224	15 275	18 325	13 358	17 432	14 447
Local authorities: Trading Non-trading	53 252	60 300	63 318	93 393	109 396	149 414	153 532	126 623	119 629	145 685	133 857
Total	1,975	1,910	1,927	2,458	2,656	2,792	3,041	3,287	3,373	3,821	3,885
All fixed assets										- esoi	n See L
Personal sector Companies Public corporations Central government Local authorities	349 1,116 400 128 478	288 1,074 378 145 573	311 998 427 155 624	333 1,370 538 208 833	364 1,463 589 220 886	343 1,405 678 251 1,021	405 1,318 808 307 1,219	487 1,550 667 363 1,332	357 1,870 458 382 1,334	347 2,138 473 459 1,344	560 1,846 561 473 1,471
Total	2,471	2,458	2,515	3,282	3,522	3,698	4,057	4,399	4,401	4,761	4,911

Net domestic fixed capital formation by type of asset

TABLE 61						L Mast					£ million
198 - 208 - 208 - 218 -	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices					2.5		1-11				
Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings Other new buildings and works	183 857 496 935	82 801 548 1,027	78 839 588 1,010	157 1,039 824 1,262	123 1,178 866 1,355	65 1,331 906 1,396	1,368 1,016 1,573	228 1,323 1,112 1,736	1,337 1,028 1,844	342 1,503 940 1,976	315 1,412 1,026 2,158
Total	2,471	2,458	2,515	3,282	3,522	3,698	4,057	4,399	4,401	4,761	4,911
At 1963 prices											
Vehicles, ships and aircraft Plant and machinery Dwellings Other new buildings and works	178 890 538 1,012	80 816 569 1,060	78 839 588 1,010	1,016 800 1,226	1,103 816 1,279	1,198 822 1,267	99 1,223 907 1,402	211 1,143 963 1,504	176 1,117 845 1,514	286 1,179 714 1,505	1,014 720 1,519
Total	2,618	2,525	2,515	3,200	3,320	3,353	3,631	3,821	3,652	3,684	3,502

Net domestic fixed capital formation by industry group

TABLE 62	Page 1	lece I		0300							£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices	5.00	Lar I	Total I	eq.			Acres 1				Continue in
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	52	43	52	47	44	34	42	60	51	55	67
Mining and quarrying	26	17	5	15	17	25	38	11	4	10	5
Manufacturing	687	577	433	558	684	715	638	687	878	996	882
Construction	46	31	53	78	85	65	78	79	66	61	21
Gas, electricity and water	210	259	357	435	464	571	610	419	270	166	127
Transport and communication	166	96	73	136	145	140	242	392	324	534	591
Distributive trades and other service industries	455	465	500	615	612	586	596	703	815	908	938
Dwellings	496	548	588	824	866	906	1,016	1,112	1,028	940	1,026
Social and other public services	333	422	454	574	605	656	797	936	965	1,091	1,254
Total	2,471	2,458	2,515	3,282	3,522	3,698	4,057	4,399	4,401	4,761	4,911
At 1963 prices											ED CO
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	54	44	52	46	41	31	38	52	42	42	47
Mining and quarrying	28	16	5	15	15	23	35	9	3	8	5
Manufacturing	725	592	433	546	637	639	568	589	724	755	609
Construction	47	32	53	77	81	60	71	69	55	48	15
Gas, electricity and water	218	263	357	424	436	512	540	358	222	126	89
Transport and communication	171	100	73	133	136	125	218	343	268	422	428
Distributive trades and other service industries	479	475	500	602	587	544	543	624	697	733	700
Dwellings	538	569	588	800	816	822	907	963	845	714	720
Social and other public services	358	434	454	557	571	597	711	814	796	836	889
Total	2,618	2,525	2,515	3,200	3,320	3,353	3,631	3,821	3,652	3,684	3,502

Net capital stock at current replacement cost by sector and type of asset (1)

£ thousand million TABLE 63

Vehicles, ships and aircraft 0·3 Companies (²) 2·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 1·1 Central government (³) — Local authorities — Total 3·8 Plant and machinery Personal sector Personal sector 0·9 Companies (²) 8·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 Dwellings 10·0 Personal sector 10·0 Companies 0·3 Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 Other buildings and works Personal sector Public corporations (²) (³) Companies (²) 6·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 Total 17·8	1961 0·3 2·5 1·2(³) —(³) — 4·0	1962 0·3 2·5 1·2 — 4·0	0·3 2·5 1·2 0·1	1964 0·3 2·6 1·2	0·3 2·8 1·2	0.3	0·3 3·0(2)	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5
Personal sector 0·3 Companies (²) 2·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 1·1 Central government (³) — Local authorities — Total 3·8 Plant and machinery Personal sector 0·9 Companies (²) 8·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 10·0 Companies 0·3 Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 Other buildings and works Personal sector 1·5 Companies (²) 6·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 Total 17·8	2·5 1·2(³) -(³) - 4·0	2.5	2.5	2.6	2.8	2.9			0.4	0.4	0.5
Companies (2) 2·4 Public corporations (2) (3) 1·1 Central government (3) — Local authorities — Total 3·8 Plant and machinery 0·9 Personal sector 0·9 Companies (2) 8·4 Public corporations (2) (3) 3·0 Central government (3) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 10·0 Companies 0·3 Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 Other buildings and works Personal sector 1·5 Companies (2) 6·8 Public corporations (2) (3) 3·0 Central government (3) 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 Total 17·8	2·5 1·2(³) -(³) - 4·0	2.5	2.5	2.6	2.8	2.9			0.4	0 4	UJ
Public corporations (²) (³) 1·1 Central government (³) — Local authorities — Total 3·8 Plant and machinery Personal sector 0·9 Companies (²) 8·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 1 Public corporations 0·4 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 0·8 1·5 Companies (²) 6·8 1·9 1·9 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	1·2(³) -(³) - 4·0	1.2	1.2	1.2		1 1 3	5 0()	3.2	3.6	4.1	4.6
Central government (³) — Local authorities — Total 3·8 Plant and machinery 0·9 Personal sector 0·9 Companies (²) 3·3·0 Central government (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 0·3 1·0 1 Companies 0·3 0·4 0·2 1 Local authorities 6·5 0·4 0·2 1 Local authorities 6·5 17·4 1 Other buildings and works Personal sector 1·5 0·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 0 Central government (³) 1·9 1·9 1·0 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	—(3) — 4·0	-	_		1 2	1.3	1.3(2)	1.3	1.3	1.4	1.5
Local authorities	4.0	_	3-40		The same	- 113	1 · 3(2)	1.3	1.3	1.4	1 3
Total	4.0		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	ing man	STATE OF THE PARTY	0.2
Plant and machinery 0.9 Companies (2) 8.4 Public corporations (2) (3) 3.0 Central government (3) 1.4 Local authorities 0.3 Total 14.0 1 Dwellings 10.0 1 Companies 0.3 0.4 Central government 0.2 0.4 Central government 0.5 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 6.8 1.5 Companies (2) 6.8 1.9 6.8 1.9 Public corporations (2) (3) 1.9 1.0 1.9 1.0 1.0 Local authorities 4.6 17.8 1 1.0		4.0	4.1	4.2		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	6.8
Personal sector 0.9 Companies (2) 8.4 Public corporations (2) (3) 3.0 Central government (3) 1.4 Local authorities 0.3 Total 14.0 1 Dwellings 10.0 1 Companies 0.3 0.4 Central government 0.2 0.4 Central government 0.2 1.7.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 6.8 1.5 6.8 Public corporations (2) (3) 3.0 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.0 1.9 1.0	0.9		4 · 1	4.2	4.4	4.6	4.7	5.0	5.4	6.1	0.8
Companies (²) 8·4 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings Personal sector 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 1 Public corporations 0·4 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 1 Total 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·9 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	0.9								Land I		
Public corporations (2) (3) 3·0 Central government (3) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 0·4 Central government 0·2 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 1·5 Public corporations (2) (3) 3·0 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1		1.0	1.0	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.7	1.9	2.2	2.4
Central government (³) 1·4 Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 0·4 Public corporations 0·4 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 1·5 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	9.2	9.9	10.6	11.5	12.7	13.6	13 · 8(2)	15.1	16.9	19.4	22 · 1
Local authorities 0·3 Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 0·4 Public corporations 0·4 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 1·5 Companies (²) 6·8 1·9 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	4.5(3)	4.8	5.3	5.9	6.6	7.3	9.0(2)	9.9	10.8	12.2	13.6
Total 14·0 1 Dwellings 10·0 1 Companies 0·3 Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·9 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 1	0.3(3)	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.6
Dwellings 10.0 1 Companies 0.3 0.4 Public corporations 0.4 0.2 Local authorities 6.5 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 6.8 1.5 6.8 1.9 Public corporations (2) (3) 1.9 1.9 1.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.8
Personal sector 10.0 1 Companies 0.3 Public corporations 0.4 Central government 0.2 Local authorities 6.5 Total 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 6.8 Personal sector 1.5 6.8 Public corporations (2) (3) 3.0 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 17.8 1	15.2	16.3	17.5	19.3	21 · 3	23 · 1	25 · 1	27.6	30.6	35.0	39.5
Personal sector 10.0 1 Companies 0.3 Public corporations 0.4 Central government 0.2 Local authorities 6.5 Total 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 6.8 Personal sector 1.5 6.8 Public corporations (2) 3.0 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 17.8 1				201							
Companies 0·3 Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 6·8 Personal sector 6·8 1·9 Public corporations 1·9 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 17·8 Total 17·8 1			and the	by and t		0 1 1 1	2-0		TO THOUSE	1250000	THE SECOND
Public corporations 0·4 Central government 0·2 Local authorities 6·5 Total 17·4 1 Other buildings and works 1·5 Personal sector 1·5 Companies (²) 6·8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3·0 Central government (³) 1·9 Local authorities 4·6 Total 17·8	10.7	11.4	12.1	12.8	13 - 7	14.5	15.2	16.3	17.7	19.5	21.4
Central government 0.2 Local authorities 6.5 Total 17.4 Other buildings and works Personal sector 1.5 Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.8
Local authorities 6.5 Total 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 Personal sector 1.5 Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.8	1.0	1.1	1.2
Total 17.4 1 Other buildings and works 1.5 Personal sector 1.5 Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5
Other buildings and works 1.5 Personal sector 1.5 Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	6.9	7.4	7.9	8.5	9.2	9.9	10.7	11 - 7	13 · 1	14.6	16.2
Personal sector 1.5 Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	18.6	19.9	21 · 1	22.5	24 · 2	25.8	27.5	29.7	32.8	36.3	40.1
Companies (²) 6.8 Public corporations (²) (³) 3.0 Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8							1 0 3		DIVIDI BE		
Public corporations (2) (3) 3.0 Central government (3) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	1.7	1.8	2.0	2.2	2.5	2.7	3.0	3.3	3.7	4.2	4.8
Central government (³) 1.9 Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	7.4	8 · 1	8.8	9.5	10.3	11.1	11.4(2)	12.4	13.8	15.5	17.2
Local authorities 4.6 Total 17.8	3 · 3(3)	3.6	3 · 8	4.1	4.4	4.8	5 · 5(2)	5.9	6.6	7.1	7.9
Total	1.9(3)	2.1	2.3	2.5	2.7	2.9	3.2	3.6	4.1	4-8	5.5
	5.0	5.5	5.9	6.4	7.0	7.5	8.2	9.1	10.3	11.8	13.4
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	19.3	21 · 1	22.8	24 · 7	26.9	29.0	31 · 3	34.3	38.5	43 · 4	48.8
All fixed assets			1.69×			102	2 2-1		Marrie Lang	zymitilin	12410
B. B. 191 B. B. B. 1 E. PET C. OCT 3-1	12.6	111	15.4	16.5	17.0	10.0	20.0	21.7	22.7	26.3	29.1
C . (0)	13.6	14.5	15.4	16.5	17.8	18.9	20.0	21.7	23.7	26.3	
The second secon	19.5	20.9	22.3	24.1	26.3	28 · 1	28 · 8(2)	31.3	34.9	39.7	44.7
Public corporations (2) (3) 7.5	9.4(3)		10.8	11.7	12.8	14.0	16.5(2)	17.9	19.7	21.8	24.2
Central government (3) 3.5	2.4(3)	2.6	2.8	3 · 1	3.3	3.6	3.9	4.3	5.0	5.7	6.6
Total 53.0	12.2	13 · 2	14.2	15.3	16.6	17.9	19.4	21 · 4	107.3	120.8	30·6 135·2

For an account of the principles of valuation, see National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, pages 383-7. Figures relate to end of year.
 From July 1967 public corporations include the nationalised steel undertakings, previously included in the company sector.
 From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation not as part of central government.

Gross capital stock at 1963 replacement cost by industry and type of asset(1)

£ thousand million TABLE 64 1967 1965 1966 1968 1969 1964 1963 1970 1971 1962 1961 1960 By industry 2.2 2.1 2.0 2.4 1.9 2.4 1.9 2.5 1.8 1.7 Agriculture..... 1.7 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.7 1.9 1.71.9 1.7 1.6 1.6 Mining and quarrying Manufacturing: 3.0 3.2 3.3 3.5 2.9 3.7 2.8 3.8 4.0 2.6 2.5 2.5 Food, drink and tobacco Coal, petroleum products, chemicals and allied in-4.3 4.6 3.9 $4 \cdot 1$ 4.9 5.1 5.4 3.7 5.7 3.6 3.2 3.4 dustries 2.8 2.9 2.9 3.0 3.0 2.8 3.0 3.1 3.2 2.7 2.5 2.3 Iron and steel Other metals, engineering and 9.5 9.8 9.3 10.2 10.5 8.7 9.0 10.9 11.3 11.7 8.4 8.0 allied industries Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, 0.9 1.0 0.8 0.9 $1 \cdot 1$ 0.8 $1 \cdot 1$ $1 \cdot 2$ 1.3 1.3 0.70.7etc. 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.40.4 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.3 Timber, furniture, etc. 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 1.72.0 2.1 2.2 2.2 1.6 1.5 1.6 Paper, printing and publishing Textiles, leather, clothing and 3.5 3.2 3.3 3.6 3.2 3.7 3.9 4.0 3.4 3.3 4.2 4.1 other manufacturing..... 24.3 25.2 26.1 27.1 28.2 29.3 22.7 23.5 30.4 31.7 32.8 21.9 Total 0.9 1.0 1.1 1.2 0.8 0.9 1.4 1.5 1.7 1.9 1.6 1.8 Construction 1.5 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.7 1.1 1.9 2.0 Gas 6.2 5.3 5.7 6.7 $7 \cdot 2$ 4.7 5.0 7.78.7 8.9 8-1 8.4 Electricity 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.5 Water 6.0 6.1 6.0 6.1 6.1 6.0 5.9 6.1 6.0 5.8 5.8 5.8 Railways 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.40.40.5 Road passenger transport(2) 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 2.4 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.8 2.7 Shipping $1 \cdot 1$ 1.1 1.1 $1 \cdot 1$ 1.1 1.2 1-2 1.2 1.3 Harbours, docks and canals 1.1 1.3 1.3 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.8 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.70.8 Air transport Postal, telephone and radio 2.2 2.3 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.7 2.9 4.0 communications 3.0 3.2 3.5 3.7 Distributive trades and other 8.3 8.9 9.5 service industries 10.2 10.9 11.7 17.2 12.5 13.3 16.2 14.2 15.2 Private dwellings 20.6 21.8 21.0 21.4 22.3 22.8 25.5 23 - 3 23.7 24.2 24.7 25.0 ******************* Public dwellings 9.6 9.8 10.0 10.8 10.3 11.3 15.1 11.9 12.6 13.3 13.9 14.6 2.0 Roads(3) 2.1 2.2 2.3 4.2 2.5 2.7 2.8 3.9 3.1 3.3 3.6 Other public social services(4).... 6.5 6.8 7.8 $7 \cdot 1$ 7.4 10.3 8.5 8.1 9.0 9.4 9.9 Other industries(5) 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.8 4.2 2.9 3.1 3.2 3.4 3.7 3.9 4.0 Total gross capital stock 95.7 99.0 102 - 1 105.5 109.8 114.2 118 - 8 144.6 123 . 8 129.1 134.3 139.6 By type of asset Road vehicles 2.1 2.3 2.4 2.9 4.2 2.6 3.1 4.1 3.3 3.5 4.0 3.8 Railway rolling stock, ships and aircraft 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.9 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.5 4.6 4.5 4.6 4.8 Plant and machinery..... 24.8 26.0 27.2 28.5 43.6 30.1 31.8 33.6 37.6 39.6 41.7 35.6 Dwellings 30.2 30.8 31.4 32.1 40.6 33.1 34.1 35.2 37.5 38.6 39.6 36.3 Other buildings and works 34.2 35.4 36.5 37.7 51.3 39.1 40.6 49.4 42.1 43.9 45.7 47.5 99.0 102.1 Total gross capital stock 95.7 105.5 109.8 114.2 144.6 118 - 8 123.8 139.6 129.1 $134 \cdot 3$

(4) Education, sewerage, prisons, administration, etc.; hospitals are not included.

⁽¹⁾ For an account of the principles of valuation, see National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, pages 383-7. Figures relate to end of year.

⁽²⁾ Including capital formation in taxis and private hire cars from 1960 only.
(3) Excluding the non-renewable element more than 75 years old.

⁽⁵⁾ Forestry, fishing, public and private health services, universities and private schools.

Gross capital stock at 1963 replacement cost (¹) Analysis for manufacturing, construction, distribution and other services

TABLE 65		100		- Child						£	housand	million
The state of the s	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Plant and machinery								1				
A. C C A	1 700		13			- 10	1135	2 2 5 5 5 5	- 12-34		-011	BUSINGA
Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco Coal, petroleum products, chemicals	1.15	1 · 21	1 · 27	1.33	1.40	1.49	1 · 57	1.67	1 · 77	1 · 87	1.97	2.07
Iron and steel	2·24 1·60	2·37 1·77	2·48 1·90	2·58 1·97	2·72 2·03	2·89 2·07	3·10 2·11	3·32 2·15	3·54 2·17	3·77 2·20	4·03 2·23	4·29 2·30
Other metals, engineering and allied industries	5.22	5.44	5.63	5.82	6.04	6.19	6.38	6.60	6.83	7.10	7.46	7.72
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	0·38 0·11	0·41 0·11	0.45	0·47 0·12	0.50	0.54	0.59	0·62 0·15	0.66	0.71	0.75	0.80
Paper, printing and publishing Textiles, leather, clothing and other	0.96	0.99	1.03	1.06	1.10	1.16	1.21	1.26	1.30		1.40	1.42
manufacturing	1.95	1.86	1.86	1.90	1.97	2.07	2 · 17	2.25	2.36	2.48	2.56	2.64
Total	13.61	14.16	14.73	15.25	15.89	16.54	17.27	18.02	18.79	19.65	20.58	21 · 42
Construction	0.42	0.46	0.50	0.54	0.61	0.70	0.76	0.84	0.93	1.00	1.07	1.12
Distributive trades and other service in- dustries	2.18	2.35	2.53	2.70	2.92	3 · 18	3.45	3 · 73	4.08	4.51	4.98	5.40
Buildings									BRIL	Surgica	Aning Park	dyad
Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco	1.07	1.12	1 - 17	1 · 22	1 · 28	1.34	1 · 39	1.46	1.52	1.57	1.64	1.69
Coal, petroleum products, chemicals and allied industries	0.94	0.99	1.03	1.06	1.09	1.12	1.16	1.19	1.22	1.25	1.29	1-32
Iron and steel Other metals, engineering and allied	0.70	0.74	0.77	0.78	0.79	0.80	0.81	0.82	0.83	0.84	0.85	0.88
industries	2.69	2.81	2.90	2.99	3.08	3.18	3.28	3.36	3 · 44	3.54	3.65	3.71
Bricks, pottery, glass, cement, etc.	0.27	0.28	0.30	0.31	0.32	0.34	0.37	0.38	0.39	0.41	0.42	0.43
Paper, printing and publishing Textiles, leather, clothing and other	0·17 0·51	0.17	0.18	0.18	0.19	0.20	0.62	0.64	0.65	0.66	0.69	0.70
manufacturing	1.38	1.39	1.26	1.26	1.29	1.31	1.34	1.37	1.39	1.42	1.45	1.47
Total	7.73	8.03	8.16	8 - 37	8.63	8.90	9.17	9.43	9.65	9.91	10.21	10.43
Construction	0.22	0.23	0.24	0.25	0.26	0.28	0.30	0.32	0.34	0.35	0.36	0.37
Distributive trades and other service in- dustries	5.24	5.57	5.91	6.27	6.67	7.07	7 · 47	7.89	8.33	8 · 80	9.26	9.74

⁽¹⁾ For an account of the principles of valuation, see National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, pages 383-7. Figures relate to end of year.

Increase in the book value of stocks and work in progress by industry

TABLE 66	THE PART			Detti n	MARKEN	1994 14	Trail Tolling		THE PERSON	THE SE		£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	Book value of stocks held at end of 1971
Agriculture	33	23	26	37	41	35	36	53	70	114	125	1,589
Forestry	18	18	19	20	24	25	30	32	36	39	44	732
Mining and quarrying	-26	6	-44	- 1	-2-	-5	44	-5	-50	-33	50	143
Manufacturing: Food, drink and tobacco: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products Coal, petroleum products, chemicals and allied in-	1 15 10	12 16 7	50 13 35	-12 21 -5	6 17 10	-18 23 14	1 23 6	32 19 35	24 18 19	30 31 42	10 30 33	572 392 410
dustries: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products Metal manufacture:	9 4 9	6 3 -16	-7 4 -12	22 4 22	9 7 11	11 3 14	6 8 14	37 14 21	27 9 32	42 18 45	52 14 40	426 136 412
Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products Engineering, shipbuilding and vehicles:	-3 11 11	-19 2 -	5 4 2	26 30 12	14 23 8	-2 1 7	-5 -16 6	17 25 9	33 28 8	21 24 23	12 -17 16	327 279 185
Materials and fuel	65 114 35	-19 54 59	-14 98 20	98 200 66	71 153 89	58 116 72	-3 89 -1	30 89 —	127 192 161	185 207 158	-30 52 81	1,345 2,737 1,242
Materials and fuel	-14 -2 21	-17 -5 1	29 9 -2	20 9 20	-2 4 11	-20 1 42	-21 -9 -22	36 21 3	3 10 50	-7 -6 18	-15 -2 23	294 185 386
Work in progress	- 5 24	-20 1 16	8 9 2	35 5 16	15 14 30	-1 9 33	-11 2 3	30 13 31	27 13 41	32 19 20	-15 15 32	384 206 432
Total manufacturing of which	315	81	253	589	490	363	70	462	822	902	331	10,350
Work in progress	58 147 110	- 57 71 67	71 137 45	189 269 131	113 218 159	28 153 182	-33 97 6	182 181 99	241 270 311	303 293 306	14 92 225	3,348 3,935 3,067
Gas, electricity and water	16	7	15	13	1	28	26	5	-10	11	52	279
Retail distribution	61	31	50	85	50	55	33	115	102	100	167	1,838
Wholesale distribution: Wholesale distributors Dealers in coal, industrial materials and	25	13	19	70	34	42	26	78	48	85	87	1,080
machinery	15	17	25	66	39	9	21	60	55	77	15	689
Total	40	30	44	136	73	51	47	138	103	162	102	1,769
Other industries	44	10	39	62	47	27	114	57	133	52	. 95	1,296
Central government: Trading bodies (1) Strategic stocks	-1 -9	- ¹ ₇	-1 -8		- -1		 _2		_ 5	- <u>1</u>		108
Total	491	200	393	940	725	577	398	853	1,201	1,346	966	18,105
less Stock appreciation	-174	-147	-202	-298	-330	-313	-180	-639	-829	-975	-935	
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31	

⁽¹⁾ Excluding stocks of the Forestry Commission, Northern Ireland forestry, Royal Ordnance Factories, Royal Mint and (after 31 March 1961) the Post Office, which are included in the appropriate industries above.

Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress at current prices by industry

	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Manufacturing:											
Food, drink and tobacco: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	-2 4 5	6 15 -1	12 7 27	10 9 -19	3	-31 9 6	-5 22 2	-13 -3 17	-4 1 3	-5 8 16	4 26 14
Coal, petroleum products, chemicals and allied industries: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	9 5 8	8 2 -12	-7 4 -11	21 4 22	12 7 7	13 3 13	-6 3 8	29 14 17	26 8 28	18 11 22	20 2 11
Metal manufacture: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	-5 10 8	-18 1 -1	1 1 -	11 16 4	7 17 4	-10 -7 3	-10 -22 -	11 20 6	-3 -16 -17	13 19 18	10 -15 15
Engineering, shipbuilding and vehicles: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	53 75 25	-31 27 49	-21 81 15	54 140 52	41 67 71	22 21 52	-6 44 -23	-34 -49 -27	6 10 110	126 15 61	-111 -124 10
Textiles, leather and clothing: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	$-\frac{10}{21}$	-16 -6 1	11 -9	30 13 20	-8 -1 6	-16 3 41	-8 -5 -22	5 8 -9	-1 8 44	-12 -14 2	-32 -13 4
Other manufacturing: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	4 3 21	-17 3 11	5 7 -1	26 - 8	10 11 23	-4 7 29	$-\frac{11}{4}$	8 4 17	8 5 22	2 7 -16	-33 1 -6
Total manufacturing	234	21	122	421	277	154	-35	21	238	291	-217
of which Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	49 97 88	-68 42 47	1 100 21	152 182 87	62 104 111	-26 36 144	-46 42 -31	6 -6 21	32 16 190	142 46 103	-142 -123 48
Retail distribution	28	1	43	46	31	17	24	45	31	-15	49
Wholesale distribution: Wholesale distributors	18	1	9	49	23	17	5	56	12	15	-2
Dealers in coal, industrial materials and machinery	11	15	16	45	24	5	5	32	13	48	-9
Total	29	16	25	94	47	22	10	88	25	63	-11
Other industries	26	15	1	81	40	71	219	60	78	32	210
Total	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31

Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress at 1963 prices by industry

TABLE 68										-	£ million
THE OWN ! SAME ! HOW!	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Manufacturing:									i in a fait	box Jer	
Food, drink and tobacco: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	- 6 5	15 16 -2	12 7 27	8 9 -17	-2 3 1	-25 7 7	-3 18 3	-12 -2 14	-4 1 5	-4 6 11	5 17 10
Coal, petroleum products, chemicals and allied industries: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	9 5 9	9 3 -13	-7 4 -11	21 4 22	11 7 8	15 3 12	-6 4 7	28 13 16	27 6 26	16 10 20	18 1 8
Metal manufacture: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	-5 9 9	-20 2 -1	1 1 —	11 16 4	7 16 3	-11 -7 2	-8 -20 1	9 16 5	-11 -13	8 13 11	-13 6
Engineering, shipbuilding and vehicles: Materials and fuel	47 79 25	-31 26 47	-21 81 15	53 135 51	39 62 69	18 19 47	-4 36 -21	-29 -37 -25	10 12 95	89 16 46	-75 -83 9
Textiles, leather and clothing: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	-11 -1 19	-16 -6 3	11 -9	29 13 19	-9 -7	-15 3 38	-7 -4 -21	3 7 -8	-1 8 40	-12 -12 2	-30 -11 4
Other manufacturing: Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	3 4 22	-17 1 13	5 7 -1	25 7	10 10 21	-4 7 27	- <u>11</u> - <u>1</u>	7 3 15	8 5 18	1 4 -11	-25 -1
Total manufacturing	234	29	122	410	263	143	-37	23	232	214	-153
of which Materials and fuel Work in progress Finished products	43 102 89	-60 42 47	1 100 21	147 177 86	56 98 109	-22 32 133	-39 34 -32	6 	40 21 171	98 37 79	-100 -89 36
Retail distribution	30	3	43	46	31	17	22	41	27	-13	36
Wholesale distribution: Wholesale distributors Dealers in coal, industrial materials	21	4	9	50	21	18	7	48	10	13	-1
and machinery	11	18	16	43	26	7	6	27	16	28	-3
Total	32	22	25	93	47	25	13	75	26	41	-4
Other industries	31	12	1	84	38	65	188	22	57	23	145
Total	327	66	191	633	379	250	186	161	342	265	24

Capital formation	in stocks	and work	in progress	by sector (1)
-------------------	-----------	----------	-------------	-------------	----

Not acquisition of financial assers: Sammary amblysis by sector by

	lulma	ion in .	Stocks a	and wo	ik in pi	ogress	by see.				£ million
TABLE 69								10.10	10.00	1070	1071
2.255 2.472 2.917 3.955	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
- 223 - 1885 - 1885 - EES-	971-	156	- 12	- 2	Street !		25/-	-11/4			
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	451		1					1422.00		ni vansti	
Personal sector(2)	29	4	21	54 567	32	21	17	29	27	20	-132
Companies	284	38	195		346	183	82 92	140 10	364 -61	320 -12	83
Public corporations	-3	-1	- 35	4	-6	35	92	10	-01	-12	0.5
Central government:	16	19	18	20	24	27	29	39	47	44	51
Trading bodies	16 -9	-7	-8	-3	-1	-2	-2	-4	-5	-1	-
Strategic stocks	- 9	100	-			316.1	CEV,1 38				
Total	7	12	10	17	23	25	27	35	42	43	51
Total	317	53	191	642	395	264	218	214	372	371	31
Stock appreciation						_ 10		See a se	m and	10.00	501
Demonal contor(2)	39	39	35	48	51	48	45	89	103	159	170
Personal sector(2)	123	105	163	242	268	259	145	536	688	746	724
Public corporations	12	3	4	8	11	6	-10	14	38	70	41
Tuone corporations				200	220	212	100	639	829	975	935
Total	174	147	202	298	330	313	180	039	029	913	755
Increase in book value of stocks and work in progress							ZEL-II	101-	ESENSII (Pinn	remail is	EL CAN
D -1(2)	68	43	56	102	83	69	62	118	130	179	199
Personal sector(2)	407	143	358	809	614	442	227	676	1,052	1,066	592
Public corporations	9	2	-31	12	5	41	82	24	-23	58	124
Central government:		CT.				-	17 00	20	47	11	51
Trading bodies	16	19	18	20	24	27 -2	29 -2	39	47	44	31
Strategic stocks	-9	-7	-8	-3	-1	-2	-2	-4	-3	1	A TOPING
Total	7	12	10	17	23	25	27	35	42	43	51
Total	491	200	393	940	725	577	398	853	1,201	1,346	966

⁽¹⁾ The book value of stocks and work in progress held at the end of 1971 by each of the various sectors was as follows: personal sector £2,843 million; companies £13,633 million; public corporations £1,024 million; and central government £605 million.

(2) Stocks held for business purposes by professional persons, farmers and other sole traders and partnerships.

58 d - 190,1 - 1 818 p

Net acquisition of financial assets: Summary analysis by sector

£ million TABLE 70

TABLE /0	The second second				-					T. Comments	2 minio
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Personal sector:	3000	Takila		1 002	2165	2 210	2 267	2.266	2 422	2017	
Saving(1) Capital transfers (net	1,736	1,552	1,656	1,893	2,165	2,319	2,267	2,266	2,432	2,917	3,209
receipts)	-185	-172	-204	-182	-134	-156	-170	-233	-397	-360	-336
less Gross domestic fixed capital formation(2)	-855	-816	-873	-940	-1,001	-1,017	-1,124	-1,264	-1,185	-1,268	-1,600
less Increase in value of stocks and work in										AL S. D. D.	THE PARTY
progress	-68	-43	-56	-102	-83	-69	-62	-118	-130	-179	-199
Net acquisition of finan- cial assets	628	521	523	669	947	1,077	911	651	720	1,110	1,074
Industrial and commercial	020					110		-		-,	-,01
Saving(1)	2,205	1,995	2,518	2,941	2,994	2,651	2,695	2,963	2,947	2,811	3,448
Capital transfers (net	9	12	9	13	16	21	232	427	570	483	553
less Gross domestic fixed	1000	Jacob									
less Increase in value of	-1,888	-1,877	-1,827	-2,248	-2,390	-2,380	-2,299	-2,523	-2,852	-3,294	-3,280
stocks and work in	107	1.10	250	200	(11	110	227	-	0.50	4.400	No. of the Party
Net acquisition of finan-	-407	-143	-358	-809	-614	-442	-227	-641	-968	-1,103	-627
Financial companies:	-81	-13	342	-103	6	-150	401	226	-303	-1,103	94
Saving(1)	185	186	196	201	273	277	292	362	333	424	469
Capital transfers (net receipts)					-1	-2	-4	-7	-39	-64	-76
less Gross domestic fixed			1.50					1 Pag	Ball To A	All Acad	the same time
capital formation(2) less Increase in value of	-106	-135	-160	-184	-234	-287	-334	-438	-564	-601	-568
stocks and work in progress			Cha-				30			- Francisco	
Net acquisition of finan-		28.	19	T				-35	-84	37	35
Public corporations:	79	51	36	17	38	-12	-46	-118	-354	-204	-140
Saving(1)	364	402	577	608	661	645	683	845	879	771	747
receipts)(3)	8	8	9	10	11	11	16	69	70	68	68
less Gross domestic fixed capital formation	-905	-933	-1,024	-1,187	-1,293	1 452	1 650				1 950
less Increase in value of	- 303	-933	-1,024	-1,107	-1,293	-1,453	-1,659	-1,622	-1,484	-1,613	-1,859
stocks and work in progress	-9	-2	31	-12	- 5	-41	-82	-24	23	-58	-124
Net acquisition of finan-										27 125-7	
cial assets	-542	-525	-407	-581	-626	-838	-1,042	-732	-512	-832	-1,168
Saving(1)	369	671	240	500	880	1,229	1,043	1,732	2,914	3,723	2,841
receipts)(3)	137	113	141	106	52	64	-165	-378	-326	-263	-353
less Gross domestic fixed capital formation	-219	-216	-227	-284	-301	-335	-395	-458	-486	-576	-606
less Increase in value of stocks and work in	2.17	210	227	204	-501	-333	-393	-438	-400	-376	-000
progress	-7	-12	-10	-17	-23	-25	-27	-35	-42	-43	-51
Net acquisition of finan- cial assets	280	556	144								
Local authorities:				305	608	933	456	861	2,060	2,841	1,831
Capital transfers (net	186	217	268	331	293	387	386	402	425	554	725
less Gross domestic fixed	31	39	45	53	56	62	91	122	122	136	144
capital formation	-702	-814	-883	-1,112	-1,185	-1,345	-1,568	-1,712	-1,752	-1,821	-2,010
Net acquisition of finan- cial assets	-485	-558									
Overseas sector: Net acquisition of	405	- 556	-570	-728	-836	-896	-1,091	-1,188	-1,205	-1,131	-1,141
assets(4)	-6	-122	-124	382	49	-84	215	271	-111	-681	-1,040
Net acquisition of finan-			127	302	49	-04	315	271	-444	-001	1,010
Cial assets:	(2)										
Public sector	626 -747	559 - 527	-833	583 -1,004	991 -854	915	1,266	759	63	-197 878	1,028 -478
Overseas sector Residual error	-6 127	-122	-124	382	49	-801 -84	-1,677 315	-1,059 271	343 -444		-1,040
(1) Before providing for de		90	56	39	-186	-30	96	29	38	- 1	490

⁽¹⁾ Before providing for depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to reserves.
(2) The figures for the personal sector exclude, and those for financial companies include, expenditure by life assurance and superannuation funds.

⁽³⁾ Excluding financial transactions on writing-off debt. See Tables 34 and 38. (4) Equals, apart from the change in sign, Net investment abroad.

Transactions in financial assets (1) Analysis by sector and type of asset, 1971

£ million TABLE 71

THE POINT POINT THE THE PARTY OF THE PARTY O	01 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Private sect	or			
			Fina	ncial institut	ions		
	Personal	Industrial and commercial companies	Banks	Insurance companies and superannuation funds	Other	Public	Overseas
Capital account Saving(2) Capital transfers (net receipts) less Gross domestic fixed capital formation less Increase in value of stocks and work in progress	3,209 -336 -1,600 -199	3,448 553 -3,280 -627		469 -76 -568 35		4,313 -141 -4,475 -175	
Net acquisition of financial assets(3)	1,074	94		-140		-478	-1,040
Financial transactions account Notes and coin Treasury bills British government and government guaranteed securities National savings: Deposits Certificates and bonds Tax reserve certificates Import deposits Net Exchequer indebtedness to Bank of England, Banking	364 250 24	76 - 1 	-30 5 1,378 -16	-4 771	-1 613 -243 -4	-243 63 -3,363 -121 -250 -81 281	-64 137 -28
Northern Ireland central government debt Local authority debt: Temporary borrowing Quoted securities and negotiable bonds	-7 -235	-2 37	-471 -1 } 772{	-60 -38	-7 95	471 9 -90 -247	60 16
Deposits with building societies Deposits with finance houses Deposits with other financial institutions	954 1,961 5	-12 942 69 -22 -	-5,450 —	-37 -23 4 -	56 208 -2,034 4 -38	-317 38 - -	3,331 13 38
Bank lending (except to public authorities): Advances and loans Commercial bills Money at call and short notice. Hire purchase debt Trade credit (net) Loans for house purchase Other loans by public sector to private sector Loans by superannuation funds to parent organisation	-195 -62 -1,774	-549 -168 -13 39 -27 -44 -1	3,646 129 204 — 90 —	-7 13 88	-404 -8 140 1,600 16	-46 20 -6 -16 -22 71 28 -87	-2,187 27 -68 111 -
Other loans and mortgages by financial institutions (excluding banks) Unit trust units	-10 46	-57 —	_	41 11	26 -57	_	
Company and overseas securities: United Kingdom capital issues Capital issues overseas Other Funds of life assurance and superannuation schemes	1,966	$\begin{cases} -363 \\ -44 \\ 254 \\ - \\ - \\ - \end{cases}$	-5 -28 213	-17 892 -1,966	-169 264	85 	10 89 -16
Accruals adjustment Other identified home assets Allocation of Special Drawing Rights Official reserves Inter-government loans (net) Transactions with IMF, etc. Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits	33 30 — — —	- 46		48	-15 -79 	-46 1 -125 1,536 188 572 242	
Other identified overseas assets	I	-115 -169		-4	-4 -27	817	-617
Total identified financial assets		-372	436	-288	-57	-600	-1,389
Unidentified items(3)		466		-231	-	122	349(5)
Net acquisition of financial assets(1)(3)	1,074	94		-140		-478	-1,040

Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
 Before providing for depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to reserves.
 The sum of the entries in this row equals, apart from the change in sign, the Residual error shown in Table 1.
 Residual, including unidentified transactions by industrial and commercial companies.
 The Balancing item in the balance of payments accounts.

Transactions in financial assets (1): Personal sector

£ million TABLE 72 1969 1967 1968 1970 1966 1965 1971 1964 1963 1962 1961 73 61 72 34 115 84 197 71 42 49 Notes and coin British government and government 78 -222-13-242-227464 -85-225-31-57guaranteed securities..... National savings: Deposits with National Savings Bank and ordinary departments of -101-58-2943 -73-8190 66 43 47 trustee savings banks Deposits with the Investment Acc-55 70 54 62 74 64 ount of the National Savings Bank Deposits with special investment de-102 113 106 96 56 101 173 149 133 107 partments of trustee savings banks 66 61 92 52 45 47 44 53 44 43 41 Premium savings bonds -102-20-333-272-55-153-135-6646 Defence bonds -160-120142 191 189 135 -65-134National development bonds 171 132 179 136 British savings bonds National savings certificates: 62 -85-27-12410 147 -7-26-12Principal -1036 -11-1412 16 23 41 Interest accrued..... 31 Save As You Earn..... -11374 125 114 614 -3577 318 358 211 240 -1124 Tax reserve certificates 13 17 9 54 11 -4******** Northern Ireland central government 13 11 -2debt 14 6 -13Local authority debt: Temporary -378 13 -1740 65 -21-51Longer-term (2) 178 139 188 152 118 99 -15242 Unidentified -62104 101 10 53 123 99 38 -32Total -75241 289 -235205 130 270 246 130 229 191 Deposits with banking sector 189 301 366 308 822 458 512 250 740 682 954 Deposits with building societies 209 372 501 890 1,484 1,961 490 657 726 1,090 762 Deposits with finance houses 10 24 30 12 -10-1Bank lending: Advances and loans (3) -31****************************** -165-9582 115 -76-16191 -162-453Money at call and short notice -30-5617 -48-31-38-123-3824 Hire purchase debt -109-46-195-69-63104 30 -20Trade credit (net) -10-29-27-57-62-16-64Loans for house purchase: Local authorities -67-47-59-121-56-68-168-53-9 20 -61Other public sector -3-11-10-4-10-18-15-12-16Banking sector -30-55-30-40-9015 -40-25Building societies -221-276-422-546-459-823-782-1,088-1,600-667-860Insurance companies -81-61-34-53-83-36-91-34-71-13-61Other loans by central government -5-3-3-2-1Other loans and mortgages by financial institutions (excluding banks) -10-8-12-10-29-11-24-21-38-52-38Unit trust units 34 60 77 89 46 59 84 258 186 105 Shares of retail co-operative societies.... -2-12-6-26-21-15-17-6-Company and overseas securities..... -301-392-568-652-1,165-701-838-484-601-706-538Funds of life assurance and superannuation schemes 869 934 1,074 1,758 1,157 1,163 1,372 1,508 1,505 1,966 1,241 Accruals adjustment -18 33 11 13 19 16 17 4 Other identified home assets -3-514 42 -17-1827 34 -30-314 Total identified financial assets 1,012 1,126 1,030 2,270 1,010 1,320 1,824 1,430 1,711 1,650 1,537 Unidentified items..... -384-605-507-1,196-341-714-373-353-739-886-991Net acquisition of financial assets (1) 628 521 523 1,074 669 947 1,077 911 1,110 651 720

(3) Excluding loans for house purchase.

⁽¹⁾ Acquisiton of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
(2) Excluding quoted securities and negotiable bonds

Transactions in financial assets (1): Industrial and commercial companies

TABLE 73											£ million
1969 1969 1980 18	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Notes and coin	48 -15 -11	-73 15 -54	-30 -61	138 -82 -42	111 -25 -119	-16 -16	64 29	-20 -38 -20 75	73 -12 -28 403	206 9 -6 -225	76 -1 69 -253
Northern Ireland central government			2	1	_	-	- 1	Marie Di	5	-1	-2
Local authority debt: Temporary Longer-term(2)	74 -25	-12 39	103 30	67 -4	-68 -12	-58 -23	29 12	- 59 27	-78 -6	-65 -54	37 -12
Deposits with banking sector(3) Deposits with building societies Deposits with finance houses	-58 -5 20	95 -28	278 5 47	-30 2 28	127 -6 52	87 -2 -1	321 9 -7	308 5 21	-196 2 53	121 -3 -6	942 69 -22
Bank lending: Advances and loans(4) Commercial bills Money at call and short notice	-86 -116 -3	-242 -52 -6	-460 -78 1	-686 -69 3	-439 -52 -6	-149 -35 -3	-253 -83 3	-470 -95 -4	-553 -106 -5	-896 -231 2	-549 -168 -13
Hire purchase debt	-27 12	48 15	29 104	-25 92	-22 52	-20 174	18 104	-53	-12 -43	-33	39 -27
Refinanced shipbuilding credits	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-4	-31	-46
Loans from public sector	-37	-48	-26	-5	-47	-20	-24	-66	-56	-59	-44
Loans by superannuation funds to parent organisation	-9	-9	-9	-8	-9	-8	-6	-2	-4	-5	-1
Other loans and mortgages by financial institutions (excluding banks)	-94	-55	-79	-139	-148	-87	-33	-32	-105	-161	-57
Shares of retail co-operative societies Company and overseas securities: United Kingdom capital issues	-1		6	2		6	15	17	21	26	12
(net)(5): Ordinary shares Debenture and preference shares Capital issues overseas Other	$ \begin{array}{r} -320 \\ -108 \\ \hline -8 \\ \hline 322 \end{array} $	-152 -164 -16 277	-118 -217 -6 270	-158 -254 -5 435	-63 -345 -18 386	-123 -452 -13 250	-65 -350 -32 367	-298 -184 -50 380	-177 -335 -6 343	-39 -154 -33 312	-149 -214 -44 254
Accruals adjustment Other identified home assets	-12 -3	-7 -	-7 -3	-1 -8	-1	-17 -7	-37 -57	-62 -10	-28 -14	-49 -34	28 -12
Intra-company investment overseas: By UK companies overseas By overseas companies in UK Other identified overseas assets	259 -141 -21	217 -138 -27	253 -208 -11	313 -124 24	406 -200 4	331 -252 -10	348 -316 59	392 -378 108	534 -385 60	464 - 505 69	467 -582 -169
Total identified financial assets	-365	-377	-155	-535	-441	-432	114	-505	-659	-1,381	-372
Unidentified items	284	364	497	432	447	282	287	731	356	278	466
Net acquisition of financial assets(1)	-81	-13	342	-103	6	-150	401	226	-303	-1,103	94

Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
 Excluding quoted securities and negotiable bonds.
 After subtraction of 60 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit items; see note on page 112.
 After addition of 40 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit items; see note on page 112.
 Capital issues by quoted public companies only. amoli lienten attoro resu didab la accessora e mas regioni.

Transactions in financial assets(1): Banking sector

TABLE 74											£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Notes and coin	43	76 -110	82 -35	-52 -331	-2 85	- 209	27	134 -111	- 251	-90 550	-30 5
British government and government guaranteed securities	-162 -	328	-12 -	-215 -	73	119 85	233 -10	-283 -8	-341 14	-410 - 21	1,378 -16
Net Exchequer indebtedness to Bank of England, Banking Department Northern Ireland central government	91	-253	-32	68	152	44	-19	128	-128	276	-471
debt	200		- 8	7	-2	3	-2	1	-3	-1	-1
Local authority debt: Securities (quoted and unquoted)			-5	32	58	77	47	34	34	109	281
Advances and loans	25	72	68	119	58	28 -24	295	12 271	22 256	33 341	69 422
Deposits received: Private sector:				110 - E						Tiel Island	
Personal sector	-189	-301	-366	-458	-512	-250	-740	-682	-308	-822	-954
Other financial institutions Public sector	97 -8	$-187 \\ -10$	$-380 \\ -40 \\ -10$	-52 -6 -10	$-162 \\ -65 \\ -39$	$-2 \\ -63 \\ -13$	-377 -146	-341 -87	-122 -178	-208 -278	-980 -185
Overseas sector	-66	-397	-358	- 527	-425	-759	-13 -746	-23 $-2,630$	-67 -4,734	- 44 -3,384	-38 $-3,331$
and items in transit(2)	-39	92	102	82	35	-85	56	33	74	87	38
Net deposits	-205	-803	-1,052	-971	-1,168	-1,172	-1,966	-3,730	-5,091	-4,649	-5,450
Advances and loans (except to public authorities): Private sector: Personal sector: Loans for house purchase		30	55	30	-15	-25	40	25	-5	40	90
Industrial and commercial	31	165	95	161	-82	-91	162	_	-115	76	453
Other financial institutions Public corporations Overseas sector plus Cheques in course of collection	112 -16 -17 106	181 1 2 209	391 41 13 274	630 30 -10 385	416 40 7 311	206 -56 15 975	217 89 22 781	449 31 -52 2,737	504 -9 -21 4,756	837 81 106 2,541	523 411 46 2,187
and items in transit(3)	-26	61	69	56	23	-57	36	21	49	59	26
Total	190	649	938	1,282	700	967	1,347	3,211	5,159	3,740	3,736
Commercial bills Money at call and short notice	170 33	41 62	117 -1	152 -22	97 56	69 37	53 -30	201 67	201	275 11	129 204
Company and overseas securities: United Kingdom capital issues (4) Other	-52 -18	-48 37	-24 38	-24 39	-2 38	-20 48	-1 59	-24 95	-12 38	-27 94	-5 185
Total identified financial assets (1)	115	51	76	86	142	134	36	-2	- 17	231	436

 ⁽¹) Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
 (²) 60 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit items.
 (³) 40 per cent of the excess of debit over credit transit items.
 (⁴) Capital issues by quoted public companies only.

Transactions in financial assets(1): Financial institutions other than banks

TABLE 75

£ million

TABLE /3								-			
THE RELEASE TO LOCAL TO SHOW THE PARTY OF TH	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Treasury bills	-11	-1	-2	12	-12	-6	-5	-9	-2	-6	-3
British government and government guaranteed securities Tax reserve certificates	91	305	115	100 -2	230	120 -7	501 8	34 -5	283 -2	320 8	1,384
Northern Ireland central government debt			5	2	11	3	13	14	1	1	1
Local authority debt (2): Temporary Longer-term (3)	83 51	-5 165	35 199	84 103	14 254	46 153	24 140	70 95	58 57	209 78	-67 76
Deposits with banking sector	8	10	40	6	65	63	146	87	178	278	185
Deposits received by the Investment Account of the National Savings			1.52	200-		Per l		Shemi	Ridard area		HOOTH!
Rank	-	-	-	-	_	-54	-62	-74	-55	-64	-70
Deposits received by special investment departments of trustee savings banks Deposits received by building societies Deposits received by finance houses	-66 -204	-107 -372 6	-133 -495 -41	-149 -503 -66	$-102 \\ -651 \\ -132$	-113 -724 -7	-106 $-1,099$ 59	-96 -767 25	-56 -892 -34	$-101 \\ -1,481 \\ -27$	$-173 \\ -2,030 \\ 4$
Deposits received by other financial institutions from overseas residents	}-41{	-3	-27	1	-26	-47	37	55	-26	-50	-38
Bank lending: Advances and loans Commercial bills	_16	-1 15	-41 3	-30 -49	-40 -3	56 1	-89 8	-31 -11	9	-81 -	-411 -8
Hire purchase debt	7	-52	30	127	83	-67	-25	10	-21	47	140
Loans for house purchase Loans by central government	302 -46	337	456 7	599 3	550 2	728 3	857 2	931	865	1,124	1,613 16
Loans by superannuation funds to parent organisation (2)	72 104	67 63	89 91	75 150	70 172	84 125	65 34	77 55	54 142	40 186	88 67
Unit trust units	-7	-34	-60	-77	-59	-105	-84	-258	-186	-89	-46
Company and overseas securities: United Kingdom capital issues (5) Other	-102 500	-75 487	-87 779	-84 786	-36 654	-106 804	-67 748	-132 1,004	-95 657	-55 808	-169 1,139
Funds of life assurance and super- annuation schemes	-869	-934	-1,074	-1,157	-1,163	-1,241	-1,372	-1,508	-1,505	-1,758	-1,966
Accruals adjustment	1	-2	-1	-3		-11	-16	-11	-19	-7	-15
Other identified home assets Intra-company investment overseas Other identified overseas assets	- 3		-8 - 10		-21 - -2	39	-2 11	-13 - 18	-38 -38 29	49 -26 -15	-31 -4 -31
Total identified financial assets	-102	-120	-110	-41	-142	-260	-271	-437	-552	-611	-345
the state of the s				The second second		1000000				The state of the s	

(1) Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.

(2) Loans by local authority superannuation funds to parent authority are included under local authority debt.
(3) Including quoted securities and negotiable bonds.
(4) Including, up to 1962, Other identified home assets.

Transactions in financial assets(1): Public sector

f million

TABLE 76					-						£ million
Troll ores caes sax	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Notes and coin Treasury bills:	-97	-6	-154	-157	-193	-148	-152	-186	-197	-231	-243
Counterpart of central bank assistance	-		-	-144	-182	-280	-518	-772	608	1,011	400
Other	178 240	269 -603	122	519 113	- 221 - 221	290 -218	- 520	504	386	-544	-337
ment guaranteed securities National savings (2): Deposits	-47	-43	-71	-66	-43	73	58	81	-183 99	264	-3,363
Certificates and bonds Tax reserve certificates Net Exchequer indebtness to Bank	-98 -6	-90 56	-114 59	-143 37	71 106	129 - 79	-15 -36	-21	125 27	44 18	-121 -250 -81
of England, Banking Department Import deposits	-91 -	253	32	- 68	-152 -	-44 -	19	-128 -76	128 -462	-276 257	471 281
Northern Ireland central govern- ment debt	-13	-14	-5	-11	-13	-9	-21	-2	-4	3	9
Local authority debt (3) (4): Temporary borrowing Quoted securities and negotiable	-279	-65	-207	-358	-5	17	-126	-18	-28	19	-90
bonds	-30 -193	-138 -396	-87 -342	-92 -111	-216 -337	-198 -221	-207 -353	-137 -429	-73 -500	-103 -454	-247 -317
Deposits with banking sector	1.98	uc.	10	10	39	13	13	23	67	44	38
Bank lending to public corpora- tions:	1	170-	6.0	127.151	A POR	1 50				dah-ban	
Advances and loans	17	2	-13 -	_10	7	-15 -	-22 26	52 -3	21	-106 -20	-46 20
Hire purchase debt Trade credit (net)	-1	-15	10 -51	- 65	-5 -5	-17 -60	-10 -40	169	107	-1 -12	16 -22
Loans for house purchase: Local authorities	67	47	59	121	168	53	68		20		pol mino
Other public sector Other loans by public sector to the	1 42	001-	3	4	10	12	18	15	-20 16	56	10
Loans by superannuation funds to	88	42	21	5	47	18	25	64	56	60	28
Other loans and mortgages by financial institutions (excluding	-63	-58	-80	-67	-61	-76	-59	-75	-50	-35	-87
banks)	10-	-	_		-	_	20	15	15	4	_
Company securities	-87	-10	-22	-17	10	53	5	56	13	6	85
Accruals adjustment Other identified home assets Allocation of Special Drawing	12	1 5	- 8 - 3	-7 2	-1 -5	24 -1	37 50	54 -11	30 12	43	-46 1
Rights Official reserves Inter-government loans (net)	31 16	-183	-53	-122	246	-282	-319	-114	44	-171 125	-125 1,536
Capital subscriptions to the IMF and European Fund		91	97	101	66	175	39	6	48	178	188
Drawings from United Kingdom subscriptions to international						173		and the same	1961 00	151	
Holding of interest-free notes by the IMF	272	1	7	7	16	10	18	7	20	12	17
ing credits.	-373	379	-5	-359	-496	-159	320	-526	14	23	555
Other identified overseas assets	39	-9	3	-59	35	34	-43(5)	204(5)	28 10	160 132	242 817
Total identified financial assets	-683	-485	-800	-910	-900	-845	-1,600	- 996	366	677	-600
Net acquisition of financial	-64	-42	-33	-94	46	44	-77	-63	-23	201	122
assets(1)	-747	-527	-833	-1,004	-854	-801	-1,677	-1,059	343	878	-478
(1) 1											

Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
 Excluding deposits with the Investment Account of the National Savings Bank and the special investment departments of the trustee savings banks.
 Including bank advances to local authorities.
 Loans by local authority superannuation funds to parent authority are included under Local authority debt.
 Including Exchange Equalisation Account loss on forward commitments.

Transactions in financial assets(1): Overseas sector

£ million TABLE 77 1971 1970 1968 1969 1967 1966 1965 1963 1964 1961 1962 Treasury bills: Counterpart of central bank assist--400-1,011772 -608518 182 280 144 ance 336 -121-66-120-269- 59 -173-118-195Other British government and government 137 -13163 -5-8-112guaranteed securities..... -28Import deposits. -38-57-4351 -1Local authority debt..... 125 171 Allocation of Special Drawing Rights -125-1,536-44319 114 122 -246282 53 183 -31Official reserves -178-188-48-6 -39-97-101-66-61-91-16Inter-government loans (net) United Kingdom subscriptions to the International Monetary Fund and -151-175European Fund..... Drawings from United Kingdom subscriptions to international lending -12-17-20-18-7-16-10-1-1bodies Holdings of interest-free notes by the -555526 -14-320159 359 496 -379373 International Monetary Fund ******* -196-129-24Refinanced export credits -817-132-10 $-204(^{2})$ $43(^{2})$ -3-35-3459 -39Other public sector assets and liabilities 3,331 3,384 4,734 2,630 425 759 746 358 527 397 66 Deposits with banking sector 74 -100-7943 76 13 11 Deposits with other financial institutions Bank lending: -2,187-2,541-4,756-2,737-975-781-274-385-311-209-106Advances and loans 27 -24-92-112-35-42-34-42-54-4 Commercial bills -30-68-25-3-8-2-5Money at call and short notice 111 74 -52-48-118-20-10-43Trade credit (net) 83 112 -74-14177 43 -63-45-6656 174 Company and overseas securities Intra-company investment overseas: -484-392-464-534-348-331-406-313-217-253-259By UK companies overseas..... 603 531 423 378 318 252 200 208 124 138 141 By overseas companies in UK 200 -54-89-126-707 -2-3127 18 Other private sector assets -1,389-849-740403 71 21 -27390 -4123 -195Total identified financial assets 349 59 405 -132-57244 28 -83- 8 73 -29Unidentified items(3) -1,040-681271 -444315 49 -84382 -124-122-6Net acquisition of financial assets(1)(4)

(2) Including Exchange Equalisation Account loss on forward commitments.

(3) The Balancing item in the balance of payments accounts.

⁽¹⁾ Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities by the overseas sector is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.

⁽⁴⁾ Equals, apart from the change in sign, the current balance in the balance of payments accounts.

Transactions in financial assets of the public sector Analysis by sector acquiring assets(1)

TABLE 78	А	maiysis	by see	tor acq	uning	ussees(,				£ million
Man I were I was I to see I	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Banking sector											
Notes and coin	43	76 -110	82 -35	-52 -331	-2 85	- 209	27	134 -111	-251	-90 550	-30 5
Tax reserve certificates Net Exchequer indebtedness to Bank	-162 -	328	- <u>12</u>	-215 -	73	119 85	233 -10	-283 -8	-341 14	-410 -21	1,378 -16
of England, Banking Department N. Ireland central government debt Local authority debt	91	-253	-32 -8	68 7 153	152 -2	44 3 81	-19 -2	128	-128 -3	276 -1	-471 -1
Deposits by the public sector Bank lending to public corporations	25 - 17	72	-10 13	-10 -10	115 -39 7	-13 15	345 -13 -4	317 -23 -49	312 -67 -27	483 -44 126	772 -38 26
Total	-20	115	63	- 390	389	207	557	106	-440	869	1,625
Other financial institutions Treasury bills	-11	-1	-2	12	-12	-6	-5	-9	-2	-6	-3
British government and government guaranteed securities	91 6	305 2	115	100 -2	230	120 -7	501	34 -5	283 -2	321	1,384
N. Ireland central government debt Local authority debt (2) Central government loans Loans by superannuation funds to	134 -46	160	234 7	187 3	268 2	199 3	13 164 2	14 165 3	115	287 1	-1 9 16
Other loans and mortgages	63	58	80	67	61	76 —	59 -20	75 -15	50 -15	35 -4	87
Total	237	533	439	369	560	388	722	262	433	642	1,498
Other private sector Notes and coin Treasury bills British government and government	97 -15	-70 15	72 -30	209 - 82	195 -25	66 -16	125	52 -38	146 -12	321	273 -1
National savings Tax reserve certificates Import deposits	-57 145	-31 133 -58	-225 185 -59	-85 209 -35	-77 -28 -106	$-13 \\ -202 \\ 1$	-222 -43 38	-242 -93 34	78 -224 -39	-227 -51 -5	464 371 93
Local authority debt	13 290 1	14 316 -3	8 338 -10	193 -7	- 4 190 -2	- 3 165 17	10 171 10	75 -13 159 -7	403 6 145 -3	-225 -3 -194	-253 -9 -210 -16
Trade credit (net) Refinanced shipbuilding credits Loans for house purchase Other loans by public sector to the	_ -67	15 - -47	51 -62	65 -125	5 -178	62 -65	-86	-173 - -24	-103 - 4 4	-20 -31 -67	-27 -46 -71
Company securities Accruals adjustment Other identified home assets	-42 87 -12 -6	-51 10 -1 -5	-28 22 -8	-8 17 7 -2	-49 -10 1	-21 -53 -24	-27 -5 -37 -50	-67 -56 -54	-59 -13 -30	-61 -6 -43 -2	-44 -85 46 -1
Total	434	237	257	358	-75	70		11	-12		484
Overseas sector Treasury bills: Counterpart of central bank assis-		201	201	336	- 13	-79	-80	-436	283	-604	404
Other British government and government	-195	-173	91	144 -118	182 -269	280 - 59	518 -120	772 -66	-608 -121	-1,011 -9	-400 336
Import deposits Local authority debt	-112 	1 51	_ _ _1	87 28	-5 	-8 -	8	-13 1	163 59	53 -32	137 -28 81
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights Official reserves	- -31	183	_	_	-15 -	-43 -2	4	-57 4 -	29 -4 -	-38 32 171	49 125
Inter-government loans (net) Transactions with IMF, etc. Refinanced export credits Other identified overseas assets	-16 372 -39	-91 -380 -9	53 -97 -2 -2	-101 352 	-246 -66 480	282 61 26	319 -39 -338	114 -6 519	-44 -48 -34 -24	-125 -178 -186 -129	-1,536 -188 -572 -196
Total	32	-400	-3	59	-35	-34	43(3)	-204(3)		-132	-817
Unidentified items	64	42	33	573 94	26 -46	329 -44	401 77	1,064	- 642 23	-1,584 -201	-3,007 -122
Net acquisition of financial assets of the public sector by other sectors (1) (1) Acquisition of assets or reduction in (2) I can be be a consistent of the public sector by other sectors (1)	747	527	833	1,004	854	801	1,677	1,059	-343	-878	478

 ⁽¹) Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive; sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.
 (²) Loans by local authority superannuation funds to parent authority are included under Local authority debt.
 (³) Including Exchange Equalisation Account loss on forward commitments.

XIII. DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS IN SUMMARY TABLES

The following notes provide a brief description of the main aggregates and of the items appearing in Tables 1 to 9 of the summary tables. A full description is given in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, Studies in Official Statistics, No. 13, HMSO, 1968. The items are given a reference number. Whenever the item appears in one of these summary tables, either alone or in combination with another item, its reference number is shown against it.

The main aggregates

Gross national product at factor cost. The total income of residents of the United Kingdom, before providing for depreciation or capital consumption. It is equal to the value at factor cost of the goods and services produced by United Kingdom residents plus their income from economic activity abroad and from property held abroad less the corresponding income of non-residents. Item 12 in Table 1.

Gross domestic product at factor cost. The total value at factor cost of the goods and services produced by United Kingdom residents before providing for depreciation or capital consumption. Item 22 in Table 1. An alternative estimate is provided by the sum of items 13 to 19 less item 20.

National income. The total income of residents of the United Kingdom after providing for capital consumption. It is equal to the gross national product at factor cost less capital consumption. Item 25 in Table 1.

Gross domestic product at market prices. The value of the goods and services produced by United Kingdom residents, including taxes on expenditure on both home produced and imported goods and services, and deducting subsidies. Item 22 plus items 8 and 9 less items 10 and 11. See Table 12.

Total domestic expenditure at market prices. The value of expenditure by United Kingdom residents on consumption and investment. The sum of items 1 to 5. See Table 1.

Total final expenditure at market prices. The value of expenditure by United Kingdom residents on consumption and investment, plus expenditure by non-residents on goods and services produced by United Kingdom residents. The sum of items 1 to 5, 6a and 6b. It is equal to the value of the goods and services produced by United Kingdom residents plus the value of imported goods and services, including taxes on expenditure and deducting subsidies. Item 22 plus items 7a and 7b, plus items 8 and 9, less items 10 and 11. See Table 12.

Total final output. The value, at market prices, of home produced and imported goods and services available for private and public consumption, invest-

ment and export. It is equal to total final expenditure at market prices. See Table 10.

Items of expenditure

- 1. Consumers' expenditure, at market prices (1). Expenditure on consumers' goods and sorvices by persons and non-profit-making bodies, plus the value of income in kind. All business expenditure, reckoned as current costs of production, is, so far as possible, excluded. For further details see Tables 22 and 23.
- 2. Current expenditure on goods and services by central government, at market prices (1). Current expenditure by the central government, other than trading bodies but including the National Insurance Funds, constituting a direct demand for goods and services, including the services of government employees. The figures exclude (a) expenditure on grants, subsidies, interest payments and all other transfers, (b) expenditure on fixed assets and stocks, which are included under items 4 and 5, and (c) loans and loan repayments. For further details see Table 37.
- 3. Current expenditure on goods and services by local authorities, at market prices (1). The definition corresponds to that of item 2. For further details see Table 41.
- 4. Gross domestic fixed capital formation, at market prices (1). Expenditure on fixed assets (buildings, vehicles, plant and machinery, etc.) either for replacing or adding to the stock of existing fixed assets. Expenditure on maintenance and repairs is excluded. For details of gross domestic fixed capital formation by sector, industry and type of asset see Tables 50 to 56.
- 5. Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress, at market prices (1). The increase in the quantity of stocks and work in progress held by trading enterprises, or by the central government for strategic purposes, valued at average prices of the year. Calculation of the value of the physical increase in stocks is related to the calculation of stock appreciation (item 20). Considerable uncertainty attaches to the division of the change in value of stocks between these two elements. For further details of changes in stocks and work in progress see Tables 66 to 69.
- 6. Exports and property income from abroad, at market prices (1):
 - (a) Exports of goods. This is the same as exports

⁽¹⁾ In Table 12 each form of expenditure is also shown at factor cost. This is the market price value *less* the taxes on expenditure plus the subsidies falling on each form of expenditure. The allocation of these taxes and subsidies between the different forms of final expenditure is shown in Table 46.

- (f.o.b.) in Table 2 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- (b) Exports of services. Sales by United Kingdom residents to the rest of the world, other than those included in item 6a above. This figure is the same as the total credits from government and private services in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- (c) Property income from abroad. Rent, interest, profits and dividends received from overseas by United Kingdom residents. This is the same as the credits for interest, profits and dividends in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972, but reckoned before deducting foreign taxes. Profits are reckoned after deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.
- (d) United Kingdom taxes paid by non-residents on portfolio income. Income tax paid by non-residents to the United Kingdom government on their receipts of dividends and interest from portfolio investments in United Kingdom securities.
- (e) United Kingdom taxes paid on company profits due abroad. Corporation tax, income tax, profits tax and excess profits taxes paid on profits earned in the United Kingdom by foreign-owned branches and subsidiaries.
- 7. Imports and property income paid abroad:
- (a) Imports of goods. This is the same as imports (f.o.b.) in Table 2 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- (b) Imports of services. Purchases from abroad by United Kingdom residents, other than those included in item 7a above. This figure is the same as the total debits for government and private services in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- (c) Property income paid abroad. Rent, interest, profits and dividends paid overseas. This is the same as the debits for interest, profits and dividends in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972, but reckoned before deducting United Kingdom taxes. Profits are reckoned after deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.
- (d) Foreign taxes paid by United Kingdom residents. Taxes paid to overseas governments by United Kingdom resident companies operating abroad and by persons. The taxes are those levied by central governments on the basis of income; taxes which are regarded as operating expenses, including most mining royalties, are excluded.
- 8. Central government taxes on expenditure. Actual receipts of 'indirect' taxes related to the volume of production of, or trade in, particular goods and services as

- distinct from taxes related to the income or capital resources of particular individuals, companies, etc. plus the excess of purchase tax charged by registered traders in the year over actual receipts by the central government in the year. For details see Table 37.
- 9. Local authority taxes on expenditure. Accruals of local rates and payments in lieu of rates.
- 10. Central government subsidies. Payments made to a producer or trader with the object of reducing his selling price below the factor costs of production plus the excess of subsidies accrued in the year over the actual payments by the central government in the year for subsidies to the nationalised transport undertakings and for housing subsidies. The financing of losses on public trading services is included. For details see Table 37.
- 11. Local authority subsidies. The deficit on local authorities' housing revenue accounts. For details see Table 45.
- 12. Gross national product at factor cost. The sum of items 1 to 6, 10 and 11 less items 7, 8 and 9. It is also equal to item 22 plus item 23.

Items of factor income

- 13. Income from employment. This comprises the following items, given separately in Table 19:
 - (a) Wages and salaries. Cash earnings of wage earners and salaried employees, before deduction of income tax, surtax or insurance contributions plus income in kind less expenses of employment. The figures include directors' fees. For details see Tables 17 and 18.
 - (b) Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces. The pay and cash allowances of, and the cost of issues of food and clothing to, 'effective' members of the armed Forces and auxiliary services, excluding those on release leave but including those serving in government departments.
 - (c) Employers' national insurance, etc. contributions. Employers' contributions to the national insurance scheme, to the national health service and to the Redundancy Fund are regarded as part of employees' income deducted at source.
 - (d) Other employers' contributions. This item represents employers' contributions to superannuation and other pension funds, and, in the case of unfunded schemes, pensions and gratuities actually paid to retired employees (principally payments to former central government employees and to retired police and firemen). This item also includes compensation payments by employers to injured employees or to their dependants and redundancy payments made by employers which are not covered by rebates from the Redundancy Fund.

- 14. Income from self-employment (before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation). This is measured before deduction of tax or interest payments, and comprises the following items, given separately in Table 19:
 - (a) Professional persons. Income of professional workers from practice on their own account.
 - (b) Farmers. Income of farmers from all commercial holdings; income of companies engaged in agriculture is also included.
 - (c) Other sole traders and partnerships. Trading profits of non-corporate enterprises other than those engaged in providing professional services or in farming.
- 15. Gross trading profits of companies (before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation). Trading profits, before deduction of tax or interest payments, of companies and co-operative societies operating in the United Kingdom, including United Kingdom branches and subsidiaries of non-resident parent companies. For details see Tables 26 and 28 to 31.
- 16. Gross trading surplus of public corporations (before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation). The trading surpluses, before deduction of tax or interest payments, of the nationalised industries and public boards engaged in providing coal, electricity, gas, transport, etc. The Post Office is treated as a public corporation from April 1961. For details of the operations of public corporations see Tables 32 to 36.
- 17. Gross trading surplus of central government trading bodies (before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation). The surpluses of the trading departments of the central government before making any provision for interest payments. The Post Office was the principal trading enterprise until March 1961, after which it is treated as a public corporation.
- 18. Gross trading surplus of local authority trading bodies (before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation). The trading surpluses, before charging interest, of the local authority undertakings engaged in providing water, passenger transport, harbours, docks, etc.
- 19. Rent (before providing for depreciation). Gross receipts from ownership of land and buildings less actual expenditure by the owners on repairs, maintenance and insurance. An imputed income is included for owner-occupied dwellings and farms, houses provided rent-free by employers and houses and non-trading property owned and occupied by public authorities. Imputed income from owner-occupied trading property, other than farms, is included in trading income (items 14a and 14c to 18) and is not part of rent.
- 20. Stock appreciation. This is the part of the change in the value of stocks and work in progress during the

- year which arises from increases in the prices at which stocks and work in progress are valued. The estimates of stock appreciation are related to estimates of the value of stocks, and are highly uncertain. An approximate analysis of stock appreciation by sector is given in Table 69.
- 21. Residual error. The difference between item 22 and the sum of items 13 to 19 less item 20. Two estimates of the gross domestic product (item 22) are built up from largely independent data on incomes and final expenditure. The residual error—the difference between the two independent estimates—is presented as though it were an item (positive or negative) of income. This is purely for convenience of presentation and does not imply that the estimates of expenditure are necessarily superior in accuracy to the estimates of income. The residual error is not attributed to any of the sectors. It is, however, carried into the combined capital account (Table 6) as a form of saving.
- 22. Gross domestic product at factor cost. The sum of expenditure items 1 to 5, 6a, 6b, 10 and 11, less items 7a, 7b, 8 and 9. It is also equal to the sum of income items 13 to 19 less item 20, plus the residual error (item 21).
- 23. Net property income from abroad. Item 6c plus item 6d plus item 6e less item 7c less item 7d. This is the same as the net credit from interest, profits and dividends in Table 2 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972. Profits are reckoned after deducting depreciation allowances but before providing for stock appreciation.
- 24. Capital consumption. This item is a measure of the amount of fixed capital resources used up in the process of production during the year. It is deducted from the gross national product to obtain a measure of the national income, and from gross domestic fixed capital formation to obtain a measure of net domestic fixed capital formation. Capital consumption is not an identifiable set of transactions: it is an imputed transaction which can be measured only by a system of conventions. Mainly for this reason the estimates of capital consumption are not fully incorporated in the summary tables. For details of capital consumption see Tables 57 to 59.
 - 25. National income. Item 12 less item 24.

Other items of personal income and expenditure

26. Rent, dividends and net interest received by personal sector. This item represents total receipts of rent and of dividends, including co-operative society dividends, together with receipts less payments of interest. The receipts of life assurance and superannuation funds, including industrial assurance funds, are regarded as the income of the policy holders and members of the schemes and are included in the

receipts of the personal sector. They are shown separately in Table 19.

- 27. Current transfers to charities from companies. Identified contributions by companies to charities, which are non-profit-making bodies included in the personal sector.
- 28. Grants paid to personal sector by central government:
 - (a) National insurance benefits. Details are given in Table 40.
 - (b) Other. Supplementary benefits, family allowances, war pensions, etc. Rebates to employers paid from the Redundancy Fund are included in this item. Grants to non-profit-making bodies serving persons, for example grants to universities, are also included. Details are given in Table 37.
- 29. Grants paid to personal sector by local authorities. The main items are scholarships and grants to universities, colleges, etc. Details are given in Table 41.
- 30. Transfers abroad (net) by personal sector. Net transfers abroad by persons, including legacies and migrants' funds. This is the same as net private transfers in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- 31. Taxes paid abroad. Taxes paid to overseas governments by persons on property income from abroad. This is part of item 7d.
 - 32. United Kingdom taxes on income.
 - (a) Payments.
 - (b) Additions to tax reserves. The excess of accruals of income tax and surtax over the actual payments of tax in the year.
- 33. National insurance, etc. contributions. Contributions by employers (item 13c), employees and self-employed persons to the national insurance scheme, to the national health service and to the Redundancy Fund.
- 34. Balance: saving before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. This figure is obtained as the residual difference in Table 2 between total personal income and total personal current expenditure. Both the absolute amount in each year, and the changes from year to year, are subject to large margins of error. Saving, as here defined, includes increases in the funds of life assurance companies and superannuation schemes. Saving is transferred to the capital account shown in Table 20. Transactions in financial assets are given in Table 72.
- 35. Income from employment after tax payments. Item 13 less the appropriate parts of items 32a and 33.
- 36. Income from self-employment after tax payments. Item 14 less the appropriate parts of items 32a and 33.

- 37. Personal income from rent, dividends and net interest after tax payments. Item 26 less the appropriate parts of items 32a and 33.
- 38. Personal receipts of current grants by public authorities, after tax payments. Items 28 and 29 less the appropriate part of item 32a.

The estimates of the incidence of tax on the different forms of income, which are only approximate, are shown in more detail in Table 47. Items 35 to 37 are combined from 1963 when changes in surtax reliefs made the division of surtax arbitrary.

Other items in the appropriation account of companies

- 39. Other income of companies:
- (a) Rent and non-trading income arising in the United Kingdom. The principal components are public debt interest, interest paid to financial companies and rent from property owned and let. Income from investments in other companies is excluded.
- (b) Income from abroad. The profits of United Kingdom companies operating abroad and of foreign subsidiaries of United Kingdom companies (after deducting depreciation allowances, but before deducting taxes on income paid to overseas governments and before providing for stock appreciation) plus non-trading income from abroad. This is part of item 6c.
- 40. Company dividends and interest:
- (a) Payments. Dividends and interest paid out during the year reckoned before deduction of income tax. Dividends, etc. paid by one company to another in the United Kingdom and dividends, etc. paid by United Kingdom subsidiaries to their foreign parent companies or shareholders are excluded.
- (b) Additions to dividend reserves. The excess of accruals of dividends over payments in the year.
- 41. Profits due abroad, net of United Kingdom tax, and taxes paid abroad.
 - (a) Profits due abroad, net of United Kingdom tax. The profits earned in the United Kingdom by foreignowned branches and subsidiaries.
 - (b) Taxes paid abroad. Taxes paid to overseas governments by United Kingdom resident companies operating abroad. This is part of item 7d.
- 42. United Kingdom taxes on income. Payments on profits due abroad appear as item 6e.
 - (a) Payments on other income. Corporation tax, income tax, profits tax and excess profits taxes paid on income earned by companies both resident and owned in the United Kingdom.

- (b) Additions to tax reserves on profits due abroad. The net excess of accruals of tax over the amounts actually paid in item 6e.
- (c) Additions to tax reserves on other income. The net excess of accruals of tax over the amounts actually paid in item 42a.
- 43. Balance: undistributed income of companies after taxation but before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. The balancing item in Table 26.

Other items in the appropriation account of public corporations

- 44. Other income of public corporations:
- (a) Rent and non-trading income.
- (b) Income from abroad.

This item corresponds to item 39 for companies.

- 45. Public corporation interest:
- (a) Payments.
- (b) Additions to interest reserves.

This item corresponds to item 40 for companies.

- 46. United Kingdom taxes on income:
- (a) Payments.
- (b) Additions to tax reserves.

This item corresponds to item 42 plus item 6e for companies.

47. Balance: undistributed income of public corporations after taxation but before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. The balancing item in Table 33.

Other items in the current account of central government including National Insurance Funds

- 48. Rent, dividends and interest received by central government. The largest item is interest on loans to local authorities and public corporations. Interest received by one part of the central government from another part is excluded, for example national debt interest received by the National Insurance Funds.
- 49. Taxes on income. Receipts from income tax, surtax, corporation tax, profits tax and excess profits taxes. The sum of items 6d, 6e, 32a, 42a and 46a.
- 50. Current grants from overseas governments. Mainly defence aid grants from the United States and Canada less United States share of counterpart.
- 51. Debt interest paid by central government. This item excludes interest on securities held within the central

government, for example securities held by the National Insurance Funds.

- 52. Current grants to local authorities. Includes rate support grants, general grants, rate deficiency grants, equalisation grants and grants towards specific services. Capital grants are excluded.
- 53. Current grants paid abroad. Grants to overseas governments under the economic aid programme; military aid to overseas governments; subscriptions and contributions to international organisations; war pensions and national insurance benefits paid to persons abroad. This is the same as government transfers overseas in Table 11 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- 54. Balance: current surplus of central government, before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. The balancing item in Table 4.

Other items in the current account of local authorities

- 55. Rent, dividends and interest received by local authorities. The greater part of this item represents the imputed rent income in respect of houses and non-trading property owned by local authorities.
- 56. Debt interest paid by local authorities. This includes interest paid on loans from the central government.
- 57. Balance: current surplus of local authorities before providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. The balancing item in Table 5.

Other items in international transactions

- 58. Current transfers to personal sector. The credit part of item 30. This is the same as credits from private transfers in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- 59. Capital transfers from abroad. This item includes a variety of capital receipts arising from government operations abroad. In the early post-war years the main constituents were grants under the European Recovery Programme and gifts from abroad; settlements of debts and claims arising out of the war; and sales of surplus war stores held abroad. Receipts were last recorded in 1955.
- 60. Current transfers from personal sector. The debit part of item 30. This is the same as debits from private transfers in Table 9 of United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.
- 61. Net investment abroad. This represents the net increase in the value of overseas assets acquired by United Kingdom residents less the net increase in the value of assets in the United Kingdom acquired by non-residents. Overseas assets are taken to include

investment in physical assets, financial assets and gold and foreign currency reserves. Net investment abroad is equal to the current balance in the balance of payments, except for the years 1947–51 when capital grants from overseas governments (item 62) have to be deducted. It is also equal, apart from the change in sign, to the net balance of 'investment and capital flows' in the balance of payments plus the net balance of official financing items plus the 'balancing item.' The latter is the residual total of unidentified transactions in the balance of payments accounts, some part of which is probably attributable to current transactions. Details of net investment abroad are given in Table 77.

62. Capital grants from overseas governments (net). The principal component is receipts of aid under the European Recovery Programme. There were receipts under this heading only from 1947 to 1951. It appeared as item 8 in United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1946-57.

Gross domestic product

Table 8 brings together the various estimates of gross domestic product at factor cost. They are shown in index number form with the base year for the constant price estimates as 100.

MERCHANISH WAR FOR THE STATE OF THE STATE OF

- 63. At current prices; based on income data. The estimate built up from data on incomes, largely independent of the data on expenditure which provide item 22. It is the sum of items 13 to 19 less item 20 in Table 1. It is also equal to item 22 less item 21.
- 64. At constant prices; based on expenditure data. The estimate built up from the components of item 22 revalued at 1963 prices. Details are given in Table 14. It is equal to item 22 divided by the index of total home costs given in Table 16.
- 65. At constant prices; based on income data. The estimate obtained by deflating the income estimate of gross domestic product at current prices by the price index implied by the current and constant price estimates based on expenditure data. It is equal to item 63 divided by the price index implied by items 22 and 64, which is shown as the index of total home costs in Table 16.
- 66. At constant prices; based on output data. The estimate built up from estimating the contributions, revalued at constant prices, of different industries to the gross domestic product. Details are given in Table 15.
- 67. At constant prices; average estimate. The unweighted arithmetic average of the three estimates based on expenditure, income and output data (items 64, 65 and 66).

XIV. NOTES

This section is designed to bring up-to-date the description of sources, methods and definitions given in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, Studies in Official Statistics, No. 13, HMSO, 1968 (subsequently referred to as Sources and Methods). The notes which follow also describe the principal revisions which have been made to the estimates contained in last year's National Income Blue Book (National Income and Expenditure, 1971, HMSO, 1971).

The analyses by industry are now based as far as possible on the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968.

Summary tables

Changes in sources, methods and definition of items in Tables 1 to 7 are described in the detailed sections of these notes in which the items occur.

Table 11. Gross domestic product by industry

In this Blue Book the items Net property income from abroad and Gross national product at factor cost have been omitted from the table, and the title changed accordingly. In addition, the table now shows estimates of the contribution of each industry to the gross domestic product after providing for stock appreciation. Hitherto, the estimates given had been before providing for stock appreciation—these still appear in Table 17.

Table 12. Gross domestic product by category of expenditure

In this Blue Book the items Net property income from abroad and Gross national product have been omitted from the table, and the title changed accordingly. The estimates of gross domestic product at market prices are defined to include taxes on expenditure levied on imports. Estimates excluding taxes on expenditure levied on imports can be obtained by using the estimates given in the table below.

Table 13. Gross domestic product by sector and type of income and employment by sector

In this Blue Book the items Net property income from abroad and Gross national product have been omitted from the table, and the title changed accordingly.

Income of domestic servants. The estimates incorporate the numbers of domestic servants recorded in the 1966 census of population.

The estimates of factor incomes for public corporations cover the British Steel Corporation from July 1967. The estimates of employment relate to mid-June and the steel undertakings nationalised in July 1967 are included in the private sector figures for that year.

Expenditure and output at constant prices

The tables in this section are based on 1963. The change from 1958 was first introduced in the White Paper Preliminary Estimates of National Income and Balance of Payments, 1963 to 1968 (Cmnd. 3983).

Table 14. Expenditure and output at 1963 prices.

The estimates for 1963 to 1968 have been calculated in detail in relation to the base year 1963. The main improvements in the indicators of price and volume changes since 1963 are described in the notes below.

For the years 1958 to 1962 the estimates calculated on the base year 1958 have been linked to the series from 1963 based on 1963 without detailed re-calculation of all the individual items, but linking has been carried out separately at least for each of the components published in the Blue Book and in rather greater detail where it seemed appropriate. The estimates shown in this table are obtained from the sum of these linked components. A more detailed re-calculation was not thought worthwhile since the relative prices of 1958 are not less appropriate to this group of years than those of 1963.

For the years 1950 to 1957 the estimates related to the base year 1958 have been linked to the series from 1958 based on 1963 separately only for each of the items included in this table. The aggregates have been linked separately from the components so that the relative changes shown by estimates for 1950 to 1958 are not affected by the relative prices of 1963. Hence the components shown do not add to the totals for these years. The adjustments between the sum of the main components and the estimates of the gross domestic and national products at factor cost are shown in footnote (1) to the table.

Consumers' expenditure. See notes on Table 23.

Public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services. The indices of wage and salary rates used to revalue at constant prices central government expenditure on wages and salaries are now improved. Volume indicators of the floor area of buildings occupied are now used to estimate changes in rent and rates at constant prices, in place of revaluation by price indices. Expenditure on repair and maintenance of buildings is revalued by the index of construction costs calculated by the Department of the Environment (formerly the Ministry of Public Building and Works), instead of by the appropriate section of the retail price index. The calculations have also been revised to incorporate a larger element of current weighting.

Taxes on expenditure levied on imports

£ million

										and the second	£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices At 1963 prices	1,568 1,636	1,646 1,630	1,694 1,694	1,887	2,182	2,248	2,236 1,887	2,489 1,960	2,820	2,949	3,020

Gross domestic fixed capital formation. See notes on page 110.

Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress. See notes on page 111.

Exports and imports of goods and services. See notes on page 114.

Adjustment to factor cost. There were considerable differences in the rates of purchase tax operative in 1958 and 1963 and the series for purchase tax has been linked in some detail back to 1958. From 1963 the calculation of subsidies at constant prices includes the subsidy to the British Transport Commission, which started in 1960. The subsidy was paid to cover the revenue deficit and it is therefore revalued at constant prices by taking the difference between the revalued receipts and revalued expenditure on revenue account, that is by double deflation. The subsidy thus calculated falls markedly after 1963.

Estimates from 1963 have been revised by inclusion of a new series for protective duties, based on changes in the volume of imports. The revision also affects the figures for taxes on expenditure levied on imports at 1963 prices, given in the table on page 97.

Table 15. Index numbers of output at constant factor cost.

In this Blue Book the table gives index numbers of output for each of the separate Orders within manufacturing. Although the detailed estimates had been published elsewhere in the past, revised, historical series have now been compiled. These were introduced in an article in the May 1972 issue of *Economic Trends*.

The indices from 1963 are weighted together according to the distribution of net output in 1963. The weights, which are given in the table, are based on the total of factor incomes shown in Table 17 of the 1969 Blue Book less stock appreciation, adjusted as far as possible to the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968. Prior to 1963, indices within the index of industrial production have been recalculated on the 1963 base. The methods of deriving and linking together the figures for different periods are described in the article referred to above. The indices for gross domestic product and the industries outside the index of production are simply linked by reference to their average levels in successive base years.

Full details of the weights and indicators used from 1963 are given in *The Index of Industrial Production and Other Output Measures*, Studies in Official Statistics, No. 17, HMSO, 1970. Since the publication of *Sources and Methods* the main changes which have been made in the indicators from 1963 for industries outside the index of industrial production are:

- (i) the inclusion of a series for travel by taxis and private hire cars under road passenger transport;
- (ii) changes in some of the indicators within the Distributive trades;
- (iii) the use of a three-year moving average of premiums less claims for all forms of insurance other than life assurance within Insurance, banking, finance and business services. The series are deflated by the same price indices as before;

(iv) an improved method of weighting the indices of the three categories of turnover of motor repairers, garages, etc. to reflect their estimated contribution to net output in 1963, within *Miscellaneous services*.

The estimates for Agriculture, forestry and fishing now cover commercial holdings of less than one acre and occasional sales by non-commercial holdings. The estimates for Transport and communication now include figures of ton miles for road goods transport based on the results of the 1967/68 survey of road goods transport. In this Blue Book the estimates for Distributive trades have been revised in the light of the final results of the 1966 census of distribution.

Table 16. Index numbers of costs and prices

The table now includes the price index implied by the estimates of public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services at current and constant prices.

Industrial input and output

Table 17. Gross domestic product by industry and type of income

The estimates have been revised as far as possible in line with the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968. See notes on Tables 18 and 31. Continuing the practice introduced last year, estimates for wages and for salaries are no longer shown separately. Separate estimates, on broadly the same basis as those published previously, are available on request to the National Accounts Section of the Central Statistical Office.

Within income from employment, estimates for recent years of income in kind and 'other' employers' contributions for the index of production industries and certain other industries have been based on information from the Department of Employment's labour costs survey in 1968.

Mining and quarrying. The estimates of gross profits and other trading income have been reduced by the allocation to other industries of that part of the trading surplus of the National Coal Board appropriate to its activities outside of collieries.

Manufacturing; Construction; Gas, electricity and water. The estimates of income from employment incorporate results from the 1968 census of production and, for Manufacturing and Gas, electricity and water, the provisional results of the 1970 census of production, which were published in Trade and Industry on 23 December 1971. See notes on Table 18.

Transport; Distributive trades; Insurance, banking and finance. In deriving estimates of income from employment, use has been made of the Department of Employment's new earnings surveys for 1970 and 1971.

Insurance, banking and finance. In this Blue Book the method of estimation of rent from business property (that is covering property owned by persons, companies and public corporations and rented for use by both private and public trading enterprises) has been improved in the light of up-to-date information on rents of new offices.

Insurance, banking and finance; Other services. It has not been possible to revise the estimates for these industries for the transfer of business services and central offices from the Order miscellaneous services to the Order insurance, banking, finance and business services in the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968.

Table 18. Wages and salaries in manufacturing industries
See notes on Table 17.

The estimates have been revised as far as possible in line with the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968. The estimates incorporate the results of the 1968 census of production, which are currently being published, in a series of detailed Industry Reports, by the Department of Trade and Industry. The Reports also include revised information in respect of the 1963 census of production and, as a result, a number of revisions have been made to the figures prior to 1968.

For years before 1963 estimates have been made by assuming that, for individual Orders, the differences between the figures on the old and new classifications were proportionately the same in earlier years as they were in 1963. It is not practicable to make estimates in this way for the additional industrial Orders in the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968 which gives a more detailed breakdown for the chemicals and engineering industries, and these Orders are therefore combined for the years before 1963. For 1963 to 1967 and 1969 estimates of the more detailed breakdown for the chemicals and engineering industries are based on the assumption that the movement of average earnings was the same for each of the two Orders in chemicals and for each of the three Orders in engineering, and these series are therefore subject to some uncertainty.

From the 1971 Blue Book the method of estimation for years when detailed census of production information is not available, described on page 135 of Sources and Methods, has been modified from 1963 to reflect the movement of the monthly index of average earnings between earnings inquiries (now including the Department of Employment's new earnings surveys).

Input-Output tables

No input-output tables are included in this Blue Book. It is hoped that the final detailed input-output tables for 1968 will be published about the end of this year.

Personal sector

Table 19. Income and expenditure account Wages and salaries. See notes on Table 17.

Pay in cash and kind of H.M. Forces. About one-third of the increase between 1969 and 1970 reflects the introduction on 1 April 1970 of the new pay structure whereby servicemen are paid a salary from which they have to make payments to cover the cost of their food and accommodation and make additional tax payments. Up to that date the figures of income in kind include the cost of issues of food and nothing is included for lodging.

Employers' contributions: other. The estimates incorporate the results of the Government Actuary's third survey of occupational pension schemes in 1967.

Farmers; Other sole traders and partnerships. The estimates of income of farmers now cover occupiers of all commercial holdings, including those of less than one acre. The estimate of the income of smallholders, included in the income of other sole traders and partnerships, has been correspondingly reduced. In this Blue Book an addition has been made to the estimate of the income of other sole traders and partnerships to cover occasional sales of produce by non-commercial holdings.

National insurance benefits and other current grants from public authorities. The figures now exclude the net cost to public authorities of school meals, milk and welfare foods provided free or at subsidised prices. Instead of being regarded as a grant in kind to the personal sector this expenditure is now included in public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services and does not enter into the personal income and expenditure account. In this Blue Book expenditure on legal aid has been similarly reclassified.

Taxes paid abroad. The estimates are now made by applying appropriate tax rates to the estimates of property income from abroad.

Table 20. Capital account

Capital transfers. In this Blue Book estimates of receipts of Other capital transfers are now shown gross instead of net, and payments are shown separately in the expenditure part of the table under the new item Capital transfers to public corporations.

Taxes on capital. Figures for 1968 to 1970 include the special charge on investment income in 1967/68, which is shown separately in Table 47.

Table 21. Revenue account of life assurance and superannuation funds

The estimates incorporate the results of the Government Actuary's third survey of occupational pension schemes in 1967.

Distribution of personal income before and after tax

The table included up to the 1969 Blue Book has been dropped because of the increasing amount of estimation required to produce calendar year figures on a national accounts basis. Tables showing the distribution by ranges of personal income for financial years, as obtained by the Inland Revenue from income surveys of tax returns, are published in *Inland Revenue Statistics* and in the *Annual Abstract of Statistics*.

Tables 22 and 23. Consumers' expenditure

Food (household expenditure). The figures now include only the cost to persons of welfare foods and milk provided under the National Milk Schemes and not their total cost. See notes on Table 19.

In the table on page 100 the estimates of household and other personal expenditure on food given up to the 1969

Blue Book have been replaced by estimates of expenditure on food covering, in addition to household expenditure, all expenditure on food by both commercial and non-commercial catering establishments. These estimates are derived in the course of calculating household expenditure on food. They cover all expenditure on food for civilian consumption, including expenditure on food by public authorities for hospitals, prisons, homes for old people, etc. and for school meals, welfare foods and milk provided under National Milk Schemes. The cost of issues of food to H.M. Forces is excluded. The figures of household expenditure are at prices paid by the consumer while those of expenditure by catering establishments are generally at wholesale prices.

Rent, rates and water charges. The estimates from 1962 incorporate information on the total number of owner-occupied houses derived from the sample census of population for 1966.

Fuel and light: electricity. From the second quarter of 1967 the timing of the estimates has been changed to reflect consumption in the quarter instead of amounts billed and meter collections.

Clothing; Furniture and floor coverings; Radio, electrical and other durable goods; Household textiles and soft furnishings; Hardware; Chemists' goods; Miscellaneous recreational goods; Other miscellaneous goods. The estimates for 1966 incorporate the final results of the census of distribution for that year. The estimates for the years after 1966 have been revised in the light of the final rebasing of the retail sales indices on the census results and minor changes in the methods of projection. For 1970, these revisions have led to an increase in expenditure of some £130 million (at current prices).

Other household goods. The separate estimates for Household textiles and soft furnishings and for Hardware, which prior to the 1971 Blue Book were included in the notes, are now given in the tables.

Chemists' goods. The figures include an estimate for private purchases of spectacles and contact lenses from ophthalmic opticians.

Motor cars and motor cycles, new and secondhand. The estimates incorporate the results of the motor trades inquiry for 1967.

Books. The addition for the value of imported books based on import statistics excludes books printed abroad for United Kingdom publishers.

Newspapers and magazines. The estimates for the latest years have been based on the results of the Family Expenditure Survey, instead of on the data on circulations described in Sources and Methods. These estimates have been revalued at constant prices using the appropriate items of the index of retail prices.

Miscellaneous recreational goods. The estimates for expenditure on domestic pets now make more extensive use of the results of the Family Expenditure Survey.

Running costs of motor vehicles. The estimates for maintenance, repairs, spare parts and accessories for recent years are now based on the results of the Family Expenditure Survey. The estimates have been increased on average by about £50 million (at current prices) in the latest years, as a result of more detailed information from trade sources on expenditure on fuel.

Travel. In this Blue Book separate estimates for expenditure on Air, previously included within Travel: Other, are given in Table 22, at current prices. Estimates for sea travel (within Other) on both long and short sea routes for the latest years are now derived from the results of the International Passenger Survey conducted by the Department of Trade and Industry.

Entertainment and recreational services. In this Blue Book separate estimates for expenditure on radio and television licences, the renting of television and radio sets, and the relay of sound and vision, previously included within Entertainment and recreational services: other, are now given in the tables under Radio and TV: licences, rental and relay. The estimates for renting of television and radio sets in the latest years are based on projections of the benchmark estimates from the censuses of distribution by turnover figures, instead of by numbers of sets hired out and an index of price as described on page 178 of Sources and Methods.

Domestic service. The estimates incorporate the number of domestic servants recorded in the 1966 census of population.

Catering (meals and accommodation). The figures now include only parents' contributions to school meals. The net cost to public authorities of meals in maintained schools and school milk is now excluded; see

Household and total catering expenditure on food(1)

£ million

	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
At current prices	5,010	5,242 5,329	5,398	5,637 5,489	5,843	6,130 5,586	6,319 5,646	6,528 5,675	6,903 5,695	7,386 5,802	8,041 5,764

⁽¹⁾ As defined in the notes on page 99.

notes on Table 19. From 1 April 1970 the figures include payments made by the Forces to cover the cost of their food and accommodation, following the introduction of the new pay structure; the cost of food is not included in the table on page 100. The figures for *Income in kind not included elsewhere* have been reduced from the same date by the exclusion of food issued to the Forces.

From 1963 the estimates for catering are revalued at constant prices using a specially constructed price index for meals and accommodation instead of an index of changes in costs. Price indices for meals are calculated from information collected by the Department of Employment for calculating the component of the index of retail prices for meals bought and consumed outside the home. For accommodation a price index is constructed from published quotations for bed and breakfast in licensed and unlicensed hotels. Parents' contributions to the cost of school meals are revalued by a price index of gross costs per meal, which is also used in revaluing expenditure on school meals within public authorities' current expenditure on goods and services.

Other services. In this Blue Book separate estimates for expenditure on Laundry, launderettes, dry cleaning and dyeing, on Hairdressing, manicure and beauty care and on Betting and gaming, previously included in Other services, are given in table 22, at current prices.

Income in kind not included elsewhere. From 1 April 1970 the figures exclude the cost of food issued to the Forces, included under Catering.

Table 25. Taxes on expenditure and subsidies allocated to consumers' expenditure

The estimates of taxes and subsidies *Not allocated to categories* have been adjusted in order to be consistent with the results of the input-output analyses for 1963 and 1968.

Taxes allocated to specific categories of consumers' expenditure include taxes on expenditure by foreign tourists, etc. The estimated total of taxes on their expenditure is deducted from taxes not allocated to categories of consumers' expenditure and attributed to exports of goods and services in Table 46.

From 1966 the proportion of selective employment tax payments and premiums attributed to consumers' expenditure is based largely on input-output statistics for 1968 and the results of the 1966 census of distribution. Payments made by those industries which do not qualify for a premium or refund of tax, broadly the service industries, have been allocated between the various categories of consumers' expenditure. For other industries, payments less refunds of the tax and premiums in excess of the original tax payments are included respectively in the taxes on expenditure and in the subsidies not allocated to categories of consumers' expenditure.

Companies

Table 26. Appropriation account

Gross trading profits. In making the estimates from 1966 selective employment tax has been treated on a

cash basis and refunds or premiums have been allowed for when they are received. The treatment of selective employment tax in the reported figures on which the estimates are based is often uncertain and the estimates are therefore subject to a wider margin of error than usual whenever there are changes in the tax.

The estimates of profits include an adjustment to the Inland Revenue profits data additional to those described on pages 223-6 of Sources and Methods. The Inland Revenue estimates of profits do not allow for all receipts and payments of royalties and an approximate adjustment has been made to allow for this. The estimates are consistent with the balance of payments accounts in which all royalties are regarded as payments for services.

The estimates of the gross trading profits of financial companies have been revised by the exclusion of the net earnings of United Kingdom banks on claims and liabilities in non-sterling currencies, now regarded as non-trading income.

Income from abroad. The estimates now cover the net earnings of United Kingdom banks on claims and liabilities in non-sterling currencies, formerly considered as part of gross trading profits. The revised treatment is consistent with the balance of payments accounts where these net earnings have been reclassified from services to interest, profits and dividends.

Debenture and loan interest. The estimates now cover loan interest payments not included in other items as well as debenture interest, which is not distinguished from other annual payments in the information available to the Inland Revenue. The estimates are based on information available from Schedule 12 income tax returns, adjusted to exclude royalty payments, covenanted contributions to charities and interest on deposits with hire purchase finance companies. Adjustments have also been made to exclude all payments within the company sector.

Dividends on ordinary shares. The estimates for recent years are based on information from Schedule 12 income tax returns.

Additions to dividend reserves. The figures incorporate revised estimates of the timing of interim and final dividend payments. Quarterly payments have been allocated to accounting periods ending in each quarter on the basis of an analysis of the accounts of the largest companies. Interim dividends are estimated to be paid on average at the end of the accounting period and final dividends some six months later.

United Kingdom taxes on income. The tax charge from 1966 was increased by the withdrawal of investment allowances and the changes in initial allowances from 17 January 1966 when investment grants were introduced. Investment grants were withdrawn and a new system of allowances introduced from 26 October 1970.

Taxes paid abroad. From 1966 the figures are no longer estimated from information obtained by the Inland Revenue in connection with relief of United Kingdom tax

against foreign tax. The estimates are partly based on direct information from certain companies, and partly derived by applying the appropriate rates of tax to an analysis by country of other property income from abroad.

Table 27. Capital account

Capital transfers. Receipts of investment grants, in respect of capital expenditure from 17 January 1966 to 26 October 1970, and taxes on capital are now shown separately. In this Blue Book estimates of receipts of Other capital transfers are now shown gross instead of net, and payments are shown separately in the expenditure part of the table under the new item Capital transfers to public corporations.

Taxes on capital. These taxes mainly comprise amounts paid on chargeable gains under companies' corporation tax liability.

Tables 28 and 29. Appropriation and capital accounts of industrial and commercial companies and financial companies

Rent and non-trading income. The rent income of financial companies is now estimated on the basis of their investment in land, real property and ground rents, etc.

Dividend and interest payments. Payments of dividends on ordinary shares by industrial and commercial companies are now shown separately and their payments on preference shares are included with Other dividend and interest payments.

Current transfers to charities. About one-tenth of the contributions by companies to charities are attributed to financial companies on the basis of information provided by the Inland Revenue.

Increase in value of stocks and work in progress. Estimates for financial companies are given in this Blue Book, based on new information about stocks held by financial institutions. No estimates are available for years before 1968, but the amounts involved are thought to be small.

Taxes on capital. The Inland Revenue has now estimated the division of these taxes between industrial and commercial companies and financial companies.

Table 31. Trading profits by industry

The table shows estimates for the new Orders of the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968 but it has not yet been possible to reclassify all companies according to the new industrial classification. Comparison of the new classification with the one it has replaced shows that no complete trade group has to be transferred to a different summary group. Since this table is based on a classification of companies assessed for tax the revisions to the industrial classification can be expected to have a smaller effect on these estimates than on estimates prepared on an establishment basis. However,

the effect of the change on the figures for some industries, in particular those for Insurance, banking, finance and business services and Other services could be appreciable. Other figures which may be affected are those for Food, drink and tobacco, Chemicals and allied industries, Mechanical engineering, Metal goods not elsewhere specified and the Distributive trades. The detailed estimates of trading profits by industry for 1970, based on the analysis of assessments to corporation tax, will be compiled by the Inland Revenue according to the revised classification, and revisions may be made to the estimates for earlier years when the detailed assessment-based figures for 1970 become available.

For the years from 1965 the analysis by industry, which is derived from the statistics of tax assessments, is less reliable than that for earlier years because of the change in the system of taxation of companies from income tax and profits tax to corporation tax. Income tax was charged by reference to the gross trading profits whereas corporation tax is charged on the total net income, including non-trading income and after deducting capital allowances and interest payments. There are many technical differences between the resulting series, and the problem of linking them has not yet been fully solved. The figures for the later years are therefore subject to wider margins of error than the earlier ones.

Public corporations

From 28 July 1967 the British Steel Corporation is included in public corporations; the companies then nationalised were previously included in the company sector. In March 1968 the Transport Holding Company acquired full control of the British Electric Traction group of bus companies and from this date their activities are included within this sector. On 1 January 1969 three new transport bodies were set up under the Transport Act, 1968: the National Freight Corporation, the National Bus Company and the Scottish Transport Group. This represents a regrouping of businesses previously forming part of the Transport Holding Company and the British Railways Board. On 1 October 1969 responsibility for the Department for National Savings was transferred from the Post Office Corporation to the central government. On 1 January 1970 the greater part of the London Transport Board was vested in a new body—the London Transport Executive—controlled by the Greater London Council and from that date is included in local authorities; the remainder of the undertaking was vested in the National Bus Company and remains within this sector. On 1 May 1971 the Industrial Reorganisation Corporation was dissolved and its assets and liabilities transferred to central government.

Table 32. Operating account

From 1967/68 the English and Scottish electricity boards changed their basis of recording income from sales of electricity. Previously this income was based on bills issued; it is now based on the consumption of electricity in the period. Both revenue sales and the gross trading surplus therefore reflect the inclusion of this unbilled revenue from 1 April 1967.

Table 33. Appropriation account

Gross trading surplus; Rent. Certain income of the housing and new town corporations formerly included in the gross trading surplus has been reclassified as rent.

Non-trading income. The figures have been reduced by the exclusion of the receipt by the Electricity Council of £2 million a year interest from another public corporation, the South of Scotland Electricity Board, from 1955/56 onwards. The transaction has also been consolidated out of Interest and dividends on the other side of the account.

Payments of interest and dividends:

To central government. This item now covers all other identified payments of interest and dividends as well as interest on loans. The additional items now included were previously included in Other interest and dividends; they are listed on page 242 of Sources and Methods.

Other. This item now excludes all identified payments to the central government and the payment by the South of Scotland Electricity Board to the Electricity Council. See preceding notes.

Table 34. Capital account

The table has been rearranged in order to show the public corporations' borrowing requirement and to show the residual financial transactions on the receipts side of the account as in the other public sector capital accounts.

Capital transfers. In this Blue Book the table now shows separately transfers From central government and From private sector.

From central government: on writing-off debt. See notes on Table 38.

From private sector. From 1968 this item includes capital contributions received by electricity generating boards from aluminium smelter companies.

Financial transactions on writing-off debt. These have now been brought together under one heading. For details of the entries from 1968 see notes on Table 38.

Borrowing requirement:

Redemption of government guaranteed stock. This item is shown separately because it is treated as not affecting the central government borrowing requirement. See notes on Table 38.

Other identified borrowing (net). This comprises borrowing from banks, from abroad and from own superannuation funds, and net receipts from issues less other redemptions of stock, less net acquisitions of

local authority debt and British government securities. Figures of borrowing from banks and from own superannuation funds are taken from the financial accounts. Figures of borrowing from abroad are based on returns from the public corporations.

Adjustment for subsidies. The difference between accruals and receipts of subsidies from central government which, prior to this Blue Book, was included in Miscellaneous financial receipts (net).

Net lending to private sector. This item now includes loans and mortgages by new town corporations and advances by the nationalised industries to associated companies. From 1967 net lending by the Industrial Reorganisation Corporation is included.

Net lending and investment abroad. This item now includes expenditure on fixed assets abroad and other investment abroad by the nationalised industries.

Tables 35 and 36. Analysis by industry of appropriation and capital accounts

These tables now include figures for the latest year shown in the combined tables. This has been made possible by improved quarterly information.

Table 36. Analysis of capital accounts by industry

The table has been rearranged to correspond with the revised arrangement of Table 34.

Central government including National Insurance Funds

On 1 October 1969 responsibility for the Department for National Savings was transferred to the central government from the Post Office Corporation.

Table 37. Current account

Export rebates. The figures shown include relief for shipbuilders under Section 2 of the Finance Act, 1966. Rebates ceased to be payable on goods exported after 31 March 1968, unless the goods were exported under certain contracts made before the announcement of devaluation. Shipbuilders' relief continued, however, and is payable on delivery of the ship.

Television contractors: additional payments. Payments to the Exchequer under the Television Act, 1964 are now shown separately from Miscellaneous items.

Miscellaneous taxes on expenditure. In this Blue Book certain fees for services provided by the central government previously included here are now classified as deductions from Current expenditure on goods and services. The amounts which have been reclassified are given in the table below.

Central government receipts previously included in taxes on expenditure and now classified as deductions from current expenditure on goods and services £ million

		And the second second	The same of the sa	and the state of the state of	and the state of t				~ mino
1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970
16	17	20	21	24	26	28	33	35	44

Gross trading surplus. On 1 April 1971 the trading activities of the Atomic Energy Authority were transferred to two companies in the private sector.

Interest and dividends, etc.: from public corporations. This item now includes all identified receipts of interest and dividends. Receipts from public corporations other than interest on loans were previously included under Other receipts of interest and dividends, etc.

Current expenditure on goods and services. This item now includes net expenditure on milk and welfare foods, and in this Blue Book expenditure on legal aid, which are no longer regarded as grants to the personal sector but as direct expenditure on goods and services. Also in this Blue Book the figures now include as a deduction certain fees for services provided by the central government previously included in Taxes on expenditure (see note above). The figures now exclude certain expenditure by the Arts Council of Great Britain to assist private theatres, clubs and societies which has been reclassified as Current grants to personal sector, and in this Blue Book capital expenditure on British embassies abroad, which has been reclassified as Gross domestic fixed capital formation.

Subsidies:

Employment premiums. Payments of selective employment premiums to manufacturers in excess of their original tax payments and regional employment premiums paid to manufacturers in development areas. Payments began in 1967.

Assistance to coal industry. Payments under the Coal Industry Acts, 1965, 1967 and 1971. The item covers grants to the National Coal Board in connection with pit closures, and reimbursements to electricity and gas boards in respect of the costs of additional coal consumption.

Current grants to personal sector:

Milk and welfare food schemes. This expenditure is now classified as Current expenditure on goods and services.

Child care. In this Blue Book this is included in Other.

Social security benefits: Other non-contributory benefits. Including from 1970 old person's retirement pensions, family income supplements, and attendance allowances.

Other. In this Blue Book expenditure on legal aid is classified as Current expenditure on goods and services. From 1968 includes supplementary payments to elderly redundant mineworkers under the Coal Industry Acts.

Debt interest. From 1 October 1969 includes payments of interest to the Post Office Staff Superannuation Scheme under Section 47 of the Post Office Act, 1969.

Table 38. Capital account

Taxes on capital. From 1968 includes the betterment

levy. The figure comprises receipts by the Land Commission plus the amount of levy assessed on its own purchases. Figures from 1968 also include receipts from the special charge on investment income in 1967/68. Separate figures are given in Table 47.

Receipts from certain pension 'funds' (net). Under Sections 43 to 46 of the Post Office Act, 1969 responsibility for payment of pensions, etc. to Post Office employees was transferred from the central government to the Post Office. Receipts from the Post Office Fund under the previous arrangements ceased from 1 October 1969 and from that date the accrued liability of the central government in respect of these receipts is being repaid to the Post Office Staff Superannuation Scheme. The repayments are a deduction within this item.

Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits. This item relates to the refinancing by the Issue Department of the Bank of England of medium-term and long-term export credit and loans for domestic shipbuilding provided by the London clearing and Scottish banks. The scheme is described in greater detail in the September 1969 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Transactions in marketable securities on acquisition of the capital of certain undertakings. The figures for 1967 to 1969 include issues of stock as compensation for the capital of the steel companies vested in the British Steel Corporation. They are balanced by entries on the payments side of the account under the heading Steel compensation: issues of stock. The figure for 1968 also includes the transfer to the Treasury under the Air Corporations Act, 1969 of liability for the £16 million of British European Airways guaranteed stock. This item is balanced by an entry on the payments side of the account under Net lending to public corporations: transfer of liability for stock.

Import deposits. Receipts less repayments by H.M. Customs and Excise of deposits made under the Customs (Import Deposits) Act, 1968. Deposits were payable in respect of imports of most manufactured goods other than those used in building and repairing ships and aircraft and those used in the manufacture of goods for export. Deposits were 50 per cent of their value from 27 November 1968, 40 per cent from 5 December 1969, 30 per cent from 14 May 1970 and 20 per cent from 1 September 1970 to 4 December 1970 when they were abolished. The deposits were repayable after 180 days. The figures exclude transactions with central government bodies.

Borrowing for redemption of government guaranteed stock. The redemption of government guaranteed stock is excluded from the central government borrowing requirement (Net balance). The figure for 1966 represents borrowing required to finance the redemption of $4\frac{1}{2}$ per cent North of Scotland Electricity stock 1965-66. The figure for 1969 represents borrowing required to finance the redemption of £200 million of $4\frac{1}{2}$ per cent British Electricity stock 1967-69 and £15 million of

4½ per cent South of Scotland Electricity stock 1967–69. The figure for 1970 represents borrowing required to finance the redemption of £8 million of 3 per cent North of Scotland Electricity stock 1968–70. The figure for 1971 represents borrowing required to finance the redemption of £72 million of 3½ per cent British Gas stock 1969–71.

Borrowing requirement (Net balance). Market transactions by the Issue Department of the Bank of England in local authority and commercial bills and borrowing by the Northern Ireland central government are included within the items financing the central government borrowing requirement. The analysis of the borrowing requirement has been rearranged in order to show Total overseas official financing of the total currency flow, as shown in the balance of payments accounts. The items Treasury bills, Increase in holdings of interest-free notes by the International Monetary Fund, Capital subscriptions to the International Monetary Fund and European Fund and Other direct borrowing (net) from overseas governments and institutions are affected as described below.

Treasury bills. The counterpart of central bank assistance in support of the reserves in the form of swaps against sterling is now shown separately because it forms part of Total overseas official financing.

Borrowing from overseas governments. The figures from 1966 represent drawings from the Export-Import Bank credit for the purchase of United States military aircraft, together with a loan of £52 million in 1969 from the German Federal Republic as part of an agreement on the cost of stationing British troops in Germany.

Increase in holdings of interest-free notes by the International Monetary Fund. This item is replaced by the transactions with the Fund leading to the changes in holdings, as shown in the table below. The figures for 1967 exclude the revaluation in sterling terms following devaluation.

Miscellaneous direct borrowing (net) from overseas governments and institutions. This item includes:

(i) deposits less withdrawals by the German Federal

Republic formerly included in Other direct borrowing (net) from overseas governments and institutions;
(ii) United Kingdom subscriptions in sterling to the
IMF less deposits in the IMF current and deposit
accounts plus other IMF transactions in sterling,

formerly covered by the item Increase in holdings

of interest-free notes by the IMF. Details are given

Capital subscriptions to the International Monetary Fund and European Fund. Subscriptions in gold, which form part of the total currency flow in the balance of payments accounts, are now shown separately. Subscriptions in sterling to the IMF are excluded from the balance of payments accounts. The figures for 1967

exclude the revaluation in sterling terms following

devaluation.

Allocation of SDRs (Special Drawing Rights). The figures represent the United Kingdom share of the allocations by the International Monetary Fund of the new reserve asset Special Drawing Rights. The item forms part of the total currency flow in the balance of payments accounts.

Net drawings from less repayments to International Monetary Fund. This item was formerly covered by the item Increase in holdings of interest-free notes by the IMF. See table below.

Foreign currency deposits by other monetary authorities. These were formerly part of Other direct borrowing (net) from overseas governments and institutions.

E.E.A. loss on forward commitments. This item records the loss arising from the fact that the Exchange Equalisation Account's forward commitments entered into before devaluation were recorded as being settled on maturity at the new parity.

Increase in official reserves. Changes in official holdings of non-convertible currencies, which were included in the figures in 1961 and 1962, are excluded in this Blue Book, and appear as a separate item in the table. The figure for the increase in official reserves for 1967 excludes the revaluation on devaluation of sterling in November 1967.

Analysis of Increase in holdings of interest-free notes by the International Monetary Fund

£ million 1971 1969 1970 1967 1968 1965 1966 1964 1963 1961 1962 United Kingdom subscrip-113 131 tions in sterling less Deposits in the IMF current and deposit -1accounts Other IMF transactions in 16 15 20 sterling -4Net drawings from less -134-30-554506 15 -339489 357 370 -3755 repayments to the IMF Increase in holdings of -23-555526 -14-320359 496 159 interest-free notes by IMF 5 -379373

Investment grants. Cash grants in respect of certain capital expenditure on new assets from 17 January 1966 to 26 October 1970. Payments of grants began in 1967.

Capital grants to public corporations: on writing-off debt. The figure of £19 million in 1968 represents the write-off on 1 January 1968 of the Raw Cotton Commission's outstanding liability to the central government (£8 million), the write-off with effect from 31 March1968 of certain loans to the National Research Development Corporation (£1 million) and the write-off with effect from 1 April 1968 under the Air Corporations Act, 1969 of debt of the British European Airways Corporation (£25 million) less the capitalisation with effect from 31 March 1968 of reserves of the British Overseas Airways Corporation as public dividend capital (£15 million). The figure of £1,258 million in 1969 represents the write-off on 1 January 1969 of liabilities to the central government of the nationalised transport bodies covered by the Transport Act, 1968. The figure of £225 million in 1970 represents the write-off on 1 January 1970 of the outstanding debt of the London Transport Board less the capitalisation with effect from 31 March 1970 of a further part of the reserves of the British Overseas Airways Corporation as public dividend capital (£15 million). The corresponding notional repayments less advances are shown under Net lending to public corporations: loans written-off.

Steel compensation: issues of stock. Stock issues in satisfaction of compensation for the assets of the steel companies vested in the British Steel Corporation. The stock is valued at its issue price and the figures represent the compensation value. It is matched by an equivalent amount on the receipts side of the account under the heading Transactions in marketable securities on acquisition of the capital of certain undertakings.

Table 40. Current account of National Insurance Funds

Current grants to personal sector: sickness benefit. Including from 1 October 1969 payments to the Post Office under Section 51 of the Post Office Act, 1969, which allows Post Office employees to retain the right, which they previously had as civil servants, to receive full pay during sickness. The payment to the Post Office of the estimated saving to the National Insurance Fund as a result of this arrangement was at the rate of £6 million a year during 1969/70.

Local authorities

From 1 January 1970 the London Transport Executive came under the control of the Greater London Council and is included in the trading bodies within this sector.

The estimates for local authorities given in this Blue Book incorporate information from Local Government Financial Statistics, Local Financial Returns (Scotland) and Local Authority Financial Returns for years to 1969/70.

Table 41. Current account

Current grants from central government. The fall in specific grants for education and roads in 1967 reflects the replacement of grants in aid of school meals and milk and some highways grants by the rate support grant introduced in 1967/68. Also, from 1967/68 some grants for minor improvements on roads have been reclassified as capital grants.

Rates. From 1967 income was reduced by the lower rate on domestic hereditaments.

Current expenditure on goods and services:

Roads and public lighting. From April 1967 certain expenditure on minor improvements has been reclassified; it is no longer included in this item but is treated as Gross domestic fixed capital formation. This type of expenditure amounted to about £30 million in the financial year 1967/68.

Administration of justice. In this Blue Book this item now includes expenditure on legal aid which was formerly regarded as a grant in kind and included in Current grants to personal sector.

National health service. In this Blue Book expenditure from April 1969 on certain local authority health services is included under the heading Personal social services.

Personal social services. In this Blue Book this new heading has been introduced comprising the two former headings Local welfare services and Child care together with, from April 1969, certain services transferred from the National health service.

School meals and milk. This expenditure was formerly regarded as a grant in kind and included in Current grants to personal sector.

Current grants to personal sector: other. This item comprises compensation for damage cause by civil disturbances in Northern Ireland.

Table 42. Capital account

Capital grants from central government:

Roads and public lighting. From April 1967 certain grants for minor improvements previously classified as current grants are included in this item.

Education. From April 1967 grants for school canteens were replaced by the rate support grant, which is included in current grants from the central government under the heading Grants not allocated to specific services.

Other identified borrowing (net). This comprises identified borrowing other than Loans from central government (net), less net purchases of British government securities.

Adjustment for subsidies. The difference between cash receipts and accruals of housing subsidies from the

central government which, prior to this Blue Book, was included in Miscellaneous financial receipts (net).

Gross domestic fixed capital formation:

Roads and public lighting. From April 1967 includes certain expenditure on minor improvements which had previously been treated as current expenditure. This type of expenditure amounted to about £30 million in the financial year 1967/68.

National health service and Personal social services. See notes on Table 41.

Net lending to private sector: other. This item comprises advances to industrialists for development under Sections 3 and 4 of the Local Authorities (Land) Act, 1963.

Combined public authorities

Table 43. Combined current and capital account

Changes in financial assets and liabilities. The figures exclude the transactions connected with the nationalisation of the steel industry. Repayments of loans by overseas governments are now also excluded.

Expenditure on financial assets. Repayments of loans by overseas governments are now offset against this item.

Table 44. Analysis of current expenditure on goods and services

The classification by service of central government expenditure on Wages, salaries, etc. has been amended; wages and salaries paid by the Department of the Environment (formerly the Ministry of Public Building and Works) in providing defence accommodation services have now been allocated directly to Military defence instead of to Other services. An offsetting reduction has been made to Other payments (net) for Military defence and an offsetting increase in Other payments (net) for Other services.

Table 46. Taxes on expenditure and subsidies: allocation by type of expenditure

From 1966 selective employment tax payments and premiums have been allocated to the categories of final expenditure largely on the basis of input-output statistics for 1968. The allocation to categories of final expenditure of taxes on expenditure and subsidies which fall largely on intermediate expenditure is consistent with the results of the input-output analyses for 1963 and 1968.

Table 47. Allocation of taxes by sector, type of income and property

Income tax: current grants from public authorities to personal sector. These estimates represent the allocation of tax paid in proportion to income for those receiving retirement pensions, widows' benefits and guardians' allowances, war pensions and service grants, non-contributory pensions and family allowances.

The section on taxes on capital now includes an allocation of tax by sector and an analysis by type of tax.

Public sector

The transactions connected with the nationalisation of the steel industry are excluded from the public sector tables. In addition to payments of interest on loans by public corporations to central government all other identified payments of interest and dividends by public corporations to central government have now been eliminated on consolidation. Lending to overseas governments is now shown net of repayments in the public sector tables.

Table 48. Current and capital accounts

Interest and dividends, etc.:

Central government. This series now excludes all identified interest and dividends received from public corporations. A corresponding deduction has been made from payments by public corporations on the other side of the account.

Public corporations. These figures have been amended to exclude the receipt of £2 million a year from within the sector. See notes on Table 33. A corresponding amount has also been excluded from payments by public corporations on the other side of the account.

Capital account

The receipts side of the account has been rearranged to identify the same transactions as the three separate sector accounts and to show the public sector borrowing requirement.

Adjustment for purchase tax. Hitherto, this item had covered adjustment for purchase tax and subsidies. However, in this Blue Book the adjustment for subsidies element is no longer included since it relates to the accruals adjustment in respect of central government subsidies to public corporations and local authorities, and therefore disappears on consolidation.

Borrowing requirement. The public sector borrowing requirement is made up of the borrowing requirement shown in each of the sector capital accounts (Tables 34, 38 and 42), excluding borrowing by public corporations and local authorities from central government and redemption of government guaranteed stock. No further adjustment for intra-sector debt transactions is now required as the borrowing requirement of each sector already incorporates the appropriate adjustment.

Other financial transactions (net). The residual item in the table.

Table 49. Analysis of public expenditure

Military defence:

Royalties and awards paid to inventors, formerly included in Capital grants to private sector, have, in this Blue Book, been reclassified from 1967 as Current expenditure on goods and services.

Net lending to overseas governments. The main constituents of this item are loans for military purposes to the governments of Ghana, India, Singapore and Turkey.

Transport and communication:

Capital grants to private sector. Grants under the Harbours Act, 1964 in respect of expenditure on harbour works.

Net lending to private sector. Loans by the Transport Holding Company to associated companies.

Other net lending and investment abroad. Expenditure on fixed assets abroad and other investment abroad by the Post Office, airways corporations, Transport Holding Company and National Freight Corporation.

Employment services:

Gross domestic fixed capital formation. The provision of fixed assets for Remploy Ltd.

Subsidies. From 1966 grants to firms in development areas towards the cost of training labour.

Capital grants to private sector. Grants to Industrial Training Boards for capital expenditure.

Net lending to private sector. Loans to Industrial Training Boards for capital expenditure.

Other industry and trade:

Gross domestic fixed capital formation: public corporations. Including expenditure by the Covent Garden Market Authority, formerly classified to Other services.

Subsidies. From 1967 the figures include assistance to the coal industry under the Coal Industry Acts, 1965 1967 and 1971. See notes on Table 37.

Current grants to personal sector. Supplementary payments to elderly redundant mineworkers, under the Coal Industry Acts.

Net lending to private sector. This item includes from 1968 loans under the Industrial Expansion Act, 1968 to aluminium smelting companies and in 1968 and 1969 loans for the construction of R.M.S. Queen Elizabeth II.

Other net lending and investment abroad. The figures from 1968 are repayments by the Aluminium Company of Canada.

Housing:

Gross domestic fixed capital formation. Some expenditure by new town corporations formerly included under this heading has now been allocated to the headings Roads and public lighting; Other industry and trade; Water, sewerage and refuse disposal; and Miscellaneous local government services.

Current grants to personal sector. Grants by the central government under the Housing Subsidies Act, 1967 to qualified lending agencies to meet the cost of reducing interest rates on certain mortgages in lieu of tax relief.

Capital grants to private sector. Grants by local authorities under the Clean Air Act, 1956 and the Clean Air Act (N.I.), 1964 have been transferred to Public health services.

Net lending to private sector. This item now includes loans and mortgages by new town corporations.

Public health services: capital grants to private sector. Grants by local authorities under clean air legislation, formerly classified to Housing.

Parks, pleasure grounds, etc:

Current grants to personal sector. Grants towards the repair and maintenance of historic buildings.

Capital grants to private sector. Grants towards the provision of sport and recreational facilities.

Miscellaneous local government services: net lending to private sector. The item described as Net lending to private sector: other in the capital account of local authorities. See notes on Table 42.

Libraries, museums and arts: capital grants to private sector. Capital assistance by the Arts Council towards the cost of theatres, concert halls, arts centres, etc. and grants for capital expenditure to the National Library of Wales and the National Museum of Wales.

Personal social services:

In this Blue Book this new heading has been introduced comprising the two former headings Local welfare services and Child care together with, from April 1969, expenditure on certain services transferred from the National health service.

Finance and tax collection: gross domestic fixed capital formation. Expenditure on plant and machinery for the Royal Mint.

Other services:

Gross domestic fixed capital formation: public corporations. Expenditure by the Covent Garden Market Authority has been transferred to Other industry and trade.

Increase in value of stocks. The change in the value of stocks held by the Atomic Energy Authority for its commercial activities.

Current grants to personal sector. From 1969 includes compensation for damage caused by civil disturbances in Northern Ireland.

Capital grants to private sector. Payments to supplement the compensation received from the United Arab Republic in settlement of specified claims in respect of expropriated British property in Egypt.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation

The reported figures for 1968 and 1969 were affected by the ending of the temporary higher rates for investment grants at 31 December 1968 which led to some expenditure being brought forward into the fourth quarter of 1968 from the early part of 1969 to secure the higher rate of grant. Broad estimates of the amount of expenditure brought forward from 1969 to 1968 have been made by averaging the seasonally adjusted quarterly figures of expenditure in the last quarter of 1968 and the first quarter of 1969. These approximate adjustments, which are given below, have been deducted from the reported figures for 1968 and added to those for 1969 to obtain the figures given in the tables. The estimate for manufacturing has been revised in this Blue Book. The estimate for shipping is particularly uncertain because of the erratic nature of the industry's capital expenditure. The estimate for other industries is uncertain because of the smallness of the effect and its allocation to the individual industries is very approximate.

	£ mil	llion
	At current prices	At 1963 prices
Manufacturing	48	40
Shipping Other industries:		25
Construction Insurance, banking, finance	oled son	1
and business services	4	4
Total	78	70

Analysis by sector

Personal sector; Companies. The allocations for Manufacturing and Construction are now based on an analysis of the results of the census of production for 1963, dividing gross domestic fixed capital formation between unincorporated and incorporated businesses. The allocation for Retail distribution is based on a corresponding analysis of the results of the census of distribution for 1966.

Financial companies. The estimates have been increased from 1963 to allow for expenditure on land and buildings identified in the financial returns.

Local authorities. From April 1967 the estimates of fixed capital formation by local authorities include certain expenditure on minor road improvements which had previously been treated as Current expenditure on goods and services. This type of expenditure amounted to about £30 million in the financial year 1967/68.

From 1965 the quarterly estimates are no longer assessed in the light of the quarterly estimates of building output relating to public sector buildings but are based entirely on the quarterly variations in cash payments by local authorities. For some services these payments are assumed to lag half a quarter behind expenditure incurred.

Analysis by industry

The analysis by industry is based as far as possible on the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968.

Manufacturing. The estimates take into account provisional results from the censuses of production for 1969 and 1970. The estimates for 1971 are based on the quarterly sample inquiries. In this Blue Book the estimates for all years shown have been revised to exclude expenditures by the central government and new town corporations on factory buildings for leasing to private firms. These expenditures had previously been included with those of the industries to which the buildings were initially leased; they are now included in the insurance, banking, finance and business services industry together with other assets purchased for leasing out. As a result of this change, gross domestic fixed capital formation is now analysed as far as possible by industry of ownership.

Air transport. From 1966 expenditure by British Overseas Airways Corporation on the purchase of American aircraft is included when the aircraft are delivered instead of when the expenditure is incurred. The recording of this expenditure is therefore in line with the recording of imports in the balance of payments accounts.

Retail distribution. The estimates take into account the results of the 1970 annual inquiry into the distri-

Gross domestic fixed capital formation, 1971 Analysis by industry and sector

£ million

the state of engineers and an engineers of the state of t	Dalamata	Public	Public sector		
	Private sector	Public	Public	Total	
Agriculture, forestry and fishing	264		11	275	
VIDILITY AND OHAFFVING	92	61	_	153	
	1,902	210	11	2,123	
	138	A DESELON	DON ANDON	138	
Gas, electricity and water	18	682	96	796	
ransport and communication	428	770	65	1,263	
Distributive trades	522	THE STATE OF	AND THE RELATED	522	
Other service industries	962	52	82	1.096	
Owellings	845	73	693	1.611	
ocial services	167		546	713	
Other public services	107	9	902	911	
Other public services Land and existing buildings	110	2	210	322	
Total	5,448	1,859	2,616	9,923	

butive and service industries. The estimates for 1971 are based on the Department of Trade and Industry quarterly sample inquiry.

Wholesale distribution; Insurance, banking, finance and business services; Other transport and services. The estimates take into account the results so far available from the 1970 inquiry into the distributive and service industries. The estimates for 1971 are based on the Department of Trade and Industry quarterly sample inquiry.

Wholesale distribution; Insurance, banking, finance and business services. The leasing of industrial and office machinery continues to be included under Insurance, banking, finance and business services and not under Wholesale distribution to which it is classified in the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968. Much of the leasing is in any case carried on by business units properly classified to this industry.

Insurance, banking, finance and business services. The estimates have been increased from 1963 to allow for expenditure on land and buildings identified in the financial returns.

Dwellings. Revisions have been made to the estimates of expenditure on private sector dwellings from 1957. The previous method of estimation, described on pages 377-8 of Sources and Methods has been found to lead generally to slight over-estimates and to fail to reflect year-to-year changes in some of the components of expenditure. The revised method of estimation takes into account additional data which have become available in recent years.

Personal social services. In this Blue Book this new item has been introduced covering what has previously been described as Local welfare services, with the addition of local authority expenditure on child care, which was formerly included in Other education. The estimates for Other education have been reduced accordingly.

Miscellaneous public services. In this Blue Book central government expenditure on new buildings and works for civil accomodation overseas (e.g. embassies, etc., abroad) is now treated as gross domestic fixed capital formation instead of as current expenditure on goods and services. The estimates have been revised from 1961.

Transfer costs of land and buildings. It has always been difficult to estimate these costs because of lack of reliable information about come components. Information which has recently come to hand has shown that the costs have been substantially under-estimated for many years. Revised estimates have been made from 1950. For the latest years, the revisions are of the order of £200 million (at current prices).

Analysis by industry and sector

A cross-classification by industry and sector of the estimates for 1971 is given in the table on page 109.

Corresponding figures for other recent years will be supplied on request to the Central Statistical Office.

Revaluation at constant prices

The various price indicators are now combined according to the detailed output information provided by the 1963 census of production. From 1963 the same index of changes in costs has been used to revalue expenditure on dwellings and on other new buildings and works; the information available is not sufficient to warrant calculation of separate indices.

Capital consumption and capital stock

The estimates have been adjusted as far as possible to the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968 in the light of the effect of the changes in classification on the estimates of gross domestic fixed capital formation from 1959. The adjustments are necessarily approximate.

Mainly because of the revised estimates of the transfer costs of land and buildings referred to above, which are treated as being wholly written off in the current year, but also partly because of revisions in the estimates of capital stock (see below), the estimates of capital consumption have been revised for all years shown in this Blue Book.

Table 58. Capital consumption by type of asset

Estimates of transfer costs of land and buildings which, prior to this Blue Book had been included in Other building and works, are now shown separately.

Table 59. Capital consumption by industry group

Improved estimates of the gross capital stock of the agriculture and fishing industries have led to improved estimates of capital consumption of the agriculture, forestry and fishing industry group, which in this Blue Book are now shown separately. Hitherto, estimates had appeared in *Other industries*. This group is now retitled *Social and other public services*.

Tables 60-62. Net domestic fixed capital formation

Since these tables are derived by deducting estimates of capital consumption from those of gross domestic fixed capital formation, revisions to either of those estimates produce revised estimates of net domestic fixed capital formation.

Tables 63-65. Net and gross capital stock

In this Blue Book in Table 63 the estimates of net capital stock are given in a greater degree of detail, by asset, than hitherto.

Additional information about capital formation in years before 1948 and revised estimates of the average length of life of assets have been incorporated in the estimates of capital stock in a number of industries, notably agriculture, fishing and some parts of public services.

Other revisions arise from present and past revisions in the estimates of fixed capital formation. Estimates for the textiles industry were formerly considered to be insufficiently reliable to be included with those of other manufacturing industries; for the years shown in this Blue Book they are now considered to be no less reliable and they are therefore included in Manufacturing instead of in Other industries.

Depreciation

The estimates of depreciation, described on pages 385 and 388-9 of Sources and Methods, are given in the table below. The table has now been rearranged to show separately the totals of investment allowances, initial allowances and other allowances.

From 1965/66 local authorities ceased to be liable to income tax on their trading activities and as they are not charged to corporation tax no figures of statutory allowances are available from 1965 onwards. Figures from 1970 are affected by the new system of allowances introduced from 26 October 1970, when investment grants ended.

Capital formation in stocks and work in progress

Analysis by industry

The analysis by industry is based as far as possible on the Standard Industrial Classification, 1968.

Manufacturing. The estimates take into account the provisional results of the census of production for 1969. The estimates for 1970 and 1971 are based on the Department of Trade and Industry quarterly sample inquiry.

Retail distribution. The estimates for 1970 take into account the results of the annual inquiry into the distributive and service industries. The estimates for 1971 are based on the Department of Trade and Industry quarterly sample inquiry.

Wholesale distribution. The estimates take into account the results of the annual inquiry into the distributive and service industries for 1970. The estimates for 1971 are based on the Department of Trade and Industry quarterly sample inquiry.

Other industries. The estimates for 1967 and 1968 include an allowance for the difference in timing between the estimates of stockbuilding and the recording of exports arising from the dock strikes in the latter part of 1967. The estimates from 1968 include an allowance for imported silver not covered elsewhere.

Analysis by sector

Personal sector; Companies. The allocations for Manufacturing and Construction are now based on an analysis of the results of the census of production for 1963, dividing the value of stocks held between unincorporated and incorporated businesses. The allocation for Retail distribution is based on a corresponding analysis of the results of the census of distribution for 1966.

Revaluation at constant prices

The re-based series for manufacturing reflects the composition of stocks estimated in the light of detailed input and output data from the 1963 census of production; those for wholesale distribution take into account the analysis of wholesalers by kind of business shown in the 1965 inquiry into wholesaling and that for retail distribution takes into account the holdings of stocks by kind of business reported in the 1966 census of distribution.

Financial accounts

Treasury bills; British government and government guaranteed securities; Local authority debt; Deposits with banking sector; Deposits received by finance houses; Bank lending; Hire purchase debt; Other loans and mortgages; Company and overseas securities. A detailed description of the sources of the estimates for years before 1963 is given in the December 1967 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin (pages 360–3). Although not as accurate as the estimates for later years the figures for the early years are considered

De	prec	ciati	ion
The second second			

				1 101							£ million
TO THE PARTY OF THE PARTY OF	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Professional persons (1)	16 100	20 114	18 121	21 143	20 155	20 145	22 141	23 142	23 122	24 127	27 128
Other sole traders and part- nerships (1) Companies (1) (2)	107 1,352	109 1,451	115 1,752	138 2,040	141 2,161	146 1,832	156 1,687	169 1,828	161 2,033	175 2,465	3,591
Private sector	1,575	1,694	2,006	2,342	2,477	2,143	2,006	2,162	2,339	2,791	3,957
Investment allowances Initial allowances Other allowances Public corporations (3) (4) Central government (3) (4) Local authorities (1)	436 179 960 392 20 20	418 221 1,055 428 6 20	531 219 1,256 444 6 24	630 262 1,450 481 6 29	655 240 1,582 506 9	204 258 1,681 552 9	288 1,676 607 8	322 1,834 716 9	1 369 1,969 765 9	395 2,396 828 9	3,845 904 10

⁽¹⁾ The statutory allowances for income tax and corporation tax.

(2) Excluding companies operating overseas.
(3) From April 1961 the Post Office is treated as a public corporation not as part of central government.

⁽⁴⁾ The sum of the depreciation provisions shown in the published trading accounts plus estimates of the renewals of certain fixed assets that are charged to revenue in some of these accounts. The figures included for the Post Office relate to replacement cost.

sufficiently reliable to permit the main trends to be distinguished.

Treasury bills. The counterpart of central bank assistance in support of the reserves in the form of swaps against sterling is now shown separately in Tables 76 and 77 because it forms part of official financing in the balance of payments accounts.

Tax reserve certificates. The net purchases by other financial institutions are those reported by building societies.

Import deposits. See notes on Table 38. The sector allocation is based on an analysis of a sample of deposits, information supplied by public corporations and balance of payments returns.

Northern Ireland central government debt. This item, which is now shown separately, was formerly included in Other identified home assets. It consists of net sales of Northern Ireland government securities, Northern Ireland Treasury bills, Ulster savings certificates and Ulster development bonds, together with the increase in bank advances to the Northern Ireland central government. Debt other than that identified as taken up by the financial institutions is allocated to the private sector.

Local authority debt. Borrowing previously unallocated is attributed to the personal sector.

Deposits with banking sector. Changes in the total of cheques in course of collection and items in transit, previously unallocated, have been assigned to industrial and commercial companies as it is believed that most of the changes in the figures arise from transactions between these companies.

Items in transit. In the light of an analysis described in the December 1971 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin the treatment of this item has been amended in this Blue Book to provide an improved allocation between deposits and advances. Hitherto, the entire value of items in transit had been deducted from gross deposits; but in the revised treatment 60 per cent of the total is deducted from deposits and 40 per cent is added to advances.

Deposits with finance houses. Borrowing other than in the form of deposits is now classified to Other identified home assets.

Deposits with other financial institutions. Deposits with other financial institutions identified in the balance of payments accounts less deposits from overseas residents reported by finance houses.

Bank lending. Bank loans for house purchase are excluded from this item in all tables and included under Loans for house purchase. Advances and loans to the Northern Ireland central government are now excluded from this item and included under Northern Ireland central government debt.

Trade credit (net). This item consists of:

- (i) the domestic Trade debt (net) of public corporations formerly shown as a separate item;
- (ii) suppliers' trade credit and associated advance and progress payments on exports and imports, identified in the balance of payments accounts from 1963 onwards, formerly included in *Other identified overseas assets: short-term* and *long-term*.

No estimates are included for other forms of trade credit, in particular for credit extended by industrial and commercial companies to the personal sector.

Loans for house purchase. This item includes loans by banks, formerly included under Bank lending.

Shares of retail co-operative societies. This item is now included in Other identified home assets in Table 71, instead of in Company and overseas securities.

Company and overseas securities. The figures for the company sector now include Capital issues overseas by United Kingdom companies. Other transactions by industrial and commercial companies include cash expenditure on acquiring subsidiaries and trade investments less certain identified direct subscriptions to unquoted issues of capital by the overseas sector and by other domestic sectors.

Accruals adjustment. This item was formerly described as Miscellaneous short-term home assets (net); its definition has not changed.

Other identified home assets. Northern Ireland central government debt is now excluded from this item and shown separately. Repayments by nationalised steel undertakings of a loan from industrial and commercial companies are included in the figures for the public sector. The counterpart of issues of stock by public corporations in Northern Ireland less other redemptions of stock by public corporations are now allocated to the personal sector. The figures for financial institutions include borrowing by finance houses other than in the form of deposits previously included in Deposits, etc. with hire purchase finance companies. The figures for financial institutions now exclude changes in agents' balances, etc. for insurance companies because corresponding miscellaneous liabilities are also excluded. There is no longer an adjustment in respect of the difference between identified investment in land, property and ground rents and the estimates of gross domestic fixed capital formation because the latter estimates now take into account these transactions.

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights. See notes on Table 38.

Official reserves. Changes in official holdings of nonconvertible currencies, which were included in the figures in 1961 and 1962, are in this Blue Book now classified under Other identified overseas assets. The figure of official reserves in 1967 excludes the revaluation on devaluation of sterling in November 1967. Refinanced export and shipbuilding credits. This item was previously treated wholly as a transaction between central government and the overseas sector. In this Blue Book shipbuilding credits are now identified separately and shown as a transaction between central government and industrial and commercial companies. The export credit element continues to be treated as a transaction between central government and the overseas sector. See notes on Table 38.

Intra-company investment overseas. This item represents private investment abroad, other than in securities, less the corresponding overseas investment in the United Kingdom private sector. It is equal in the balance of payments accounts to United Kingdom Direct private investment overseas, excluding the net acquisition of share and loan capital, and Other (oil and miscellaneous) private investment overseas less the corresponding elements of overseas investment in the United Kingdom private sector. This item previously formed part of Other identified overseas assets: long-term.

Other identified overseas assets. This item replaces the previous two categories Other identified overseas assets: short-term and long-term. For the public sector it includes all the elements previously covered except import credit received by public corporations which now appears under Trade credit (net). In this Blue Book the figures for the public sector in 1961 and 1962 now include changes in official holdings of non-convertible currencies, and in 1967 and 1968 include the Exchange Equalisation Account loss on forward commitments; see notes on page 105. For the private sector this item now excludes from 1963 onwards suppliers' trade credit on exports and imports which is included in Trade credit (net) and excludes in all years Intracompany investment overseas which is now shown separately. The figures also no longer include the timing and coverage adjustment on the transactions of finance houses, which is included in Deposits with other financial institutions. From 1963 the private sector element of this item relates solely to other commercial short-term transactions together with the timing and coverage differences arising on other items between the figures in the financial accounts and the figures in the balance of payments accounts.

Table 71. Analysis by sector and type of asset

The table no longer includes a column for *Unallo*cated items because all identified financial transactions included in the table have been allocated. See notes above.

Table 74. Banking sector

From December 1967 the figures cover some new contributors to the banking sector statistics.

Figures for 1967 have been adjusted to exclude changes due to the revaluation of foreign currency items at 18 November 1967.

Table 75. Financial institutions other than banks

From 1968 the figures for insurance companies cover transactions by the life funds of Commonwealth companies.

International transactions

The figures in Table 7 are consistent with those in United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972, which gives detailed figures for the years 1961 to 1971 and summary figures for earlier years.

Goods. A coverage adjustment, additional to those described on pages 459-61 of Sources and Methods, has been made to the figures of imports and exports for bonded aircraft spare parts, which were included in the Trade Statistics until the end of 1967.

The figures for Exports from 1964 include a net adjustment for the recording of exports in the Trade Statistics. See notes to United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972.

Services:

Transport: shipping. Formerly the earnings of United Kingdom shipping operators covered only freight on exports and cross-trades carried in owned and time-chartered vessels. Exports of services now also include earnings from exports and cross-trades in vessels voyage-chartered by United Kingdom operators; imports of services now correspondingly include payments for all voyage charters, whereas formerly only voyage-charter payments for the carriage of United Kingdom imports were included.

Other services. The net earnings of United Kingdom banks on claims and liabilities in non-sterling currencies, formerly treated as exports of services, are now included in *Property income*.

Property income: other investment income. The method of allocating the earnings of United Kingdom oil companies between Shipping and Interest, profits and dividends is affected by the treatment of freight on exports and cross-trades in voyage-chartered vessels referred to above. The basis of valuation of freight earnings has also been modified; details are again in the notes to United Kingdom Balance of Payments, 1972. The net earnings of United Kingdom banks on claims and liabilities in non-sterling currencies, formerly treated as exports of services, are now included here.

Foreign taxes paid by United Kingdom residents. From 1966 the figures are no longer estimated from information obtained by Inland Revenue in connection with the relief of United Kingdom tax against foreign tax. The estimates are partly based on direct information from certain companies, and partly derived by applying the appropriate rates of tax to an analysis by country of other property income from abroad.

Current transfers: personal sector. Only that part of migrants' wealth remitted at the time of migration is now included here; the reclassification of assets in accordance with the new resident status of a migrant is no longer regarded as giving rise to a transaction to be entered in the balance of payments accounts.

								This is	و المسلم	£ million
	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970
Expenditure										
At current prices (Table 1) Consumers' expenditure		-1	+3	-3	-52	-68	-25	+9	+50	-22
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services	-14	-14	-17	-18	-13	-13	-19	-21	-30	-33
Gross domestic fixed capital forma-	+56	+60	+82	+92	+89	+99	+118	+133	+202	+287
Value of physical increase in stocks and work in progress	100	- 17 E	_	+5	+3	-2	+3	+3	- 2	-83
Exports and property income from abroad	-	_	-	_	+2	-20	+25	+43	+55	+122
Imports and property income paid abroad(1)	16	- 17		-21	-1 -24	-20 -26	+41	+31	+57	+31 -32
Taxes on expenditure(1)	-16 -	-17	-20	-21	-24	-20	-28	-33 +1	-27 +18	-32 +9
Gross national product at factor cost	+58	+62	+88	+97	+54	+42	+89	+170	+263	+281
				BATT		PAN FIRE		E SE AN		
Revalued at 1963 prices (Table 14) Consumers' expenditure	-1	-5	+3	-5	-46	-53	-17	+25	+59	+17
Public authorities' current expendi- ture on goods and services	-16	-15	-17	-29	-29	-20	-1	-7	-1	-5
Gross domestic fixed capital forma- tion Value of physical increase in stocks	+68	+63	+82	+89	+76	+74	+85	+95	+129	+194
and work in progress Exports of goods and services	_	_	_	+5 +4	+3 -3	-4 +3	+2 -2	+3 -18	-4 -14	-64 +46
Imports of goods and services(2) Adjustment to factor cost(2)	-16	-17	-20	+6 -21	-5 -25	-18 -18	-11 -30	-27 -31	-27 -39	-73 -50
Gross domestic product at factor				- Augustan						
Not	+67	+60	+88	+79	+31	+36	+108	+156	+235	+311
Net property income from abroad				10	_	-7	-7	-6	-5	-15
Gross national product at factor cost(3)	+67	+60	+88	+89	+31	+29	+101	+150	+230	+296
Factor incomes (Table 1)						We have				
Income from employment	+21	+20	+5 +19 —	+15 +16 -46	+30 +15 -20	+40 +15 +4	+20 +19 +110	+35 +65 +44	-145 +134 +6	-252 +231 +133
Gross trading surplus of other	-	- 41-	_	_	_	_	_	_		+9
public enterprises	_	=	=	+5	+4	 +8	+22	+37	+4 +69	+24 +97
Total domestic income	+21	+20	+24	-10	+29	+67	+171	+181	+68	+242
Stock appreciation	-	_	-	_	O AGA LA			+1	+1	-1
	And the same									

⁽¹⁾ Estimates of imports and property income paid abroad and taxes on expenditure are deducted in arriving at gross national product at factor cost. The effect of revisions to these estimates on the total therefore involves reversing the sign.

⁽²⁾ Estimates of imports of goods and services and the adjustment to factor cost are deducted in arriving at gross domestic product at factor cost. The effect of revisions to these estimates on the total therefore involves reversing the sign.

⁽³⁾ Gross national product at factor cost equals gross domestic product at factor cost plus net property income from abroad.

Detailed notes and definitions for the balance of payments figures are given in *United Kingdom Balance of Payments*, 1972.

Revaluation at constant prices

Exports and imports of goods. These series are now derived by projecting forward the 1963 values using indices of the volume of visible trade on a balance of payments basis. These volume indices are prepared by the Department of Trade and Industry.

Exports and imports of services. Some of the indicators of changes in the prices of services, which are particularly hard to assess, were revised from 1963. The travel item within exports of services includes the price indices for meals and accommodation, described on page 101.

Revisions

The table opposite shows for the years 1961 to 1970 the revisions which have been made since the 1971 Blue Book to the main components of current and constant price estimates of expenditure gross national product (Tables 1 and 14 respectively) and to the estimates of factor incomes (Table 1). Some of these revisions have been incorporated in the estimates given in the tables accompanying the quarterly articles on national income and expenditure which appreared in the January, April and July issues this year of Economic Trends. The April issue included estimates which had been given in the White Paper Preliminary Estimates of National Income and Balance of Payments 1966 to 1971 (Cmnd 4935). Reasons for the changes to some of the items within the main components of expenditure and income are given in the notes above, and in some cases the revisions have been quantified.

Treasury analysis of public expenditure

The table which follows gives figures of total public expenditure for the financial years 1961/2 to 1971/2. Its purpose is to provide an analysis of total public expenditure which reflects the basis on which public expenditure programmes are decided. The main headings correspond to those used in the White Paper Public Expenditure to 1975-6 (Cmnd 4829) but the sub-headings take full account of machinery of Government changes which were announced before the end of the financial year 1971/2. The principal transfers of responsibility are:

- (i) Expenditure on various research establishments (of which the Building and Road Research Stations are the largest) from Surface transport and Trade, industry and employment to Miscellaneous local services.
- (ii) The rent of buildings with specialised functions from Common services to the relevant programmes.
- (iii) Expenditure on local museums and galleries from Education to Arts.
- (iv) Expenditure on national libraries from Arts to Education which is now retitled Education and libraries.

The totals of expenditure are consistent with the calendar year totals shown on the expenditure side of Table 48 and analysed by function in Table 49.

An account of the way in which the table is compiled and its relationship to the functional classification in Table 49 is given in National Accounts Statistics: Sources and Methods, pages 355-6. A reconciliation between expenditure, including Vote expenditure, as shown in the conventional government accounts and the central government current expenditure included in the table below, is given for the year 1965/66 on page 291 of Sources and Methods. A reconciliation covering the preliminary out-turn for 1971/2 in terms of the economic categories used in the national income accounts is given in the Financial Statement and Budget Report 1972-3 (HC189), Table 14.

Receipts from sales of fixed assets are now deducted from each heading instead of forming part of the Statistical adjustments item. From 1962/63 this item now includes only the minor differences remaining between the sum of the figures used for the Treasury analysis and the total used in the national accounts. For the year 1961/62 certain loan repayments by overseas governments which have not been allocated to specific headings in the table are also included in this item. The amount deducted is £99 million.

The figures have been revised since last year's Blue Book to take account of later information. Figures for the later years are provisional.

				ALL DOT		10-93	The state of			86 891	H 230	£ million
ban marro to some	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1971/72	Classification in Table 49
Defence and external relations		t here		The state of								S PASTERNIA 1317 13
Defence budget (Net Vote)	1,694	1,767	1,811	1,941	2,058	2,141	2,236	2,245	2,216	2,503	2,812	The street of th
Other military defence: Allied services	29 27	47 34	60 40	59 6	62	68 74	70 122	72 80	74 6	82 -44	83 -27	Military defence
Other					65	142	192	152	80	38	56	
Total	56	81	100	65	181	177	183	174	188	195	229	
Overseas aid	155	133	156	170	101	1//	105	1/4	100	155	LL	
Other overseas services: Overseas representation Overseas information Other external relations	} 51 15	49 20	60 17	71 19	77 31	\[\begin{cases} 51 \\ 28 \\ 44 \]	53 27 38	58 27 35	60 29 34	68 32 33	76 33 37	External relations
Total	66	69	77	90	108	123	118	120	123	133	146	
Commerce and industry												
Agriculture, fisheries and forestry:	342	312	292	262	235	227	260	264	275	267	335	
Agricultural support Other assistance to agricul-			30	29	29	33	74	50	48	69	74	Agriculture, forestry, fishing and
Fisheries	29	32 7	5 23	4 26	5 29	4 31	4 34	9	7 41	8 45	8 50	food
Forestry	22	22			L.AT				444		467	or si program
Total	402	373	350	321	298	295	372	360	371	389		Daccarah
Research Councils, etc	26	24	37	44	53	65	76	85	98	112	131	Research
Trade, industry and employ- ment: Department of Trade and Industry: General services(1)			THE PARTY OF	et me	WE INT	ſ 130	111	111	139	144	156	Transport and
Industrial Reorganisa-	161	121	120	120	124		16		30	25	-37	Research, Other
Other technological and industrial projects	161	131	128	139	124	26	87	104	121	153	234	industry and trade, Other services
Promotion of local	,			034	67	35	35	33	43	49	42	
Investment grants	-	-		-	-	-	301	443	544	540	462	Other industry
Other services Other departments:		The last			0.00	1	8	30	24	23	119	and trade
Redundancy Fund pay-	27	26	29	34	37	43	47	59	72	90	91	Employment
Regional employment premium payments and selective employ-					3	27	41	51	37	43	62	services
ment tax additional	7.5				9/1T	41	165	150	120	117	04	Other industry
Other services (2) (3)	76	73	45	65	115	41 42	165 34	156 58	138 19	117 23	94 30	and trade
Total	264	230	202	238	279	347	845	1,078	1,167	1,207	1,253	a a spiritary dill
Nationalised industries' capital expenditure: Gross domestic fixed capital formation:												
Fuel and power	513 71	601 28	711	803	859	1,012	1,019	830	723 78	730 141	752 224	Other industry and trade
Post Office Airways and airports	122	127	160	181	207	263	55 315	350	385	458	526	
Surface transport (4)	36 169	24 129	34 122	38 135	31 145	29 123	128	90 124	69 112	118 118	116 74	Transport and communication
Total fixed capital for- mation Increase in value of	911	909	1,035	1,162	1,245	1,433	1,566	1,460	1,367	1,565	1,692	
stocks Other	8	-11	-11	21	-3	74	54	-16	7	101	13	Various headings
Total	919	898	1,024	1,184	1,254	1,528	1,668	1,448	1,392	1,685	1,726	
			-,047	1,104	1,204	1,520	1,000	1,440	1,002	1,000	2,720	

Including Atomic Energy Authority (civil research and development, net trading and miscellaneous transactions), aerospace (civil research and development), civil aviation and from 1966/67 shipping services.
 Figures for Promotion of local employment up to 1965/66 are included in Other departments: other services.
 Including capital expenditure by Covent Garden Market Authority and the Sugar Board.
 Surface transport covers rail, road, ports and inland water transport. The figures up to 1965/66 relate to calendar years.

Treasury analysis of public expenditure

£ million (continued) Classification in 1961/62 1962/63 1963/64 1964/65 1965/66 1966/67 1967/68 1968/69 1969/70 1970/71 1971/72 Table 49 Environmental services Roads: Major roads Roads and public Other roads lighting Lighting, car parks, etc. Administration Total Surface transport: Support to nationalised transport undertakings Other passenger transport (1) Infrastructure expenditure Transport and communication Ports ******************************* -5 Miscellaneous services (1) -1administra-Departmental tion (1) * * Total Housing: S 180 Subsidies, etc. **************** Improvements grants Housing Investment Net lending Departmental administration 1,112 1,063 1,094 1,226 1,285 1,015 Total Miscellaneous local services: Water supply and conserva-Water, sewerage tion and refuse Sewerage disposal Refuse disposal Public health Other public health services services Land drainage and Land drainage coast protection Parks, swimming baths, pleasure Parks, sport, etc. (2) (3) grounds, etc., Education Miscellaneous Town and country planning local government Unallocated local govern-services ment administration Miscellaneous Other local expenditure local government Other services, industry and trade Research Environmental research Miscellaneous Departmental administration local government services 1,186 Total 1,066

⁽¹⁾ Figures for Miscellaneous services and Departmental administration up to 1965/66 are included in Other passenger transport. Figures for

shipping services up to 1965/66 are also included in Other passenger transport.

(2) Including Royal parks and historic buildings up to 1965/66.

(3) Figures for sport up to 1966/67 are included in Youth service.

(continued)	1061/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1971/72	Classification in
	1901/02	1902/03	1705/01	1701,700								Table 49
Environmental services (continued)												
Law and order: Home departments' services: Police Prisons Probation and after care(1)	150 21 	161 23	179 25	197 27	220 30 	246 32 9	284 38 9	· 285 45 10	313 51 11	375 58 13	440 74 16	Police Prisons Parliament and law courts
Fire services Other services Departmental administration Parliament and law courts (1)	37 3 22	42 3 24	46 5 29	49 5 34	54 7 36	\$ 58 7 7 7 39	66 3 8 45	70 21 10 50	76 35 10 55	85 42 13 70	87 34 16 81	Fire service Other services Parliament and law courts
Parliamentary election expenses		_	_	2	2	1	-		-	4		Other services
Total	233	253	284	314	349	399	453	491	551	660	748	The state of the s
Arts: Museums and galleries: National museums purchase grants Other Other arts	- 5 2	- 6 3	1 6 3	1 8 4	1 8 4	1 10 6	1 11 8	1 13 9	1 14 9	2 18 12	2 22 15	Libraries, museums, and arts
Total	7	9	10	13	13	17	20	23	24	32	39	
Social services												
Education and libraries: Schools (2) Further education Teacher training Universities	678 113 36	756 131 48	820 151 49	862 168 58	954 191 68	1,043 223 80	1,148 256 95	1,220 281 104	1,322 302 111	1,523 352 123	1,788 401 139	
(including C.A.T.'s) Imputed rents Youth service (3) Other educational expendi-	112 44 15	132 48 18	160 52 20	199 58 19	241 63 21	267 71 22	289 77 26	303 91 26	317 98 27	370 113 30	411 128 36	Education
School meals School milk Administration Libraries	3 50 13 30	2 54 14 32	2 56 14 36	2 64 15 45	1 73 16 50	19 87 16 55	34 100 18 62	58 83 14 66	88 95 14 73	91 101 15 85	58 101 10 97	School meals, mill and welfare foods Education
National libraries purchase grants		28	31	34	40	1 43	1 50	52	1 53	62	67	Libraries, museums and arts
Total	1,120	1,263	1,391	1,524	1,718	1,927	2,156	2,299	2,501	2,866	3,237	
Health and personal social services:												
National health service: Hospitals Family practitioner services Other central services and	556 226	589 230	646 245	701 268	775 328	856 353	936 389	1,029	1,131 422	1,321 491	1,531 528	
Imputed rents Local health authority	15 14	16 15	16 17	18 17	19 19	23 20	24 24	27 27	29 29	34 33	40 37	National health service
services(2)	87	95	104	114	128	142	159	118	133	155	161	
Welfare foods	6 28	7 30	7 32	8 37	9 40	9 43	9 46	12 38	12 37	15 42	19 17	School meals, milk
Local personal social services	64	72	80	89	102	116	135	197	218	261	297	and welfare foods, Personal social services
Total	996	1,054	1,147	1,252	1,420	1,562	1,722	1,842	2,011	2,352	2,630	

Figures for Probation and after care up to 1965/66 are included in Parliament and law courts.
 Figures for schools for mentally handicapped children are included in Local health authority services up to 1967/68 and in Schools from 1968/69.
 Including sport up to 1966/67.

£ million

(continued)												
	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1971/72	Classification in Table 49
Social services (continued)												
Social security: National insurance and industrial injuries: Retirement pensions Sickness benefit Unemployment benefit Other national insurance benefits Industrial injuries benefits		1,208	1,424	1,485	1,809	1,272 262 78 186 93	1,384 323 122 195 99	1,543 348 123 203 104	1,627 385 127 213 106	1,778 379 150 220 110 128	2,043 415 240 257 117 136	Social security
War pensions Supplementary benefits (1) Old persons' pensions Family income supplement Attendance allowances Family allowances	171	102 200 — — 135 77	110 217 — — — 140 85	110 223 — 143 88	121 246 — — 146 95	118 298 — 149 103	121 386 — 160 116	125 429 — 297 122	125 471 — 339 143	524 7 ———————————————————————————————————	644 23 4 6 344 192	benefits
Administration Total	1,622	1,722	1,976	2,049	2,417	2,559	2,906	3,294	3,536	3,794	4,421	
Other services												
Financial administration: Tax and rate collection Other financial administra-	88	90	94	100 26	114 28	130	143	159	171 55	200	233	Finance and tax
Post-war credits and excess profits tax refunds	19	62	22	17	18	17	18	19	18	14	18	Collection
Total	129	173	139	143	160	179	192	215	244	252	301	
Common services: Superannuation Accommodation (Home) Stationery Office (Home)	17	42 71 17	47 75 18	49 87 19	52 100 22	59 115 26	61 128 29	70 139 34	77 150 35	79 181 34	95 214 39	
Central Office of Information (Home) Central Computer Agency less Allied services (Military	2 3	2 2	3 -60	4 3 - 59	4 4 -62	5 6 -68	5 7 -70	7 10 - 72	8 10 -74	10 14 -82	11 18 -83	Various headings
Total	- 29 83	-47 85	86	103	120	143	160	188	206	236	294	
Miscellaneous services: Records, registration and surveys	4.4	10	10	10	11	13	13	14	17	17	24	Records, registra- tion and surveys
Meteorological services Civil defence Land Commission (Acquisi	10	4 9	5 22	5 21	5 19	5 19	5 18	6 5	7 1	9 5	13 6	Other services Civil defence
Fund)			10000	0. 01	ea lan	1000 0	1	4	2	-	-1	Other services
ings, etc. (2)	in state	1	aqui.	101	-	3	3	3	4	4	4	Parks, pleasure grounds, etc.
Broadcasting authorities capital expenditure Other miscellaneous services	. 6	7 27	12 17	11 15	7 23	7 18	14 20	14 20	14 26	12 37	14 40	}Other services
Total	54	57	66	62	65	65	74	66	71	84	100	
Northern Ireland	169	189	210	228	275	304	356	385	430	487	591	Various headings
Debt interest	1,285	1,271	1,315	1,379	1,470	1,592	1,811	1,939	2,035	2,121	2,313	
Statistical adjustments	-118	-30	14			-13	-20	-15	-30		-146(3)	
Total public expenditure	10,554	11,027	12,042	13,007	14,428	15,911	18,119	19,103	20,101	22,351	24,842	

 ⁽¹) Including non-contributory benefits up to 1966/67.
 (²) Included in Parks, swimming baths, sport, etc. up to 1965/66.
 (³) Total public expenditure for 1971/72 includes data which it has not yet been possible to allocate to the detailed service headings shown above.

National Accounts Statistics Sources and Methods

STUDIES IN OFFICIAL STATISTICS No. 13

Sources and Methods is a companion volume to the annual National Income Blue Books and describes in detail how the official national accounts of the United Kingdom presented in this Blue Book are compiled. It is an essential guide to all those interested in using the national accounts for analysing economic developments and for forecasting and it will be of special value to teachers and students of economics. The national accounts draw upon a wide range of statistical material and this book gives a survey of the information used and how the data are fitted into the national accounts. The description follows the arrangement of the tables in the 1967 National Income Blue Book.

Introductory chapters describe the main concepts underlying the official statistics. There follows a short survey of the estimates of the national income aggregates at current and constant prices, and a description of the arrangement of the published tables. Subsequent chapters deal with various aspects of the national accounts. There are separate chapters for each sector of the economy—the personal sector, companies, public corporations, central government and local authorities. One chapter describes the financial accounts while another sets out the treatment of international transactions and shows the relationship to the balance of payments accounts.

Price £2.25 (by post £2.49)

obtainable from

Her Majesty's Stationery Office

at the addresses on the back of the cover or through booksellers

List of Principal Statistical Series and Publications

STUDIES IN OFFICIAL STATISTICS NO. 20

—an important new reference book for all statistics users

Just out from the Central Statistical Office, this concise guide provides users with basic information about what is available and where to find it.

Principal statistical series produced in the United Kingdom—social, economic and financial—are listed by broad subject area. Entries for each series indicate the details available, periodicity and sources of publication. Special reference is made to series where regional analyses are available. Particular subjects can easily be found through a comprehensive index.

In addition, the publications in which the principal statistical series appear are listed alphabetically with details of price and frequency.

All main government statistics—and some important semi-official series—are covered in this handy new book.

Price 47p (by post $52\frac{1}{2}p$)

obtainable from

Her Majesty's Stationery Office

at the addresses on the back of the cover or through booksellers

HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE

Government Bookshops

49 High Holborn, London WC1V 6HB

13A Castle Street, Edinburgh EH2 3AR

109 St. Mary Street, Cardiff CF1 1JW

Brazennose Street, Manchester M60 8AS

50 Fairfax Street, Bristol BS1 3DE

258 Broad Street, Birmingham B1 2HE

80 Chichester Street, Belfast BT1 4JY

Government publications are also available

through booksellers